

# The assessment of sewage treatment efficacy through the detection and characterisation of enteroviruses

by

# MAXIME MUILWIJK

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

**Magister Scientiae** 

MSc (Medical Virology)

**Department of Medical Virology** 

**Faculty of Health Sciences** 

**University of Pretoria** 

Pretoria

December 2016



## DECLARATION

I, Maxime Muilwijk, declare that this work was not copied or repeated from any other studies either from national or international publications. Procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules as prescribed by the Faculty of Health Science Research Ethics Committee, University of Pretoria.

Signature

Date: 2016-12-13

i

Declaration |



# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

#### I would like to thank:

My supervisors, Dr. WB van Zyl and Prof MB Taylor, for allowing me the opportunity to do this project and providing me with their advice and guidance

The researchers of the Enteric Virus and Environmental Virology Research Group for their advice and assistance when needed

Rand Water and Roney Hoffman consultants for providing the water samples

The Rand Water Chair in Public Health for funding this project

The Poliomyelitis Research Foundation for co-funding this project and providing a postgraduate bursary

The National Research Foundation for a post-graduate bursary

My family and friends for their encouragement and support



# THE ASSESSMENT OF SEWAGE TREATMENT EFFICACY THROUGH THE DETECTION AND CHARACTERISATION OF ENTEROVIRUSES

BY

#### MAXIME MUILWIJK

SUPERVISOR: DR WB VAN ZYL CO-SUPERVISOR: PROF MB TAYLOR DEPARTMENT: MEDICAL VIROLOGY DEGREE: MAGISTER SCIENTIAE (MEDICAL VIROLOGY)

#### **SUMMARY**

Enteroviruses (EVs) are small RNA viruses that have been responsible for outbreaks of hand, foot and mouth disease, viral meningitis, encephalitis and paralytic poliomyelitis. Water may act as a reservoir for waterborne EVs that are faecally shed by infected populations and subsequently introduced to water sources. The inefficient removal of EVs with wastewater treatment and its discharge into natural water sources may pose as a potential health concern if utilised by the public for domestic, agricultural or recreational purposes. An environmental surveillance (ES) complements the symptomatic surveillance of EVs since EV infections are generally asymptomatic and can, therefore, be detected in sewage as a representative of the infected population. By combining direct reverse transcription – polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and

Summary |

iii



integrated cell culture-RT-PCR (ICC-RT-PCR) detection and characterisation it provides a broader epidemiological overview of the current EV diversity in South Africa and the survival of specific EVs after wastewater treatment. The aim of this project was to determine the viral removal efficiency of six selected wastewater treatment plants by detecting and characterising EVs in wastewater, wastewater discharge and surface water, with molecular and viral isolation methods. Between April 2015 and March 2016, 156 water samples were collected and viruses were recoverd. The recovered viral suspensions were inoculated onto Buffalo green monkey kidney cells (BGM), L20B murine cells and Primary liver carcinoma cells (PLC/PRF/5). Enteroviruses were detected in 69.2% of the recovered viral suspensions from the water samples with direct RT-nested PCR (RT-nPCR), of which 45.4%, 43.5% and 11.1% were from wastewater, wastewater discharge and surface water, respectively. With ICC-real-time RT-PCR, 52.6% of the harvested cell culture extracts were positive for EV, of which 56.1%, 32.9% and 11% were from wastewater, wastewater discharge and surface water, respectively. The most diverse species were the EV-B species that predominated in cell culture, with echovirus 6, coxsackievirus (CV)-B3 and CV-A13 being most predominantly identified in wastewater discharge after viral amplification in cell culture. The most prevalent species were the EV-C species and predominated in the recovered viral suspensions, with EV-C99, CV-A20 and CV-A22 being most predominantly identified in the wastewater discharge with direct RT-nPCR characterisation. The majority of EVs and EV types were isolated from the PLC/PRF/5 cell line. A combination of viral isolation and molecular detection of EVs enhanced the detection of EVs in water sources and provided a wider epidemiological overview of EVs that are shown to be more resilient to treatment and environmental exposure. To conclude, it is evident that wastewater treatment systems do not efficiently remove EVs, specifically potentially viable EVs, which are subsequently discharged into natural water sources. If natural water sources become a reservoir for a wide diversity of EVs that may be potentially infectious to humans, it might raise a public health concern.



# PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS

## **Publications**

**Muilwijk M**, van Zyl WB, Taylor MB. Occurrence and genetic diversity of enteroviruses in wastewater and wastewater effluent using a combination of direct and integrated cell culture RT-PCR (In preparation).

## Local presentations

**Muilwijk M**, van Zyl, WB, Taylor MB. The assessment of sewage treatment efficacy through the detection and characterisation of human enteroviruses [Presentation]. Faculty Day, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, South Africa. 18–19 August 2015.

**Muilwijk M**, van Zyl WB, Taylor MB. The assessment of inflows and outflows of a sewage treatment plant for enterovirus, with specific reference to poliovirus [Poster]. 4<sup>th</sup> Young Water Professionals South African Biennial and 1<sup>st</sup> African International Water Association Young Water Professionals Conference, CSIR International Convention Centre, Pretoria, South Africa. 16-18 November 2015.

**Muilwijk M,** van Zyl, WB, Taylor MB. Molecular epidemiology of human enteroviruses detected from surface and wastewater sources [Presentation]. Faculty Day, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, South Africa. 23-24 August 2016.

## National presentations

**Muilwijk M**, van Zyl WB, Taylor MB. Integrated cell culture and direct RT-PCR detection and molecular characterization of human enteroviruses in wastewater treatment plants in the Vaal catchment area [Presentation]. WISA 2016 Water - The ultimate constraint. Biennial Conference and Exhibition of the Water Institute of Southern Africa. International Conference Centre, Durban, South Africa. 15-19 May 2016.



## International presentations

**Muilwijk M**, van Zyl WB, Taylor MB. The detection and characterisation of enteroviruses in wastewater discharge and surface water in Gauteng, South Africa [Poster]. 18th Symposium of Health-Related Water Microbiology, Lisbon, Portugal. 13–18 September 2015.

Zhou NA, Fagnant CS, Shirai JH, Beck NK, Nyangoa J, Komen E, Mwangi B, van Zyl WB, Wolfaardt M, **Muilwijk M**, Matsapola PN, Ngwana FB, Coulliette-Salmond A, Jeffries-Miles S, Peñaranda S, Burns C, Borus P, Taylor MB, Meschke JS. Enhanced detection of poliovirus in environmental samples from Kenya using the bag-mediated filtration system [Presentation]. Water Microbiology 2016. University of North-Carolina, North Carolina, USA. 17-19 May 2016.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page

DECLARATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
SUMMARY	iii
PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	Х
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF TABLES	xiv

# **CHAPTER 1 : LITERATURE REVIEW**

1.1	INTRODUCTION	1
1.2	GENERAL VIROLOGY OF ENTEROVIRUSES	
1.2.1	Classification	2
1.2.2	Morphology	4
1.2.3	Viral replication and protein synthesis	5
1.2.4	Biochemical and biophysical properties	6
1.3	CLINICAL VIROLOGY OF ENTEROVIRUSES	
1.3.1	Pathogenesis	7
1.3.2	Clinical syndromes	8
1.3.3	Laboratory diagnosis	9
1.3.4	Infection prevention and control	
1.4	WASTEWATER TREATMENT AND ENTEROVIRUSES	
1.4.1	Wastewater treatment systems and enterovirus removal efficiency	13
1.4.2	Wastewater effluent guidelines and indicator of enteroviruses	15
1.5	ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEILLANCE OF ENTEROVIRUSES	
1.5.1	Environmental surveillance	16
Table of C	ontents	vii



1.5.2	Laboratory methodology	
1.5.2.1	Sampling principles	17
1.5.2.2	Viral recovery	17
1.5.2.3	Viral isolation	20
1.5.2.4	Viral detection	21
1.5.2.5	Viral characterisation	22
1.6	EPIDEMIOLOGY	
1.6.1	General	23
1.6.2	South Africa	23
1.6.3	Global	25
1.7	MOTIVATION OF INVESTIGATION	29
1.8	HYPOTHESIS	29
1.9	AIM OF INVESTIGATION	30
1.10	OBJECTIVES	30

## **CHAPTER 2 : MATERIALS & METHODS**

2.1	SITE SELECTION	31
2.2	INDICATOR ORGANISMS	33
2.3	VIRAL RECOVERY	
2.3.1	Reagent preparation	33
2.3.2	Glass wool adsorption-elution	34
2.3.3	Polyethylene glycol <sub>8000</sub> /sodium chloride precipitation	34
2.4	VIRAL ISOLATION	
2.4.1	Cell cultures	35
2.4.2	Cell culture media and reagents	35
2.4.3	Cell culture infection	36
2.4.4	Cell culture harvesting	37
2.5	NUCLEIC ACID EXTRACTION	
2.5.1	Recovered viral suspensions	37
2.5.2	Cell culture extracts	38
2.6	MOLECULAR DETECTION	
2.6.1	Mengovirus real-time RT-PCR detection	38

Table of Contents |

viii



2.6.2	Enterovirus real-time RT-PCR detection	39	
2.6.3	Sabin-like poliovirus real-time RT-PCR detection		
2.7	2.7 MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION		
2.7.1	Conventional enterovirus RT-nested PCR	40	
2.7.2	DNA cloning and transformation	42	
2.7.3	Nucleotide sequence analysis	44	
2.8	PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS	44	
2.9	QUALITY CONTROL	45	
СНАРТЕ	R 3 : RESULTS		
3.1.	SAMPLES RECEIVED	46	
3.2.	ENTEROVIRUS DETECTION		
3.2.1.	Virus isolation	46	
3.2.2.	Enterovirus RT-PCR detection	48	
3.3.	NUCLEOTIDE SEQUENCE ANALYSIS		
3.3.1.	Genotyping from the recovered viral suspensions	55	
<b>3.3.2.</b> Genotyping of isolates from harvested cell culture extracts		60	
3.4.	3.4. PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS		
3.4.1.	Genotypes selected from recovered viral suspensions	65	
3.4.2.	Genotypes isolates selected from harvested cell culture extracts	67	
3.4.3.	Genotypes selected from isolates and recovered viral suspensions	69	
3.5.	INDICATOR ORGANISMS	71	
CHAPTER 4 : DISCUSSION 72			
CHAPTER 5 : CONCLUSION 81			
CHAPTER 6 : REFERENCES 83		83	
APPENDIX A103APPENDIX B107		105 107	



# ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

Abbreviation/Symbol	Word/Phrase
μl	Microlitre
μm	Micrometer
ß	Beta
A549	Human lung epithelial cell line
aa	Amino acid
AFP	Acute flaccid paralysis
BGM	Buffalo green monkey kidney cell line
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Sequence Tool
Caco-2	Human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line
cfu	Colony forming units
CNS	Central nervous system
CPE	Cytopathic effect
cPCR	Colony polymerase chain reaction
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CV	Coxsackievirus
cVDPV	Circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus
dNTPs	Deoxynucleotide triphosphates
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E	Echovirus
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
E-MEM	Eagle's minimum essential medium
ES	Environmental surveillance
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
EtOH	Ethanol
EV	Enterovirus
g	Gram
GPEI	Global polio eradication initiative
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HeLa	Human cervical cancer cell line
Hep-2	Laryngeal carcinoma cell line
HEV	Human enterovirus
HFMD	Hand, foot and mouth disease
ICC-RT-PCR	Integrated cell culture reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction
ICC-rtRT-PCR	Integrated cell culture real-time reverse transcription -
	polymerase chain reaction
IPV	Inactivated polio vaccine
kb	Kilobases
kDa	Kilodalton
L	Litre

Abbreviations and Symbols |



L20B	Murine cell line
LLC-MK2	Rhesus monkey kidney cell line
m	Meter
М	Molar
MCF-7	Human mammary gland adenocarcinoma cell line
mg	Milligram
min	Minutes
ml	Millilitre
mm	Millimeter
mM	Millimolar
NaAc	Sodium acetate
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NHP	Non-human primates
nm	Nanometer
nM	Nanomolar
NPEV	Non-polio enterovirus
nt	Nucleotide
OPV	Oral poliovirus vaccine
ORF	Open reading frame
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PLC/PRF/5	Primary liver carcinoma cell line
PMA	Propidium monoazide
PV	Poliovirus
PVK	Primary vervet monkey kidney cell line
qrtRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time reverse transcription - polymerase chain
	reaction
RD	Rabdomyosarcoma cell line
rtRT-PCR	Real-time reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction
RT-nPCR	Reverse transcription - nested polymerase chain reaction
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction
S	Seconds
TCID	Tissue culture infective dose
USA	United States of America
UTR	Untranslated region
UV	Ultraviolet
VAPP	Vaccine-associated poliovirus
VDPV	Vaccine-derived poliovirus
Vero	African green monkey cell line
VIRADEL	Viral adsorption-elution filtration
VP	Viral protein
VPg	Viral protein, genome linked
WHO	World Health Organization
WTP	Water treatment plant
WPV	Wild poliovirus
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

Abbreviations and Symbols |



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Title	Page
Figure 1.1.	Structural features of the external surface of an enterovirus particle.	4
Figure 1.2.	Simplified diagram of the viral RNA encoded for a single polyprotein and its precursor proteins.	5
Figure 1.3.	Enterovirus genome and its locations for molecular identification of the genus, serotype and species.	22
Figure 2.1.	Map of the wastewater treatment plant sample sites and downstream surface water sample site in Gauteng and bordering Free State Province provided by a large water utility.	31
Figure 2.2.	Map of the sample site of wastewater treatment plant-6 and surface water sample sites provided by a Gauteng municipality.	32
Figure 3.1.	Monthly enterovirus detection frequency in water samples with molecular and viral isolation methods.	53
Figure 3.2.	Enterovirus detection frequency in the water samples from the selected treatment plants and surface water sites with molecular and viral isolation methods.	54
Figure 3.3.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater with direct RT-PCR analysis.	55
Figure 3.4.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater discharge with direct RT-PCR analysis.	56
Figure 3.5.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the downstream surface river water samples with direct RT-PCR analysis.	56
Figure 3.6.	Genotypic prevalence of the different enterovirus genotypes identified in the three water types with direct RT-PCR analysis.	57
Figure 3.7.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater after viral amplification in cell culture.	60
Figure 3.8	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater discharge after viral amplification in cell culture.	61
Figure 3.9.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the downstream surface river water after viral amplification in cell culture.	61



Figure 3.10.	Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the three water sample types summarised after viral amplification in cell culture.	62
Figure 3.11.	Genotypic prevalence of enteroviruses in BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 harvested cell culture extracts.	64
Figure 3.12.	Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of the enterovirus strains identified in the recovered viral suspensions, including globally recognised reference strains.	66
Figure 3.13.	Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of the enterovirus strains identified in the harvested cell culture extracts, including globally recognised reference strains.	68
Figure 3.14.	Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of isolated enterovirus strains and from recovered viral suspensions, including globally recognised reference strains.	70



# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Title	Page
Table 1.1.	Enterovirus serotypes classified within the human enterovirus species.	2
<b>Table 1.2.</b>	Significant enterovirus outbreaks in South Africa from 1981- 2011.	24
Table 1.3.	Significant global enterovirus outbreaks from 2000 - 2016.	26
Table 1.4.	Global distribution of enteroviruses in environmental water sources.	28
Table 2.1.	Technical characteristics of the wastewater treatment plant systems.	32
Table 2.2.	Primers and probe for mengovirus amplification.	38
Table 2.3.	Primers and probe for enterovirus real-time RT-PCR amplification.	39
Table 2.4.	Primers and probes for Sabin poliovirus amplification.	40
Table 2.5.	Primers for enterovirus VP1 region amplification.	41
Table 3.1	Cytopathogenic enteroviruses identified in different cell lines infected with environmental water samples.	47
<b>Table 3.2.</b>	Recovered viral suspensions of the water samples positive for enterovirus with rtRT-PCR.	48
Table 3.3.	Harvested cell culture extracts positive for enteroviruses with integrated cell culture-rtRT-PCR in the respective cell lines.	49
Table 3.4.	Recovered viral suspensions of the water samples positive for enterovirus with RT-nested PCR.	51
Table 3.5.	Enteroviruses within species A to C identified in the selected wastewater treatment plants with direct RT-PCR analysis.	59
Table 3.6.	Enteroviruses within species A to C identified in the selected wastewater treatment plants after viral isolation in cell culture.	63



# **Table 3.7.** A summary of the *E.coli* counts (cfu/100 ml) as well as the enterovirus71detection results in both direct and ICC-RT-PCR for the 120 samples.71



## **CHAPTER 1**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

Environmental water sources may serve as a natural reservoir for numerous resilient human pathogenic viruses (Rajtar et al., 2008). Enteroviruses (EVs) transmit via the faecal-oral route and when inadequately removed/inactivated during wastewater treatment, they may be distributed to natural water sources when effluent is discharged (Okoh et al., 2010). Faecally-polluted water has been frequently associated with global waterborne disease outbreaks, of which human EVs (HEVs) are responsible for 23% (Sinclair et al., 2009). Human EV infections can range from being asymptomatic or a mild febrile illness to acute haemorrhagic conjunctivitis, hand, foot and mouth disease (HFMD), acute flaccid paralysis (AFP), aseptic meningitis and encephalitis, myocarditis and type 1 diabetes (Nix et al., 2006; La Rosa et al., 2012). Enteroviruses have an infectious dose ranging between 10 - 100 viral particles and exhibit a high stability in the environment, circulating through their transmission in fomites, food, aerosols, soil, water and sewage (Rodríguez-Lázaro et al., 2012; Gibson, 2014). Since symptomatic HEV infection surveillances present inadequate data due to the asymptomatic nature of EVs, an environmental surveillance (ES) of wastewater and other water bodies can provide an epidemiological overview of HEVs circulating within a population (Conell et al., 2012; Manor et al., 2014; Adeniji and Faleye, 2014). An ES is able to determine the origin of an either former or current outbreak and has been added to the Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) strategic plan of 2013-2018 to complement the diseasebased AFP surveillance in assisting with the identification of residual poliovirus (PV) transmission (Asghar et al., 2014; Manor et al., 2014). Enteroviruses are more challenging to remove during wastewater treatment than bacterial indicators due to their high resistance to chlorination, filtration and lipid solvents (Fong and Lipp, 2005). This raises a public health concern as the insufficient removal of HEVs in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) may lead to its subsequent distribution in a reusable water source (Kitajima et al., 2014).

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



#### **1.2. GENERAL VIROLOGY OF ENTEROVIRUSES**

#### 1.2.1. Classification

The *Picornaviridae* family belongs to the order *Picornavirales* and currently consists of 50 species within 29 genera that are typically small single-stranded positive sense RNA viruses (Zhou *et al.*, 2016). The genus *Enterovirus* is one of the 29 genera belonging to the *Picornaviridae* family and currently consists of 12 species of which four are HEVs, namely EV-A to D (Knowles *et al.*, 2012) (Table 1.1). Other members of the *Enterovirus* genus are the human rhinoviruses A-C and the animal EV-E, F, G, H and J, which include the simian, porcine and bovine EVs (Knowles *et al.*, 2012).

Table 1.1. Enterovirus serotypes classified within the human enterovirus species (Knowles *et al.*, 2012).

Human enterovirus species	Enterovirus serotypes
EV-A	CV-A2 to A8, CV-A10, CV-A12, CV-A14, CV-A16, EV- A71, EV-A76, EV-A89, EV-A90 to A92, EV-A114, EV-A119, EV-A120, EV-A121, simian EV (SV) 19, SV43, SV46, baboon EV-BA13
EV-B	CV-B1 to B6, CV-A9, E-1, E-2 to E-7, E-9, E-11 to E-21, E-24 to E-27, E-29, E-30 to E-33, EV-B69, EV-B73 to B75, EV-B77 to B88, EV-B93, EV-B97, EV-B98, EV-B100, EV-B101, EV-B106, EV-B107, EV-B110 to B113, SA5
EV-C	PV-1 to 3, CV-A1, CV-A11, CV-A13, CV-A17, CV-A19 to A22, CV-A24, EV-C95, EV-C96, EV-C99, EV-C102, EV-C104, EV-C105, EV-C109, EV-C113, EV-C116 to C118
EV-D	EV-D68, EV-D70, EV-D94, EV-D111, EV-D120

\*CV = Coxsackievirus; E = Echovirus; EV = Enterovirus.

Enterovirus classification was traditionally based on physical properties and serological relatedness and classified into four groups based on the type of cytopathic effect (CPE) in cell culture and the clinical manifestation in animal models (Tapparel *et al.*, 2013; Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). It included the PVs (poliomyelitis in human and non-human primates [NHP]), Coxsackievirus (CV)-As (herpengina, AFP and other central nervous system [CNS] diseases in suckling mice), CV-Bs (CNS and cardiac disease; spastic paralysis in mice), and the echoviruses (Es) (non-pathogenic in mice) (Lugo and

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



Krogstad, 2016). However, due to their genetic variability, classification has become more nucleotide (nt) sequence-based (Khetsuriani et al., 2010; Tapparel et al., 2013). The RNA-dependent RNA polymerase essential for RNA synthesis is error-prone and generates a mutation frequency of  $10^{-3}$  to  $10^{-5}$  per nt (Tapparel *et al.*, 2013). Enteroviruses possess recombination mechanisms, such as template switching or "replicative recombination", which allows EVs to recombine with other circulating EVs (Tapparel et al., 2013; Dimitriou et al., 2014). This type of recombination ensures the stability and variability of the EV genome and contributes to the wide diversity of EVs discovered (Tapparel et al., 2013). There are currently more than 110 distinct genotypes known to infect humans (Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Enterovirus genotypes are classified into EV-A to D according to their genome organisation, sequence similarity and biological properties (Xu et al., 2013). Enterovirus serotypes are classified into EV-A to D based on the viral protein (VP), VP1, which is the most immunodominant capsid protein and characterises the EVs based on serotype-specific neutralisation epitopes (Tryfonos et al., 2011; Adenij and Faleye, 2015). The correlation between the VP1 sequences and neutralisation epitopes allows for optimal typing of EV serotypes (Blomqvist et al., 2008; Adeniji and Faleye, 2015). Enteroviruses can furthermore be targeted at the highly conserved 5'-untranslated region (UTR) of the VP4 region, which is generally used for epidemiological research and clinical aspects (Ayukekbong et al., 2013).

The genetic classification of EVs is based on the structural region's sequence divergence, rather than the non-structural region due to recurrent recombination between related viruses (Norder *et al.*, 2011). Enterovirus types are classified according to the degree of similarities in nt (>75%) and amino acids (aa) (>88%) in the VP1 region (Smura *et al.*, 2014). Strains are classified into different types if the nt and aa similarity is less than 70% and 85%, respectively, where divergent strains with a nt and aa similarity between 70-75% and 85-88% may occur in the 'grey-zone' of EV typing (Smura *et al.*, 2014). This event can be regularly observed with some CV-A24 and EV-C99 strains (Smura *et al.*, 2014). When the Sabin oral polio vaccine (OPV) strains exhibit more than 1% nt divergence from the original OPV-1 and OPV-3 strains and 0.6% nt divergence from the original OPV-2 strains they are classified as vaccine-derived PVs (VDPVs) (Burns *et al.*, 2014).

Chapter 1 : Literature Review

3



#### 1.2.2. Morphology

The EV virion has a non-enveloped spherical capsid of 30 nanometer (nm) in diameter enclosing a positive-sense single-stranded RNA genome (Racaniello, 2013). The protein capsid consists of protomers of 80-97 kilodalton (kDa) with 60 copies each of the three external proteins VP1-3 and the internal VP4 (Racaniello, 2013). The structural proteins (VP1-3) are three intertwined surface proteins of 24-41 kDa located on the exterior of the capsid. The internal structural protein, VP4, of 5.5-13.5 kDa is located in the inner capsid surface (Knowles *et al.*, 2012). The structural proteins VP1 to 3 do not share any sequence homology, yet they share a similar topology of a wedge-shaped structure constructed from two eight-stranded, anti-parallel ß-barrels (Racaniello, 2013). The ß-barrels are topologically located on the outer surface of the capsid as jellyroll barrels, forming prominent structural "mesa", "canyon" and "propeller" features on the exterior surface of the viral particle (Figure 1.1) (Lin *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1.1. Structural features of the external surface of an enterovirus particle. (A) Outline of an icosahedral symmetry displaying the fivefold (pentagon), threefold (triangles) and twofold (oval) axes. (B) Exterior structural features of the 160S poliovirus particle. (C) Cryoelectromagenetic reconstruction of exterior structural features of the 135S poliovirus particle (Lin et al., 2011).

The structural star-shaped "mesa" feature centred on a five-fold symmetry axis is exclusively synthesized by VP1, while VP1, VP2 and VP3 all form the "canyon" and "propeller" features (Lin *et al.*, 2011). The canyons represent deep clefts (2 nm deep) in the icosahedron that are around all 12 vertices and comprise the viral attachment sites (Carter and Sanders, 2007). The ß-barrel domain platform is strengthened by a protein-protein network on the interior of the capsid, especially around the fivefold axis and is essential for the stability of the virion (Racaniello, 2013). The N- and C-terminal aa

Chapter 1 : Literature Review

4



sequences within the loops extending from the ß-barrel domain are responsible for the distinctive morphology and antigenic characteristics of EVs (Racaniello, 2013).

#### 1.2.3. Viral replication and protein synthesis

The viral protein capsid encloses one molecule of positive-sense single-stranded RNA of 7-8.8 kilobases (kb), comprising a 7500 nt genome (Knowles *et al.*, 2012). The RNA genome encodes a single polyprotein in an open reading frame (ORF) that controls the synthesis of a single, large viral polyprotein of 6627 nt (2200 aa), flanked by an extensive 5'-UTR and a shorter 3'UTR with a poly (A) tail (Knowles *et al.*, 2012; Lowry *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2. Simplified diagram of the viral RNA encoded for a single polyprotein and its precursor proteins. The diagram shows the viral RNA genome as a single large polyprotein with its three domains P1, P2 and P3 that generates the functional polypeptide precursors (Carter and Saunders, 2007).

The poly (A) tail length is vital for the viability of the virus and determines the magnitude of RNA replication and mRNA translation (Kempf *et al.*, 2013). The 5'-UTR of 742 nts is highly structured and constitutes of three fundamentals, namely the *cis*-acting structural elements, a 5'-terminal domain necessary for replication and an internal ribosomal entry site to initiate and set forth translation of the viral genome Chapter 1 : Literature Review | 5

© University of Pretoria



(Racaniello *et al.*, 2013; Tapparel *et al.*, 2013). The 5'-end has a covalently linked VPg (viral protein, genome linked) unique to picornavirus RNA and is removed from the virion RNA in order to set forth translation (Racaniello *et al.*, 2013). The single polypeptide is proteolytically cleaved by the viral proteases  $2A^{pro}$  and  $3C^{pro}/3CD^{pro}$ , yielding the structural domain (P1) and the non-structural domains (P2, P3) (Jurgens *et al.*, 2006). Each intermediate codes for different functional precursors and polypeptides, with P1 yielding the four mature viral capsid proteins (VP1-4) while P2 and P3 gene regions encode for the non-structural proteins (Reuter *et al.*, 2012).

The non-structural proteins include the proteases  $2A^{\text{pro}}$ ,  $3C^{\text{pro}}$  and  $3CD^{\text{pro}}$  that are functional for protein processing and the 2B, 2C, 3AB,  $3B^{\text{vpg}}$ ,  $3CD^{\text{pro}}$  and  $3D^{\text{pol}}$  proteins that are necessary for genome replication (Reuter *et al.*, 2012). The cleavage efficiency differs for the various proteins and proteins are subsequently synthesised in unequal quantities (Carter and Saunders, 2007). The viral polymerase,  $3D^{\text{pol}}$ , initiates the transcription of the positive-sense RNA strand into a negative-sense form that subsequently functions as a transcription template for the generation of progeny positive-sense RNA strands (Jurgens *et al.*, 2006; Carter and Saunders, 2007). These positive-sense RNA strands can now function as templates for negative strand RNA synthesis, mRNA or as genomes of progeny virions (Jurgens *et al.*, 2006; Reuter *et al.*, 2012). During negative strand RNA synthesis, a recombination mechanism called "template switching" occurs (Lowry *et al.*, 2014). Human EVs therefore have a significant genetic variability due to their viral  $3D^{\text{pol}}$  that lacks the essential proofreading activities during genomic replication and consequently result in high mutation rates (Tryfonos *et al.*, 2011).

#### 1.2.4. Biochemical and biophysical properties

Enteroviruses are insensitive to ether, chloroform and non-ionic detergents and show relative resistance to some common laboratory disinfectants that include 70% ethanol (EtOH), isopropanol, dilute lysol and quaternary ammonium compounds (Knowles *et al.*, 2012; Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Enteroviruses are inactivated by formaldehyde, glutaraldehyde, sodium hypochlorite and free residual chlorine (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Two milligram (mg) per one free chlorine acts on both the genome and the proteins and have shown an inactivation of more than four logs after a viral infectivity assay of

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



TCID<sub>50</sub> (tissue culture infective dose which will infect 50% of the cell monolayers) (Leifels *et al.*, 2015). Ultraviolet (UV) irradiation is another inactivation treatment against EVs, which has been mainly implemented on decontaminating surfaces (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Their acid stability is variable, as it can tolerate weak acids at pH 3.0 while it may be inactivated by strong acids (pH 0 to 1), such as hydrochloric acids that completely ionise in solution (Knowles *et al.*, 2012; Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Enteroviruses can be inactivated at 42°C but can be stabilised at 50°C when sulhydryl reducing agents and magnesium cations are present (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013).

#### **1.3.** CLINICAL VIROLOGY OF ENTEROVIRUSES

#### 1.3.1. Pathogenesis

Enterovirus attachment and entry into host cells involve the recognition of certain cellsurface receptors by virus attachment proteins, most commonly the CD155 receptor (PV receptor), three integrins ( $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$  and  $\alpha \nu \beta 6$ ), decay-accelerating factor (CD55), CVadenovirus receptor and intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (Solomon *et al.*, 2010; Wang and Liu, 2014). The virus-receptor attachment catalyses a conformational change to the cell that allows viral RNA to move into the cytoplasm and is subsequently translated into one large polypeptide (Solomon *et al.*, 2010; Strauss *et al.*, 2015).

The epithelial cells of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tract as well as the small intestine's lymphoid follicles are the primary sites of EV infection, where replication may occur for weeks to months, creating the possibility of subsequent circulation into the bloodstream (Hovi *et al.*, 2007; Pallansch and Oberste, 2009; Igarashi *et al.*, 2010). It first reaches a primary viraemic phase, which may contribute to the development of secondary phase organ-specific symptoms (Hovi *et al.*, 2007). Another phenomenon recently observed is the association between HEVs and type 1 diabetes. It has been suggested that, since the risk gene for type 1 diabetes, *IFIH1*, is an innate immunesystem receptor for HEVs, certain HEVs contain diabetogenic properties when infecting the pancreas and intestinal mucosa (Tauriainen *et al.*, 2011).



#### 1.3.2. Clinical syndromes

Human EVs are responsible for a wide diversity of clinical manifestations ranging from asymptomatic or mild symptoms of fever, upper respiratory tract infection to aseptic meningitis and encephalitis, haemorrhagic conjunctivitis, myocarditis, paralytic poliomyelitis, HFMD as well as type 1 diabetes (Wurtzer *et al.*, 2014; Meuhlenbachs *et al.*, 2015). The incubation time ranges between 2 and 35 days before the first signs and symptoms occur (Pallansch and Oberste, 2009).

Hand, foot and mouth disease is one of the illnesses primarily caused by the EV-A species: EV-71, CV-A6 and CV-A16 that causes fluid-filled lesions to develop in the mouth, and on the hands and feet (Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Enterovirus-infected patients can furthermore develop non-cardiogenic pulmonary edema and brain stem encephalitis that have been associated with a high mortality rate in previous disease outbreaks (Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Neonatal EV infections are generally caused by EV-B species and may develop myocarditis and meningitis with haemorrhagic symptoms that manifests within three to five days after birth of the infant and has a mortality rate ranging between 30-80% (Fuchs *et al.*, 2013; Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Enteroviruses have also been associated with severe respiratory infections, especially in patients with underlying asthma (Horner *et al.*, 2015).

#### Acute flaccid paralysis

Poliomyelitis is an acute illness affecting the lower motor neurons of the spinal cord and brainstem that leads to flaccid, asymmetric paralysis caused by a PV infection (Harvey *et al.*, 2013). Before the development of poliomyelitis, a combination of fever, headache, neck and back pain and AFP without sensory loss occurs (Harvey *et al.*, 2013). Poliomyelitis develops in an estimated 1% of infected populations and two thirds of the patients that develop poliomyelitis do not recover (Pallansch *et al.*, 2012; Harvey *et al.*, 2013). Of the 20-30% of patients that do recover fully from poliomyelitis will re-develop muscle weakness, atrophy and fatigue within 25-35 years after the illness, called post-poliomyelitis syndrome (Harvey *et al.*, 2013). The majority of individuals infected with PV remain asymptomatic, whilst 4% to 8% of individuals develop symptoms of a mild febrile illness with or without gastroenteritis, also known



as abortive poliomyelitis (Pallansch *et al.*, 2012). Infected individuals may present with self-limiting symptoms such as fever, headache and meningeal signs, while non-paralytic CNS infections, such as viral meningitis, occur less frequently (Pallansch *et al.*, 2012).

#### Vaccine-associated paralytic poliomyelitis

Poliovirus genomes evolve at an annual nt substitutions rate of 1% that is suggested to occur more rapidly in the early OPV replication cycle (Diop *et al.*, 2015). Continuous replication of the attenuated PV leads to viral alterations such as back mutations, recombination and site suppression mutations that give rise to VDPVs that become highly virulent (Minor, 2009). In an immunocompetent OPV recipient the virus typically accumulates less than five VP1 substitutions in a normal replication cycle (Diop *et al.*, 2015). Vaccine-associated paralytic poliomyelitis (VAPP) is the paralytic illness that develops in an estimated 1 in 900 000 children vaccinated with the live attenuated OPV (Burns *et al.*, 2014). This illness can occur in immunologically competent vaccine recipients and their contacts, but individuals with primary immunodeficiency disorders, such as B-cell immunodeficiency, are more prone to develop VAPP due to a prolonged infection lasting more than six months (Burns *et al.*, 2014; Diop *et al.*, 2015). These patients become asymptomatic chronic carriers of the VDPV and are at higher risk of developing VAPP (Minor, 2009).

#### 1.3.3. Laboratory diagnosis

Human EVs can be isolated from various clinical specimens, namely stool, vesicular fluid, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), nasopharyngeal aspirates, pharyngeal exudates, broncho-alveolar lavages and blood (Ooi *et al.*, 2010; Prim *et al.*, 2013). The most confirmative diagnosis is made through the testing of specimens from sterile sites, such as vesicular fluid, CSF and serum where it corresponds to the clinical symptoms (Pallansch and Oberste, 2009; Ooi *et al.*, 2010).

#### Viral isolation

The gold standard for HEV diagnosis is viral isolation in cell culture, combining multiple cell lines for optimal isolation, even though molecular techniques are



becoming more preferable (Prim *et al.*, 2013). Traditionally used cell lines include the rhabdomyosarcoma cells (RD), laryngeal carcinoma cells (Hep-2), African green monkey epithelial kidney cells (Vero), Buffalo green monkey kidney cells (BGM), human cervical cancer cells (HeLa) and human colorectal adenocarcinoma cells (Caco-2, Skco-1 and HT-29) (Kargar *et al.*, 2009). Due to a minimum incubation period of five to 14 days and the high maintenance and supply cost of traditional cell culture, small shell vials were developed where monolayer cells grow at the base of the vial (Mohebi, 2016). The shell vial method with direct immunofluorescence currently remains the most sensitive non-molecular viral detection method, even though the sensitivity and specificity is not as high as with PCR (Garner and Wu, 2014). A confirmative diagnosis is provided with serology or molecular techniques.

#### Serology

Most serological detection techniques use the detection of IgM antibodies to indicate an acute infection, such as the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for EV-specific IgM antibodies (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Even though ELISA is mainly heterotypic instead of serotype-specific, identifying a generic EV infection, it is widely used as an alternative to neutralisation tests (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). With a neutralising antibody test, an EV diagnosis can be made with an antibody titer comparison between acute and convalescent phase serum specimens, by incubating the antisera-antigen mixture at 36°C for one hour to allow proper binding (Kargar *et al.*, 2009; Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). Direct or indirect immunofluorescence may also be used to identify specific EV serotypes, namely CV-B (1-6), PV (1-3), EV-70,-71 and E-4, 6, 9, 11, 30 and 34 (Fuchs *et al.*, 2013). This makes it an unreliable diagnostic test since antigens/antibodies of limited EV serotypes are being tested for (Fuchs *et al.*, 2013).

#### Molecular techniques

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing is a rapid, more affordable diagnostic approach that requires a low specimen quantity while multiple pathogens can be simultaneously tested for, gradually replacing viral isolation in diagnostic laboratories (Kadambari *et al.*, 2014). It has also been found to have a higher sensitivity and specificity for EVs than viral isolation in cell culture, while also delivering a more rapid result within 5-6



hours that reduces hospital stays and unnecessary antimicrobial use (Kadambari *et al.*, 2014; Shaker and Abdelhamid, 2015). Another major advantage of reverse transcription-PCR assays (RT-PCR) is that it allows the detection of EVs that cannot be propagated in cell culture (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). It is more common to use primers that amplify the 5'-UTR region of the EV genome, while the VP1 region can also be targeted when focusing on a specific EV serotype since the antigenic properties are in the viral capsid proteins (Pallansch *et al.*, 2013). The amplified PCR products can be analysed with agarose gel electrophoresis after conventional RT-PCR or with real-time RT-PCR (rtRT-PCR) (Garner and Wu, 2014). With rtRT-PCR the target amplification and detection occurs simultaneously using fluorescent dyes that emit fluorescent signals, which will generate an amplification plot for each cycle using computer software (Garner and Wu, 2014). The analysis of nucleic acid amplification is reduced since post-PCR processing steps are removed with rtRT-PCR (Garner and Wu, 2014).

#### 1.3.4. Infection prevention and control

Standard precautions for the containment of transmissible infectious EVs are through the control of blood and other body fluids and management by the aid of gloves, environmental surface disinfection, laundry handling guidelines and safe injection principles (Guzman-Cottrill et al., 2013). Enterovirus infections can be prevented through handwashing with soap or other detergents after close contact with infected individuals or their objects (Chang et al., 2013). It is furthermore recommended to frequently disinfect exposed surfaces (Centres for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2015). The components of a currently available alcohol-based disinfectant in hospitals are 70% isopropanol and 0.5% chlorhexidine gluconate that exhibit high antimicrobial activity against bacteria, fungi and enveloped viruses (Chang et al., 2013). However, it is lacking a broadspectrum, virucidal effect against non-enveloped viruses (Chang et al., 2013). Even though 70% isopropanol and 0.5% chlorhexidine gluconate does reduce viral titres of non-enveloped rotavirus and calicivirus, it exhibits no antiviral activity against several EVs, including EV-71, PV and CV-B (Chang et al., 2013). Ethanol at 95% concentration has been shown to exhibit a virucidal activity against several non-enveloped viruses, including EVs (Chang et al., 2013).



Enterovirus-infected individuals who have a deficiency in type-specific antibodies are presented with an increased possibility of developing meningitis, myocarditis and hepatitis with hemorrhagic phenomena (Fuchs et al., 2013). Two preventative approaches towards critical non-polio EVs (NPEV) infections in asymptomatic infants or their contacts are the administration of intravenous immunoglobulins and prophylactic intramuscular immune serum globulin (Fuchs et al., 2013). No commercial vaccine is yet available to prevent and protect individuals from NPEV infections and only symptomatic treatment is generally necessary as the majority of EV infections are self-limited (Modlin et al., 2014). There are, however, two very effective polio vaccines containing all three serotypes, namely the inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) designed by Jonas Salk that is administered via the intramuscular route and the attenuated Sabin live OPV designed by Albert Sabin (Pallansch et al., 2013). The trivalent OPV is more beneficial based on its vaccine delivery, lower production costs and providing high mucosal immunity and has therefore been the main tool for the GPEI (Boot et al., 2004; Minor, 2009; Diop et al., 2015). Nevertheless, low vaccination coverage lead to the interhuman circulation of OPV-derived PVs that underwent viral genetic drift and reversion to neurovirulent PVs, VDPVs, especially in type-B immunodeficient individuals (Razafindratsimandresy et al., 2013). Increased VAPP outbreaks of VDPV type 2 (VDPV-2) lead to the globally synchronised replacement of the trivalent OPV with a bivalent OPV containing only Sabin PV-1 and PV-3 that was initiated in April 2016 (Friedrich, 2016). Since EV-71 is the causative agent of severe HFMD with frequent localised epidemics being reported, vaccine development has been implemented but there is no preventative measure currently available (Geoghegan et al., 2015). A phase III clinical trial that enrolled ten thousand participants showed that an inactivated whole virus EV-71 vaccine provided significant protection against EV-71associated HFMD, especially in children between six and 36 months (Wang et al., 2014). Another study evaluated its feasibility for co-immunisation with a pentavalent vaccine (PV, Bordetella pertussis, Haemophilus influenza type B, diphtheria toxoid and tetanus toxoid) in mice, which demonstrated to be potentially successful for coimmunisation (Wang et al., 2014). However, this interaction has not yet been assessed clinically in infants (Wang et al., 2014).



Antiviral agents, such as the inhibitor imidazo-pyrazine, primarily target the hostreceptor interactions to block EV infections and has been suggested as treatment for EV infections (Tan *et al.*, 2014). Imidazo-pyrazine is a potential kinase inhibitor compound that exhibits micromolar activity that was originally directed against hepatitis C virus (HCV) (MacLeod *et al.*, 2013). Due to EVs sharing the positive-sense single-stranded RNA genomic characteristic with HCV, EVs have been shown to respond to the imidazo-pyrazine compounds, with the antiviral agent showing a 3-5 fold increase in activity against EVs (MacLeod *et al.*, 2013). Other antiviral agents such as highly sulphated suramin and its NF449 analogue can bind to the VP1 protein or disrupt the integrity of the capsid structure of EV-71 (Tan *et al.*, 2014). Pleconaril is another viral capsid inhibitor that exhibitis activity against picornaviruses and is undergoing further research to determine whether it is an efficient form of treatment against severe neonatal EV infections (Abzug *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.4. WASTEWATER TREATMENT AND ENTEROVIRUSES

#### 1.4.1. Wastewater treatment systems and enterovirus removal efficiency

The first phase of wastewater treatment is preliminary treatment and involves manual or mechanical operated inlet screening of incoming raw wastewater to remove nonbiodegradable floating objects and thus prevents blockage or damage to downstream process equipment (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 2002). Anaerobic, conventional and enhanced ponds, and aerated lagoons are one of the simple, low maintenance pond systems used as a primary phase separation method that allows suspended solids to settle at the bottom to be broken down by anaerobic bacteria (Water Research Commission Report No: TT 651/15). Other primary treatment systems are wetlands, settling tanks and flotation (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 2002). Biological wastewater treatment is a secondary treatment phase that include suspended growth systems such as activated sludge and attached growth systems such as biofilm trickling filters and rotating biological contractors (Rattier et al., 2012). More advanced treatment systems include membrane bioreactors that combines activated sludge treatment with microfiltration or ultrafiltration membranes to separate solids from liquid (Rattier et al., 2012). Pathogens and impurities such as chemical oxygen demand, metals and pesticides can be removed using disinfectants such as chlorine gas dosages,

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



UV irradiation, calcium hypochlorite and a strong oxidising disinfectant such as ozone (The Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 2002; Zanacic *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, many drinking water treatment plants (WTPs) remove the unpleasant taste, odour and disinfectants by adding activated carbon (Rattier *et al.*, 2012).

Wastewater is often not properly processed through correct primary/secondary treatment due to insufficient funds, high treatment costs of conventional treatment systems, poor maintenance and an exceeding capacity of wastewater inflow into the WWTPs (Edokpayi *et al.*, 2015). Enteroviruses can be inactivated through sunlight exposure, physico-chemical damage such as heavy metals and oxidising agents as well as enzymes that degrade proteins and nucleic acids (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 1996). Sedimentation, adsorption, coagulation and flocculation are several conventional water purification processes that may partially remove but not necessarily inactivate viruses, such as EVs (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 2002). Therefore, additional disinfection processes are needed, which include chlorination or through the use of other oxidising agents, and requires cautious process control of the dosage and contact time (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 2002).

Effluent from a physico-chemical treatment plant has shown an EV removal rate of 0%, while the removal rate for faecal coliforms was 25% (Payment *et al.*, 2001). Enteroviruses have also been detected in membrane reactor effluent, as adsorption to the mixed liquor suspended solids is less efficient for EVs (Miura *et al.*, 2015). Research furthermore suggests that EVs are not removed via sedimentation, but are rather inactivated by sunlight exposure, as there is limited evidence on virus associated with settleable particles (Symonds *et al.*, 2014). Co-precipitation into growing aluminum hydroxide is a main viral removal mechanism, where aluminum hydrolyte species were applied to PV-1 and CV-B5 during coagulation (Shirasaki *et al.*, 2016). It has furthermore been shown that three-pond treatment systems, facultative ponds and maturation ponds removed culturable EVs with greater efficiency compared to upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactors with two maturation ponds (Symonds *et al.*, 2014).



#### 1.4.2. Wastewater effluent guidelines and indicators of enteroviruses

Water quality is defined as the physical, chemical, biological and aesthetic properties of water that determines its suitability for various water usages and the protection of the health and integrity of aquatic ecosystems (Department of Water and Environmental Affairs, 1998). The South African Water Quality Guidelines policy states that treated effluent is required to be returned to natural water sites for maximum utilization of scarce water resources (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 1996). According to the National Water Act (36/1998) it must not exceed 2000 cubic metres of discharge per day with a general faecal coliform limit of 1000 colony forming units (cfu)/100 millilitre (ml).

Faecal contamination in the environment mainly originates from raw and treated sewage matrices that pollute the main source of viral pathogens to downstream surface waters (Hmaïed et al., 2016). Several studies have questioned the method of identifying health risks associated with enteric viruses, such as EVs, by monitoring faecal indicator bacteria (Ahmed et al., 2015). It has been suggested that coliform bacteria do not necessarily portray the presence of EVs and other pathogenic viruses after disinfection procedures (Ahmed et al., 2015; Hmaïed et al., 2016). More precise representatives of enteric viruses are the somatic coliphages and the F+ male specific host with the F sex pilus (F-RNA) coliphages as their environmental stability resembles that of human enteric viruses in natural water sources and are also more resistant to chlorine disinfection (Ashbolt et al., 2001). Nevertheless, bacteriophages can be shed by both animals and humans, and animal faeces generally contain higher concentrations of coliphages (Ashbolt et al., 2001). It has also been found that the quantity of bacteriophages and enteric viruses that are shed by humans do not correlate. It is, therefore, not an absolute model organism for human enteric viruses (Ashbolt et al., 2001). Routine virological monitoring for EVs and other enteric viruses is relatively expensive and the majority of South African laboratories do not possess the necessary facilities and expertise (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 1996). It has been recommended to only perform virological assays during an enteric virus disease outbreak or any situation of suspicion (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, 1996).



#### **1.5.** ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEILLANCE OF ENTEROVIRUSES

#### 1.5.1 Environmental surveillance

Enteroviruses replicate within the intestinal lymphatic tissue and are continuously shed via the faeces for several weeks, irrespective of whether the infected individual is symptomatic or asymptomatic (Ndiaye *et al.*, 2014). There is limited data on the epidemiology of EVs with a symptomatic EV surveillance as the majority of EV infections are asymptomatic (Lu *et al.*, 2015). This is especially the case in high-density populations where the clinical AFP surveillance is either ineffective or absent (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). An ES is based on faecally shed EVs that are subsequently introduced into wastewater sources, which when sampled can link EVs, especially PVs isolated from unknown individuals, to populations served by the sewage system (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). The epidemiological significance of ES is that it is able to elucidate viral distribution trends and variation patterns within an area over a specific period of time (Lu *et al.*, 2015). It is an indirect monitoring system that provides information regarding EV circulation and distribution of symptomatic and asymptomatic infections within a community (Aw and Gin, 2010; Ndiaye *et al.*, 2014).

Faecal contamination of environmental water sources may occur when EVs are shed and discharged into sewage systems and subsequent natural water sources (Ndiaye *et al.*, 2014). Wastewater, river, dam, sea and recreational water matrices can represent as efficient vehicles of viral transmission to humans when EVs are introduced in these water sources (Battistone *et al.*, 2014). This includes faecally-contaminated irrigation water that is applied onto vegetables and fruits, posing as a potential threat to the consumers (Battistone *et al.*, 2014). It has, therefore, been shown that ES can also contribute to improved wastewater treatment systems as the significance of waterborne diseases increase (Battistone *et al.*, 2014).

The GPEI developed a supplementary surveillance system which involves the sampling of sewage wastewater and testing for the presence of wild PVs (WPVs) and NPEVs (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). This ES has been included in the GPEI 2013-2018 strategic plan to assist in identifying residual transmission in PV-endemic countries (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). Environmental surveillance studies from the GPEI found that WPVs were



detected in the absence of AFP cases during the same time period (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). Environmental surveillance in Egypt and India facilitated in documenting their WPV elimination, through monitoring residual WPV transmission, and has also been implemented to monitor VDPVs and importations of WPVs (Asghar *et al.*, 2014). Even though the risk of VDPV infection through the environment is low, the public can still utilise the VDPV-contaminated water for domestic, agricultural and recreational purposes and may be directly exposed to these viral pathogens (Pavlov *et al.*, 2005). The great concern lies in the silent, continuous circulation of PVs in the environment after the cessation of the PV vaccine in a non-immune population (Pavlov *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.5.2. Laboratory methodology

#### 1.5.2.1. Sampling principles

According to the Guidelines for Environmental Surveillance of Poliovirus Circulation (World Health Organization [WHO], 2003), the grab and trap sampling methods are two principal methods of collecting environmental water samples used for both PV and NPEV analysis purposes. The grab method allows the collection of a 1 litre (L) water sample at a selected sampling site generally during peak hours of household sewage flow and the trap method is where a bag of non-specific absorbing material is hung into a water source stream and taken out after one or more days (WHO, 2003). Sampling is usually done using a sterile labelled glass bottle, where the sample characteristics, such as pH and temperature, are measured at the moment of sampling and then transferred in a 4°C cooler to an analytical laboratory where it is processed (Kargar *et al.*, 2009). Due to the low viral load in environmental water matrices it is important that a sample volume of 100 ml - 1 L need to be processed (Ikner *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.5.2.2. Viral recovery

Viral recovery generally involves a two-stage procedure to concentrate the virus to a 10 ml suspension to increase the low detectable viral load (Jones and Sellwood, 2001). General viral concentration techniques include ultrafiltration, adsorption-elution using filters (VIRADEL), membranes, glass wool or glass powder, flocculation, two-phase separation with polymers and monolithic chromatographic columns (Bosch *et al.*, 2011). Each recovery technique involves their own advantages and disadvantages and

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



the viral recovery efficiency may be affected by the physico-chemical water quality such as pH, conductivity, turbidity, presence of particulate matter and organic acids (Bosch *et al.*, 2011). No standard method for viral concentration with consistent high viral recovery rates has been established (Jones and Sellwood, 2001; Rutjes *et al.*, 2005).

#### Adsorption-elution filtration

The VIRADEL procedure involves a primary concentration step that uses adsorptive electronegative or electropositive filters to process large volumes of water, which is followed by the virus being eluted from the filters (Rutjes et al., 2005; Ikner et al., The most commonly used filter is a microporous filter, such as the 2012). electropositive 1 MDS filter, to which the negatively charged viral particle adsorbs and subsequently releases from during elution (Ikner et al., 2012). Another more costeffective alternative is the NanoCeram filters, composed of nanoalumina fiber-coated microglass filaments with an extensive surface area and high isoelectric point (Ikner et al., 2011). Oiled sodocalcic positively charged glass wool is another filter that can be used for large volumes of water without pre-conditioning, and is more cost-effective then alternative electropositive filter media (Katayama et al., 2002; Ikner et al., 2012). Glass wool is packed into stainless steel holders into a desired density, which attributes to its recovery efficiency where the amount of glasswool is proportional to its efficiency (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). It has, however, been noted that glass wool allows the passage of organic material that inhibits PCR assays, which has not been observed with glass powder (Ikner et al., 2012).

Magnesium chloride is added to the water sample when filtered through a negatively charged membrane, elution is done with sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and further concentrated using centrifugal ultrafiltration or organic flocculation (Rutjes *et al.*, 2005; Ahmed *et al.*, 2015). Virus recovery efficiency from negatively charged membranes have been found to improve when directly extracting the nucleic acids from the membranes, with no PCR inhibitory effects found after quantitative real-time RT-PCR (qrtRT-PCR) analysis (Ahmed *et al.*, 2015). Multivalent salts and acidification is required for virus adsorption when electronegative filters are being used, which complicates large-volume sampling (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). It is, therefore, more ideal to

Chapter 1 : Literature Review

18



use electropositive filters since no preconditioning is necessary and viruses can be concentrated over a greater pH range (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). A novel concentration method has been developed that utilises a pumpless bag-mediated filtration system allowing large environmental water sample volumes of up to 10 L to be collected and filtered on site using ViroCap filters, specific for PVs (Fagnant *et al.*, 2014).

The elution solutions that are used to recover the viruses from the filters can be either organic, such as beef extract, or inorganic, such as sodium polyphosphates (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). Beef extract is the main elution solution to recover viruses from both electropositive and electronegative filters with a pH ranging between 9.0 and 9.5 (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). A non-ionic detergent, Tween 80, is a component that enhances the desorption of the virus from microporous filters and ultrafilters and can be used in combination with chaotropic salts (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). Sodium polyphosphates are highly negative, inorganic polyanionic salts that have been used with Tween 80 to elute viruses from hollow-fiber ultrafilters (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). The eluate volume depends on the type of filter, where 420 ml is ideal for ultrafilter membranes and NanoCeram filters and up to 1.6 L can be used for 1 MDS filters (Ikner *et al.*, 2012).

#### Ultrafiltration

Soluble ultrafilters of sodium alginate have been previously used to concentrate PVs through size exclusion instead of electrokinetics, but this technique has not been found to be practical for environmental water samples (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). The filters were dissolved in sodium citrate and applied to cell culture infectivity assays, but pre-treatment through a membrane filter was required when turbid natural waters needed to be processed (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). It is furthermore not cost-effective and not as feasible compared to virus adsorption-elution techniques (Ikner *et al.*, 2012).

#### Ultracentrifugation

Ultracentrifugation at an estimated 100,000 x g pellets the macromolecules and viruses that can be subsequently resuspended in a much smaller volume to concentrate viruses (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). When a density gradient, such as sucrose, cesium chloride or glycerol is used it is referred to as isopycnic ultracentrifugation where viral particles are separated according to their size and/or particle density (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). It is

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



generally used as a secondary step for virus concentration, but has a direct recovery efficiency between 66% and 72% in wastewater and recreational waters, respectively (Prata *et al.*, 2012). It allows sufficient gravitational force to sediment small viruses and avoids resuspension from a pellet (Lawrence and Stewards, 2010). It does, however, require supplementary stages to remove PCR inhibitors following both primary and secondary precipitation (Lawrence and Steward, 2010).

#### *Two-phase separation*

Aqueous polymer two-phase separation was designed to recover viruses from small volumes of water (500 ml), which has also been recommended by the WHO guidelines for environmental surveillance of PV (WHO, 2003; Ikner *et al.*, 2012). The water sample is initially centrifuged to separate the EV particles from the solids and the subsequent pellet is stored at 4°C after which viruses are stimulated to move towards an organic solution, such as dextran and polyethylyne glycol (PEG) (Ikner *et al.*, 2012). The water/organic solution mixture is shaken vigorously and is left overnight at 4°C in a separation funnel, where the EVs can be collected from the smaller bottom layer and/or at the interphase (WHO, 2003). The initial pellet is added to the concentrate and subsequently treated with chloroform (WHO, 2003).

#### 1.5.2.3. Viral isolation

According to the WHO guidelines for environmental surveillance of PV circulation (WHO, 2003), the L20B murine cell line that is genetically modified with a PV receptor and the RD tumour tissue cells are used for identifying PV and NPEVs (Adeniji and Faleye, 2014). One of the most common cell lines to be used for routine monolayer plaque assays from environmental water samples are the BGM kidney cells (Rutjes *et al.*, 2005). Other cell lines available for environmental surveillance of EVs are the rhesus monkey kidney cells (LLC-MK2), human mammary gland adenocarcinoma cells (MCF-7), Hep2, PLC/PRF/5, primary vervet monkey kidney cells (PVK) and human lung epithelial cells (A549) (Grabow *et al.*, 1999; Lee *et al.*, 2004; Ehlers *et al.*, 2005; Amdiouni *et al.*, 2012; Adeniji and Faleye, 2014). Shell vial isolation has also been applied in ES studies where it was compared to the traditional viral isolation method,


which revealed a positivity rate of 100% in shell vial culture and 87.5% in traditional viral isolation (Shukla *et al.*, 2013).

Plaque-forming tests are time-consuming, not cost-effective and are limited to only a few cultivable EVs (Hmaïed *et al.*, 2016). For the detection and enumeration of cultivable EVs the total cultivable virus assay-most-probable-number method can be used, which is based on the expression of CPE in BGM cells (Chapron *et al.*, 2000). It is, however, not as efficient since not all EVs produce a CPE (Chapron *et al.*, 2000).

#### 1.5.2.4. Viral detection

Molecular techniques such as qrtRT-PCR are highly sensitive and overcome the disadvantages of cell culture techniques (Hmaïed *et al.*, 2016). The primers and probe implemented in a rtRT-PCR target the 5'UTR of the EV genome for detection of the genus, while the 3'UTR is targeted for species-specific detection of EVs (Figure 1.3) (Hovi *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Real-time RT-PCR can be applied specifically to distinguish between PV serotypes, where the serotype-specific primers are able to amplify a 195 bp sequence that corresponds to the Sabin strain capsid region (Iwai-Itamochi *et al.*, 2014).

It has been suggested that a combination of viral isolation in cell culture and rtRT-PCR or RT-semi-nested PCR offers more accuracy and efficiency than the traditional PCR techniques (Wu *et al.*, 2013). Viral isolation in cell culture is the gold standard for the determination of viral infectivity, but not all EVs can be propagated in cell culture and there is no single cell line that supports propagation of all cultivable EVs (Hamza *et al.*, 2011; Leifels *et al.*, 2015). Polymerase chain reaction is preferred over viral isolation in cell culture with regards to its affordability and timesaving manner (Jebri et al., 2014). Nevertheless, PCR assays lack the ability to evaluate the infectivity of the virus and has limited control over the inhibitory substances that interfere with the amplification enzymes (Gerba, 2007; Wurtzer *et al.*, 2014).





Figure 1.3. Enterovirus genome and its locations for molecular identification of the genus, serotype and species (Hovi *et al.*, 2007).

Integrated cell culture RT-PCR (ICC-RT-PCR) is a combination of biological amplification of viral nucleic acid using cell culture techniques and subsequent RT-PCR detection (Hamza *et al.*, 2011). This technique overcomes the PCR-based limitation of discriminating between infectious and non-infectious viral particles and allows detection of slow-growing viruses or those that fail to show a CPE (Gensberger and Kostić., 2013; Leifels *et al.*, 2015). In addition, inhibitory effects of environmental samples are reduced by passage in cell culture (Gensberger and Kostić., 2013).

Other methods of discriminating between infectious and non-infectious EVs are through the evaluation of viral capsid integrity, which involves pre-treating the water samples using DNA intercalating dyes or nuclease pre-digestion (Wurtzer *et al.*, 2014). Propidium monoazide (PMA) is a DNA intercalating dye that can enter viral particles with damaged capsids (Karim *et al.*, 2015). A PMA RT-PCR assay has been developed to then distinguish between infectious and non-infectious EVs (Karim *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.5.2.5. Viral characterisation

An initial micro-neutralisation characterisation assay can be done on an isolate, by using PV type-specific rabbit polyclonal antisera as well as pooled horse antisera against Es and CVs that have been most frequently isolated (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). In order to characterise the EV genotype, it is amplified by performing an RT-nested PCR (RT-nPCR) where an estimated 888 bp fragment within the VP1 is amplified that functions as a template for the second round which amplifies a 437 bp fragment (Zhang *et al.*,

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



2014). Nucleotide sequence analysis is done in the forward and reverse directions using an ABI 3730 automatic DNA sequencher, with genotypic identity determined through GenBank Basic Local Alignment Sequence Tool (BLAST) data (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Final confirmation is given through the use of the automated web-based genotyping tool, Enterovirus Typing Tool (Kroneman et al., 2011).

## **1.6. EPIDEMIOLOGY**

#### 1.6.1. General

Enterovirus infections peak in the summer and early autumn months in countries with temperate climates, while no significant seasonality is shown in tropical climates (Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). There is a statistical significance (p<0.001) in the difference in average rates between winter and summer, with 1.2 cases per 100,000 being reported during the winter season and 1.9 cases per 100,000 reported during the summer season (Levine *et al.*, 2014). In both temperate and tropical climates the EV-B species are generally more prevalent, followed by EV-A species in temperate climates and EV-C species in tropical climates (Apostol *et al.*, 2012).

Children, pregnant women, immunocompromised individuals and the elderly are most affected by EV infections where it causes greater morbidity compared to healthy individuals (Gall *et al.*, 2015). Children below the age of five are most affected by EV infections, with infants below the age of 12 months being one-third of the cases that are diagnosed (Kadambari *et al.*, 2014). Human EVs are generally transmitted via the faecal-oral route either through direct person-to-person transmission or consumption of contaminated food and water (Gerba, 2007; Jebri *et al.*, 2014). Direct contact with virus-contained secretions, accidental bloodstream inoculation and vesicular fluid all have the ability to act as vehicles of transmission into the bloodstream, mouth, nose or eyes (Pallansch and Oberste, 2009).

#### 1.6.2. South Africa

#### Clinical distribution

The majority of clinical EV outbreaks that occur in South Africa involve paediatric patients. Echovirus 4, E-9 and CV-B5 have been previously associated with paediatric

Chapter 1 : Literature Review |



aseptic meningitis cases in Tswane from 2010 to 2011 with E-4 identified in 80% of the cases (Wolfaardt *et al.*, 2014). From November 2015 to early 2016, two adults and 40 children below the age of 10 years were reported to have potential aseptic meningitis infection, from which E-6, CV-A9, CV-B2, CV-B4, CV-B5 and E-11 were identified. (National Institute of Communicable Diseases, 2016). Significant South African outbreaks of EVs are shown in Table 1.2.

From 1981 – 1989 there were 11,360 cases of aseptic meningitis in Cape Town of which 3460 cases were of viral aetiology and 91% EVs (Berger, 2016). Major aseptic meningitis outbreaks occurred during the summer season, where E-4 was responsible for two outbreaks, and E-9 and CV-A9 each responsible for one outbreak (Berger, 2016).

Year	Region	EV Type	Clinical Manifestation	No of cases	Reference
2010–2011	РТА	E-4	Paediatric aseptic meningitis	30	Wolfaardt et al., 2014
2001	CPT	E-3	Paediatric Aseptic meningitis	90	Yeats et al., 2005
1986-1987	CPT	E-4	Aseptic meningitis	445	McIntyre and Keen, 1993
1985-1986	CPT	CV-A9	Aseptic meningitis	104	McIntyre and Keen, 1993
1984-1986	CPT	E-9	Aseptic meningitis	223	McIntyre and Keen, 1993
1984	JHB	CV-B3	Pleurodynia, meningoencephalitis, myocarditis	142	Schoub <i>et al.</i> , 1985
1981-1982	СРТ	E-4	Aseptic meningitis	706	McIntyre and Keen, 1999

Table 1.2. Significant enterovirus outbreaks in South Africa from 1981-2011.

\*PTA=Pretoria; CPT=Cape Town; JHB=Johannesburg.

Enterovirus 70 was found responsible for an acute hemorrhagic conjunctivitis outbreak in 1982, followed by CV-B3 that caused pleurodynia and meningitis in patients in Johannesburg in 1984. In 1989 there was an outbreak of hemorrhagic conjunctivits in a mine hospital and 90/130 grade 5 pupils attending a summer camp in 2001 were affected by an aseptic meningitis outbreak of E-3 (Berger, 2016).



#### Environmental distribution

Environmental surveillance of EVs in South Africa showed that EVs were prevalent in 42.5%, 28.5%, 26.7%, 25.3% and 18.7% of sewage, river-, dam/spring-, borehole-water, and drinking water, respectively (Vivier *et al.*, 2004; Ehlers *et al.*, 2005). The most predominant EV types identified in environmental water sources were the CV-Bs (Vivier *et al.*, 2004; Ehlers *et al.*, 2005). Sabin PVs have previously been isolated from environmental water sources, namely sewage and river water, in South Africa, with Sabin PV-1 being most predominantly identified, followed by Sabin PV-3 and PV-2 (Grabow *et al.*, 1999; Pavlov *et al.*, 2005). Vaccine-derived PVs were also identified, with key mutations being recognized that are associated with reversion to increased neurovirulence in attenuated Sabin PV-1 to 3 strains (Pavlov *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.6.3. Global

#### Clinical distribution

Non-polio EVs are causing an estimated annual 10 - 15 million infections in the United States of America (USA) alone (Farrel *et al.*, 2015). Both widespread epidemics and sporadic outbreaks are occurring due to EV strains that recombine with each other to give rise to new genetically diverse strains (Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Hand, foot and mouth disease outbreaks of EV-71 generally occur in the Asia-Pacific region (Australia, Japan, Malaysia, Taiwan, Vietnam and China) in a cyclic pattern every 2 - 3 years (Geoghegan *et al.*, 2015; Lugo and Krogstad, 2016). Enterovirus 71 and CV-A16 are the most common causative agents of HFMD and are gradually being replaced by CV-A6, CV-A10, E-9 and other EVs (Gopalkrishna *et al.*, 2012; Zhou *et al.*, 2016). These EVs that are steadily replacing the main HFMD causative agents have increased from 30.0% in 2010 to 83.8% in 2013 as the aetiological agent of HFMD (Gopalkrishna *et al.*, 2012; Zhou *et al.*, 2016). Several significant outbreaks of EV infections have occurred across the globe and are shown in Table 1.3.

In 2014, a recent respiratory disease outbreak associated with a rare EV-D68 strain in the USA affected mainly children under the age of ten years old, especially those with an underlying asthma condition (Horner *et al.*, 2015). Enterovirus D68 was known as the rare subtype responsible for respiratory infections until significant respiratory tract

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



infection cases were reported between 2008 and 2010 in the Netherlands, Japan, the Philippines, USA and the United Kingdom (Jackson, 2014). Another clinical feature that was noted during this EV-D68 outbreak was an increased reporting of acute flaccid myelitis cases, but it was difficult to establish the causality (Kadambari *et al.*, 2014; Horner *et al.*, 2015).

Country	Year	Month	EV type	Clinical Manifestation	Age Group	Reference
Spain	2016	May	EV-71	Neurological complications	< 15yrs	ECDC, 2016
USA	2014- 2015	Aug-Jan	EV-D68	Severe respiratory infection	< 15yrs	CDC, 2015
China	2012	May-June	E-30	Aseptic meningitis	< 14 yrs	Xiao <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Australia	2012- 2013	Dec-May	EV-71	Neurological symptoms, HFMD	< 10 yrs	Zander <i>et al.</i> , 2014
USA	2011- 2012	Nov-Feb	CV-A6	HFMD	< 5 yrs	CDC, 2015
USA	2001	Jan-Aug	E-13	Aseptic meningitis	Unsp.	Noah and Reid et al., 2002
Australia	2001	Mar-July	E-30	Aseptic meningitis	14 yrs	Noah and Reid et al., 2002
UK Germany France Iceland Netherlands	2000- 2001	May-Sept	E-30	Aseptic meningitis	< 5 yrs	Noah and Reid et al., 2002
UK France Germany Netherlands	2000	May-Sept	E-13	Aseptic meningitis	< 5 yrs	Noah and Reid et al., 2002

Table 1.3	Significant	olohal	enterovirus	outbreaks	from	2000 -	2016
1 auto 1.5.	Significant	giobai	cilicitovitus	outoreaks	nom	2000 -	2010.

\*USA= United States of America; UK=United Kingdom; CDC=Centres for Disease Control and Prevention; ECDC=European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control.

The global initialisation of OPV in 1988 lead to PV being on the threshold of eradication, with WPV-2 being eradicated in 1999 and WPV-3 has been undetected since November 2012 (Diop *et al.*, 2015). Nigeria was removed from the list of polio



endemic countries in September 2015 as their last AFP case linked to WPV-1 was detected in July 2014 (GPEI, 2016). However, two WPV-1 cases were reported in Nigeria in July 2016 that showed high similarity to a WPV-1 strain from Borno in 2011. This indicates its circulation for more than four years without detection (GPEI, 2016). To date, 34 cases of WPV were reported in the endemic countries, Pakistan (18), Afghanistan (12) and Nigeria (4), with 3 cVDPV cases in Lao People's Democratic Republic (GPEI, 2016). The genetically divergent VDPVs have also become associated with polio outbreaks in areas with low OPV coverage in the form of circulating VDPVs (cVDPVs) (Diop *et al.*, 2015). Due to 90% of the VDPV outbreaks being caused by type 2 cVDPVs (cVDPV2), the trivalent OPV has been replaced with the bivalent OPV containing only PV-1 and PV-3 in all OPV-using countries from April 2016 (Morales *et al.*, 2016). Countries that have recently been affected by cVDPV outbreaks are Madagascar, Guinea, Ukraine, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar and Nigeria (Morales *et al.*, 2016).

When analysing the global clinical epidemiology of EV-types, it was determined that E-30, E-6, E-9, CV-B5, E-11, E-4, CV-B3, CV-A16, CV-A9 and E-13 are the top 10 EVs that are associated with hospital cases (Janes *et al.*, 2014). Enterovirus epidemiology is highly under-documented in Africa (Opanda *et al.*, 2016). A study in Kenya showed that 93.5% (187/200) of the archived isolates collected from the respiratory surveillance program were positive for EV, with the majority of cases being children < 3 years of age (Opanda *et al.*, 2016). Enterovirus B species were most commonly isolated, followed by EV-D and EV-A, with no EV-C species detected (Opanda *et al.*, 2016).

#### Environmental distribution

Several countries have applied ES where EVs have been detected in various environmental water matrices, as summarised in Table 1.4. In 2007, an ES was implemented in Singapore and revealed that EVs were detected in 94% of sewage and 89% of secondary effluent (Aw and Gin, 2010). Common EVs that have been identified were most predominantly belonging to the EV-C species (76.5%), followed by EV-B (64.7%) and EV-A (41.2%), with the majority being CV-A1, CV-A11, CV-A17, CV-A22 as well as CV-A24 which has been linked to clinical strains in Singapore

Chapter 1 : Literature Review



(Aw and Gin, 2010). The presence of CV-A16 in environmental water correlated with an epidemic outbreak of HFMD caused by CV-A16 during time of sampling (Aw and Gin, 2010). According to ES data from the Slovak Republic, CV-Bs (40%) were the most predominant EVs isolated from sewage, followed by Es (37%) and Sabin PVs (21%) in an 11-year surveillance study from 2001-2011 (Klement *et al.*, 2013). Similar data were determined in a sewage surveillance study in Italy with a prevalence of CV-B (55.5%), Es (36.3%), CV-A (0.1%) and untypeable EVs (7.5%) (Battistone *et al.*, 2014).

Country	Year	Water Source	Cell Line	Positivity Rate	Main EV types	Reference	
China	2008- 2012	Sewage	RD L20B HEp-2	99/129 (76.6%)	E-6, CV-B3, E-3, E-12, E-7	Wang <i>et al.</i> , 2014	
Slovak Republic	2001- 2011	Sewage	RD L20B	Unsp.	CV-B5, E-3,CV- B2, CV-B3, E-11	Klement <i>et al.</i> , 2013	
Italy	2005- 2008	Sewage	RD L20B	680/1392 (48.9%)	CV-B2, CV-B5, E-11, CV-B5, E-6	Battistone <i>et al.</i> , 2014	
	2006- 2010	Sewage	RD L20B	256/321 (80%)	E-6, CV-B5, E-11, E-4, CV-B4	Pelligrinelli et al., 2013	
Tunisia	2009- 2010	Sewage	None	52/172 (30.2%)	E-25, CV-B3, E-14	Ibrahim <i>et al.</i> , 2014	
Senegal	2007- 2013	Sewage	RD L20B HEp-2	116/271 (42.8%)	CV-A11, CV-A7, E-19, CV-A13, CV-A17	Ndiaye <i>et al.</i> , 2014	
Poland	2011	Sewage	RD L20B Caco-2	127/165 (77%)	E-11, E-3, CV-B, E-6, E-7	Wieczorek et al., 2015	
Nigeria	2010	Sewage SCW*	RD L20B	9/26 (34.6%)	E-7, E-11, E-13, E- 19, E-20	Adeniji and Faleye, 2014	
Georgia	2002- 2005	Sewage	RD L20B	112/254 (44.1%)	E-6, E-20, E-3, E-7, E-11, CV-B4,	Khetsuriani et al., 2010	
Singapore	2007	Sewage	None	17/18 (94%)	CV-A1, C V-A22, CV-A17, CV-A22	Aw and Gin, 2010	
		Effluent		16/18 (89%)	CV-A16, CV-A2	2010	

Table 1.4. Global distribution of enteroviruses in environmental water sources.

\*SCW = Sewage contaminated water; CV = Coxsackievirus; E = Echovirus.

An ES applied in Ivory Coast between 2008 and 2009, showed that BGM cell lines (50%) had a higher EV infection sensitivity, compared to the RD (48.5%), HEp-2



(44.1%) and L20B (2.9%) cell lines (Momou *et al.*, 2014). When using direct RT-PCR, EVs were detected in 44.1% of the samples positive and no significant difference in the detection rates between direct RT-PCR and RT-PCR after viral amplification was found (Momou *et al.*, 2014).

A reduction in the occurrence of VDPVs have been shown in ES studies that were done in conjunction with AFP surveillance after the switch from OPV to IPV, which were replaced by an increase of NPEVs (Klement *et al.*, 2013). Environmental surveillance studies have shown that Sabin PV-1 is the least prevalent PV species detected in environmental matrices (Battistone *et al.*, 2014; Nakamura *et al.*, 2015). It has been suggested that they have reduced replication in the gut or are less stable in the environment indicating lower resistance compared to Sabin PV-2 and PV-3 (Battistone *et al.*, 2014). According to an ES in Japan, Sabin PV-2 was the most prevalent (46%) (Nakamura *et al.*, 2015). Highly divergent VDPVs have been isolated from several countries, mostly being VDPV-2 (Al-Hello *et al.*, 2013, Tao *et al.*, 2013; Esteves-Jaramillo *et al.*, 2014).

## **1.7.** MOTIVATION FOR INVESTIGATION

There are more than 100 different genotypes that have been identified due to their genetic variability from intratypic and intertypic recombination (Tryfonos *et al.*, 2011). Due to the lack of African data on EV epidemiology there is a growing need for environmental surveillance of PVs and NPEVs. The poor infrastructure and treatment at WWTPs facilitates the survival of potentially infectious EVs in water sources and its transmission in the community through potential utilisation of the downstream water sources. By assessing the occurrence of EVs in water sources, especially PVs, there can be an emphasis on the need for proper established guidelines or thresholds for viral indicators and improvement of treatment systems (Hsu *et al.*, 2009).

#### **1.8. HYPOTHESIS**

It is hypothesised that wastewater treatment systems are not efficiently removing EVs from wastewater, which may be introduced in natural downstream surface water sources after wastewater effluent discharge.



## **1.9. AIM OF INVESTIGATION**

The aim of this project is to detect and characterise EVs with molecular and viral isolation methods, with specific reference to the three Sabin PV strains to determine the viral removal efficiency of selected WWTPs.

#### **1.10. OBJECTIVES**

- i. To recover EVs from water sources with glass wool adsorption elution or polyethylene glycol/sodium chloride precipitation.
- To optimise and apply real-time RT-PCR assays and a conventional nested RT-PCR assay for the detection of EVs in water sources, which include Sabin PV-specific real-time RT-PCR assays.
- iii. To isolate viruses in L20B, PLC/PRF/5 and BGM cell lines
- iv. To genotype the detected EVs with nucleotide sequence analysis, followed
  by phylogenetic analysis to examine the genetic relatedness between
  identified EV strains and recognised EVs strains circulating worldwide.



# CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS & METHODS

## 2.1 SITE SELECTION

Between April 2015 and March 2016, environmental water samples from six WWTPs and three surface water sites were collected on a monthly basis. The water samples provided by a large water utility (n=11) included sewage wastewater (1 L) and wastewater discharge (10 L) samples from five selected WWTPs in the Gauteng and bordering Free State province. An additional downstream surface water (10 L) sample site (VD1), which received wastewater discharge from all five WWTPs, was collected. This surface water site was 100 meter (m) from a dam wall and 200 m from the intake tower for a drinking WTP (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Map of the wastewater treatment plant sample sites and downstream surface water sample site in Gauteng and bordering Free State Province provided by a large water utility.

The remaining water samples were provided by a Gauteng municipality in the West Rand (n=12) and included wastewater discharge (1 L) and surface river water 30 m above (1 L) and 20 m below (1 L) the discharge point of the WWTP. The latter water

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods



samples were collected on a weekly basis from April 2015 to March 2016 and each sample type was pooled to a volume of 4 L at the end of each month (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Map of the sample site of wastewater treatment plant-6 and surface water sample sites provided by a Gauteng municipality.

The WWTP system information of all treatment plants are described in Table 2.1. This study was approved by the Faculty of Health Sciences MSc Committee (Appendix A) as well as the Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (Reference no: 164/2015) (Appendix B).

Prov.	WWTP	Design capacity (MegaL/d)	Treatment system	Green Drop status	2014 CRR value (%)	2012- 2013 EQQ value (%)
FS	1	2.00	Biological trickling filters; solar drying beds	High risk	82.4	57.3
FS	2	0.46	Biological filters and anaerobic ponds; solar drying beds and incineration	High risk	88.2	49.0
GP	3	2.00	Activated sludge and biological nutrient removal; anaerobic digestion	High risk	70.6	80.7
FS	4	2.82	Biological filters and integrated ponds; solar drying beds and composting	Critical	100	53.1
FS	5	1.70	Biological filters and anaerobic ponds; solar drying beds and sludge pond.	Critical	94.1	39.6
GP	6	19.5	Activated sludge and biological nutrient removal	High risk	81.8	37.6

Table 2.1. Technical characteristics of the wastewater treatment plant systems.

\*MegaL/d = Megalitre per day; CRR = Cumulative Risk Rating; EQQ = Effluent Quality Compliance (Department of Water Affairs, 2013).



## 2.2 INDICATOR ORGANISMS

*Escherichia coli* was enumerated from ten-fold dilutions of water samples using the membrane filtration technique and m-ColiBlue24®Broth (Hach Company, Loveland, CO). Ten ml of maximum recovery diluent was added to the cellulose nitrate filters (0.45 micrometer [ $\mu$ m]) (Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany). One ml of the ten-fold dilutions were filtered through the cellulose nitrate filters (Sartorius AG) using a polytetrafluoroethylene pressure filter holder (Sartorius AG) connected to a Gast vacuum pump (Gast manufacturing Inc., Benton Harbor, MI). Following filtration, the cellulose nitrate filters were placed onto an absorbent pad containing m-ColiBlue24® broth (Hach Company) in a petri dish (9 x 50 mm). The absorbent pad was invertedly incubated at 44.5°C for 24 hours in an Incotherm incubator (Labotec, Midrand, SA). The blue colonies were enumerated as cfu/100 ml (Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 2005; SANS 5221:2006 Ed 4.2).

#### 2.3 VIRAL RECOVERY

#### 2.3.1 Reagent preparation

#### Glass wool

For glass wool adsorption-elution, three portions of 5 gram (g) of glass wool was teased and compressed into a column, which is a Perspex pipe consisting of open caps on each end that have an extension onto which tubes can attach for inflow and outflow during filtration. Two gauze grids (pore size = 1 mm; 30 mm in diameter) are inserted between the three glass wool sections. The glass wool was soaked with sterile distilled water and pre-treated with 40 ml 1 Molar (M) hydrochloric acid (HCl) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), followed by 100 ml sterile distilled water, 40 ml 1 M NaOH (Merck) and 100 ml sterile distilled water to adjust the pH to 7.0 (Vilagenès *et al.*, 1993).

#### Polyethylene glycol<sub>8000</sub>/sodium chloride solution

Polyethylene  $glycol_{8000}/sodium$  chloride solution (PEG<sub>8000</sub>/NaCl) was prepared for primary concentration of the 1 L raw sewage samples and for secondary precipitation of the 4 L and 10 L wastewater discharge and surface water samples following primary glass wool adsorption-elution. The PEG/NaCl was prepared according to the ISO



standards, 15216-1, 2013 as follows: 250 g PEG<sub>8000</sub> (Amresco, Solon, OH) and 43.5 g NaCl (Merck) was combined and dissolved in 500 ml distilled  $H_2O$  at 50°C in a Heraeus incubator (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Once the PEG/NaCl solution was fully dissolved, it was subsequently autoclaved for 15 minutes (min) at 121°C and stored at room temperature.

## 2.3.2 Glass wool adsorption-elution

The glass wool column filtration method based on the method of Vilaginès *et al.*, (1993), modified by Venter (2004) was used to recover viruses from the 4 L and 10 L surface water and wastewater discharge samples. These water samples were drawn through positively charged glass wool columns with negative pressure. The negatively charged viruses adsorbed to the glass wool, were eluted twice with 50 ml glycine-beef extract buffer at pH 9.5 (0.05 M glycine [Merck] and 0.5% beef extract [BBL<sup>TM</sup> Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD]) with a 15 min holding time. The 100 ml eluate from the column was subsequently adjusted to a pH of 7 with 1 M HCl (Merck).

A final concentration volume of 10 ml in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO) was attained using the secondary precipitation method, PEG<sub>8000</sub> (Amresco)/NaCl (Merck) precipitation (ISO 15216-1, 2013). This was achieved by adding 0.25 volumes of PEG<sub>8000</sub>/NaCl to the supernatant and shaken on ice in a shaking waterbath (GFL, Burgwedel, Germany) for one hour. The supernatant/PEG<sub>8000</sub>/NaCl mixture was centrifuged at 10 000 x g for 30 min at 4°C in the Sorvall®SuperT21 centrifuge (DuPont, Wilmington, DE). The supernatant obtained after centrifugation was discarded and the pellet was suspended in 10 ml PBS (pH 7.4) (Sigma-Aldrich Co.). Following the thorough resuspension in PBS, 0.2 volumes of chloroform (Merck) was added to the suspension, shaken thoroughly and centrifuged at 4°C for 5 min at 10 000 x g in the Sorvall®SuperT21 centrifuge (DuPont). The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a 15 ml sterile tube and stored at -20°C until nucleic acid extraction.

#### 2.3.3 Polyethylene glycol <sub>8000</sub>/sodium chloride precipitation

The PEG<sub>8000</sub>/NaCl precipitation method (ISO 15216-1, 2013) was used as a primary concentration method to recover viruses from the 1 L raw wastewater samples. The

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods |



samples were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 min at 4°C in 500 ml bottles in the GS-6R centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, CA). The supernatant was transferred to a 2 L sterile bottle and adjusted to a pH of 7.0 with 1 M NaOH (Merck), while the pellets in the 500 ml bottles were kept at 4°C. The same steps as mentioned above in 2.3.2. were subsequently followed from when the PEG<sub>8000</sub>/NaCl solution was added to the supernatant. After PBS resuspension the solution was used to dissolve the initial pellets in the 500 ml bottles kept at 4°C. Subsequently, 0.2 volumes of chloroform (Merck) was added to the suspension, shaken thoroughly and centrifuged at 4°C for 5 min at 10 000 x g in the Sorvall®SuperT21 centrifuge (DuPont). The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a 15 ml sterile tube and stored at -20°C until nucleic acid extraction.

## 2.4. VIRAL ISOLATION

#### 2.4.1. Cell Cultures

Four different cell lines of both human and NHP origin, were used in this investigation. The PLC/PRF/5 human hepatoma cell line (European Collection of Cell Cultures [ECACC] 85061113), was derived from the liver of a chronic carrier of hepatitis B virus who died of primary hepatocellular carcinoma (Alexander *et al* 1976). These cells enhance the detection sensitivity of the majority of EVs, especially CV-B and Es (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2008). The BGM cell line (ECACC 90092601) was derived from African green monkey (*Cercopithecus aethiops*) kidney cells and they are susceptible to EVs, more specifically CV-B and PV (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2008). L20B cells are mouse L cells that have been genetically modified for PV detection by expressing the gene for the human cellular receptor for PVs (Wood and Hull, 1999). The Vero African Green Monkey cell line (ECACC 84113001), originally isolated from a non-diseased adult African green monkey in Japan, was grown on glass slides and used to monitor the presence of EV-specific inclusion bodies.

#### 2.4.2. Cell culture media and reagents

#### Antimicrobial and antimycotic pre-treatment

Six millilitre of the recovered viral concentrate was treated with a combination of penicillin-streptomycin-neomycin antibiotics (Sigma-Aldrich Co. GmbH, St.Louis,



MO). The antibiotics consisted of 5 000 units of penicillin, 5 mg streptomycin and 10 mg of neomycin/ml. An antimycotic, Nystatin (Sigma-Aldrich Co.), containing 10 000 units/ml was also added (Vivier *et al.*, 2004). Ten microlitre ( $\mu$ l) of the Nystatin and the antibiotic combination was added per ml recovered viral concentrate and is added to prevent cell culture contamination.

#### Minimum essential media

Each cell line had its own requirements regarding cell culture media. In general, all cells were cultivated in Eagle's minimum essential medium (E-MEM) with Earle's salts, antibiotics mixture (Penicillin-Streptomycin or Penicillin, Streptomycin-Amphotericin B Mixture, Lonza) (GIBCO, Waltham, MA) supplemented with appropriate concentrations of foetal calf serum (FCS, Biochrom GnbH, Germany). The PLC/PRF/5 cell line has an endogenous mycoplasma and 60  $\mu$ g/ml tylocine (anti-PPLO, Gibco BRL) was added. The L20B cell line required the addition of 0.01 M HEPES (Gibco BRL) to maintain the physiological pH in the cell culture.

#### 2.4.3. Cell culture infection

One ml of viral concentrate was inoculated into duplicate 25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks that contained monolayers of BGM, PLC/PRF/5 and L20B cells, respectively. Prior to infection, the growth media was removed from semi-confluent monolayers and the cells were starved for 60 min at 37°C in serum-free E-MEM. After withdrawal of the serum-free E-MEM, the appropriate volume (one ml) of treated sample was added and allowed to adsorb to the cells for 1 h at 37°C, with gentle swirling every 15 min. Four millilitre of MEM, specific for each cell line, was added to each culture flask and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. As a quality control, four ml of MEM was added to a flask of BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 cells only and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.

The cultures were monitored daily for the presence of a CPE by light microscopy. If no CPE was observed after seven days, the cells were blind-passaged into a single 25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flask. This involved preparation of new monolayers of the specific cell lines in  $25 \text{ cm}^2$  culture flasks as described above, that were inoculated with 1 ml of the infected cells. It was incubated for a further seven days with daily examination for a CPE. The

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods



flasks containing cells displaying CPE were stored in a 4°C fridge until cell culture harvesting.

## 2.4.4. Cell culture harvesting

Five hundred microliters of the infected BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 cell cultures were harvested into a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and stored in a -20°C freezer until nucleic acid extraction, including the negative cell culture controls. Following harvesting of all three cell lines, 50 µl of the infected cell cultures were passaged onto cell culture tubes with monolayers of Vero cells on a glass slide and incubated for seven days. The tube cultures were monitored daily for the presence of CPE by light microscopy and the glass slides were stained with haematoxylin and eosin and examined for the presence of EV-specific inclusion bodies as described by Malherbe and Strickland-Cholmley (1980).

#### 2.5 NUCLEIC ACID EXTRACTION

#### 2.5.1 Recovered viral concentrates

One ml of the recovered viral concentrate was seeded with 10  $\mu$ l of mengovirus (5 x 10<sup>5</sup>) copies) to serve as a process control. Mengovirus is a mutant non-virulent infective strain that is non-enveloped, contains single-stranded RNA, has similar environmental resistance properties to hepatitis A viruses and other single stranded RNA viruses and is not known to occur naturally in tested matrices. Total nucleic acids were extracted using the NucliSENS®EasyMAG® instrument (BioMérieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. It is a semi-automated nucleic acid extraction procedure that is based on the principle of magnetic silica particles that capture nucleic acid. Firstly, the sample aliquots were lysed during a 10 min incubation after which 50 µl of the magnetic sillica was added into each well and mixed with a multichannel pipette. The magnet silica particles that captured the nucleic acids were attracted to the NucliSENS®EasyMAG® magnetic device (BioMérieux) that enabled the system to purify the nucleic acid with three different wash buffers. A heating step released the nucleic acid from the magnetic sillica particles and the particles were separated from the eluate by the magnetic device. The extracted nucleic acids were eluted into 100  $\mu$ l, aliquoted into smaller volumes and stored at -70°C.

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods



#### 2.5.2 Cell culture suspensions

Five hundred microlitres of the harvested cell culture suspensions, including the negative cell culture controls, were subjected to three cycles of freezing and thawing and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for three min prior to nucleic acid extraction to pellet the cell debris. Nucleic acids were subsequently extracted from 200  $\mu$ l of the supernatant with the NucliSENS®EasyMAG® instrument (BioMérieux) according to the manufacturer's instructions and as described in 2.5.1. The extracted nucleic acids were eluted into 50  $\mu$ l, aliquoted into smaller volumes and stored at -70°C.

#### 2.6 MOLECULAR DETECTION

#### 2.6.1 Mengovirus real-time RT-PCR detection

A one-step rtRT-PCR assay was performed for the detection of seeded mengovirus from the recovered viral suspensions as a nucleic acid extraction process control with the mengo@ceeramTools<sup>TM</sup>kit (Ceerams.a.s, La Chappelle-Sur-Erdre, France) and rtRT-PCR primers and probe described by Pintó *et al.*, (2009) (Table 2.2).

<b>Primer/Probe</b>	Sequence (5'-3')	Orientation
Mengo110-F	GCG GGT CCT GCC GAA AGT	Forward
Mengo209-R	GAA GTA ACA TAT AGA CAG ACG CAC AC	Reverse
Mengo147-probe	FAM-ATC ACA TTA CTG GCC GAA GC- MGB	-

Table 2.2. Primers and probe for mengovirus amplification (Pintó et al., 2009).

The one-step rtRT-PCR reaction mixture had a total reaction volume of 25  $\mu$ l, consisting of 1 X mastermix containing mengovirus primers and probes, 1 X RT-PCR enzyme mix and 5  $\mu$ l of extracted nucleic acids. The one-step rtRT-PCR assay was performed on the LightCycler®2.0 (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) under the following cycling conditions: reverse transcription at 45°C for 10 min, activation at 95°C for 10 min and 45 cycles at 95°C for 15 seconds (s) and 60°C for 45 s. Acquisition of fluorescence was done after the extension step of each cycle.



## 2.6.2 Enterovirus real-time RT-PCR detection

A one-step rtRT-PCR assay was performed for the detection of EVs from the recovered viral suspensions as well as the cell culture extracts with the Quantitect Probe RT-PCR Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and primers and a hydrolysis probe, described by Führman *et al*, (2005) (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3. Primers and probe for enterovirus real-time RT-PCR amplification (Fuhrman *et al.*, 2005).

Primer/Probe	Sequence (5'-3')	Orientation
EV1	GAT TGT CAC CAT AAG CAG C	Reverse
EV2	CCC CTG AA TGC GGC TAA TC	Forward
EV-probe	FAM-CGG AAC CGA CTA CTT TGG GTG TCC GT-BHQ-Phosphor	-

The PCR reaction mixture consisted of 5  $\mu$ l of nucleic acid and 15  $\mu$ l mastermix that included 250 nanomolar (nM) of primer EV1, 250 nM of primer EV2 and 100 nM of the EV-probe. The assay was carried out in a LightCycler®2.0 (Roche Diagnostics) under the following conditions: reverse transcription at 50°C for 60 min, activation at 95°C for 5 min and 45 cycles at 94°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min and 65°C for 1 min and the fluorescent signal was measured after the extension step.

## 2.6.3 Sabin-like poliovirus real-time RT-PCR detection

A one-step rtRT-PCR assay was performed for the detection of Sabin PV-1 to 3 from the recovered viral suspensions as well as the cell culture extracts with the Quantitect Probe RT-PCR Kit (Qiagen) with the primers and probes described by Nijst *et al*, (2013) (Table 2.4).

Three individual rtRT-PCR assays for Sabin PV-1, PV-2 and PV-3 were performed and each PCR reaction volume consisted of 5  $\mu$ l of nucleic acid and 15  $\mu$ l mastermix that included 250 nM each of forward and reverse primer and 100 nM of probe. The LightCycler®2.0 (Roche Diagnostics) was used for performing the three Sabin PV assays under the following conditions: reverse transcription at 50°C for 45 min with enzyme activation at 95°C for 15 min for all three assays.

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods



Primer/probe	Sequence (5'-3')	Orientation	Specificity
Sabin1-F	TCC CTT TGA CTT AAG TAC AAA	Forward	PV-1 Sabin
Polio1-R	GAT CCT GCC CAG TGT GTG TAG	Reverse	PV-1 Wild/Sabin
Polio1-TM	FAM-AGG GTT CGG TTA AGT GAC AAA CCA CAT AC-BBQ	-	PV-1 Wild/Sabin
Sabin2-F	AAG GAA TTG GTG ACA TGA TTG AGG	Forward	PV-2 Sabin
Sabin2-R	CTC GGC TTT GTG TCA GGC	Reverse	PV-2 Sabin
Sabin2-TM	FAM-TGG AAG TCG GGG GAA CCA ATT GC-BBQ	-	PV-2 Sabin
Sabin3-F	AAT GAC CAG ATT GGT GAT TCC TTG	Forward	PV-3 Sabin
Sabin3-R	GTA AAT GCG GAC TTT GGA GGT TAC T	Reverse	PV-3 Sabin
Sabin3-TM	FAM-TGT GAT CAT TGA CAA CAC GAA CTG CAA-BBQ	-	PV-3 Sabin

Table 2.4. Primers and probes for Sabin-like poliovirus amplification (Nijst et al., 2013).

The cycling conditions for PV-1 were 35 cycles of 95°C for 5 s, 55°C for 1 s, 72°C for 37 s and 40°C for 30 s. The ramp rate was adjusted to 2°C/s in the PV-1 assay between 55°C to 72°C and returned to 20°C/s for cooling at 40°C for 30 s. For PV-2, the conditions were 35 cycles of 95°C for 5 s, 58°C for 15 s, 72°C for 5 s and cooling at 40°C for 30 s, while for PV-3 it was 35 cycles of 95°C for 5 s, 56°C for 15 s, 72°C for 5 s and cooling at 40°C for 30 s. For the PV-2 and PV-3 assays the ramp rate was 20°C/s and acquisition of the fluorescence for all assays were done after the extension step.

#### 2.7 MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION

#### 2.7.1 Conventional enterovirus RT-nPCR

A conventional RT-nPCR assay was performed to amplify a 375 bp region within the EV VP1 genome region with the first round and nPCR primers described by Nix *et al.*, (2006) (Table 2.5).



Primers	Sequence (5'-3')	Orientation
EV224	GCI ATG YTI GGI ACI CAY RT	first round PCR, forward
EV222	CIC CIG GIG GIA YRW ACA T	first round PCR, reverse
AN89	CCA GCA CTG ACA GCA GYN GAR	nPCR, forward
_	AYN GG	
AN88	TAC TGG ACC ACC TGG NGG NAY	nPCR, reverse
	RWA CAT	

Table 2.5. Primers for enterovirus VP1 region amplification (Nix et al., 2006).

#### cDNA synthesis

For cDNA synthesis, the Protoscript®II Reverse Transcriptase (New England BioLabs Inc, Ipswich, MA) enzyme was used. Ten  $\mu$ l of RNA was incubated at 95°C for 2 min on the PTC-100<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (MJ Research Inc., Watertown, MA) and cooled on ice for 2 min. Ten  $\mu$ l of RT reaction mixture was then added to the incubated RNA, which included 0.5 millimolar (mM) deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs) (New England BioLabs Inc.), 30  $\mu$ M random hexamers (Roche Diagnostics), 1 X Protoscript II Reverse Transcriptase reaction buffer (New England BioLabs Inc.), 10 mM 1,4-Dithiothreitol (DTT) (New England BioLabs Inc.), 50 Units of Protoscript II Reverse Transcriptase (New England BioLabs Inc.) and 20 U of Protector RNase inhibitor (Thermo Scientific, Langensenbold, Germany). The cDNA was synthesised in the PTC-100<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (MJ Research Inc.) under the following conditions: 25°C for 10 min, 50°C for 60 min and 85°C for 5 min.

#### First round PCR

The cDNA product was used as a template for the first round PCR that amplifies a 992 bp region of the EV VP1 genome using 1X EmeraldAmp® MAX HS PCR mastermix (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan), 1  $\mu$ M EV222 and 1  $\mu$ M EV224 primers. The total reaction volume was 50  $\mu$ l, consisting of 10  $\mu$ l of cDNA template and 25  $\mu$ l mastermix. The PCR was performed using the BIOER thermal cycler (BIOER Technology Co., Hangzhou, China) with the following cycling conditions: Activation at 95°C for 3 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 s, 42°C for 30 s and 72°C for 45 s and final extension at 72°C for 10 min.



## Second round PCR

The first round PCR product was used as a template for the nPCR that amplified a 375 bp region of the EV VP1 genome using 1 X EmeraldAmp® MAX HS PCR mastermix (Takara Bio Inc.), 800 nM AN88 and 800 nM AN89 primers. The total reaction volume was 50  $\mu$ l, consisting of 1  $\mu$ l first round PCR product and 25  $\mu$ l mastermix. The PCR was performed using the BIOER thermal cycler (BIOER Technology Co.) with the following cycling conditions: Activation at 95°C for 3 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 s, 60°C for 20 s and 72°C for 30 s and final extension at 72°C for 10 min.

## Visualisation

Ten microlitre of the first round (992 bp) and nPCR product (375 bp) was analysed by 1.5% agarose gel (FMC Corp., Rockland, USA) electrophoresis and visualised by staining with 5  $\mu$ l/100 ml gel of ethidium bromide (EtBr) (10 mg/ml) (Promega, Madison, WI) and UV light with the BioRad Gel Dox XR System (Biorad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA).

## 2.7.2 DNA cloning and transformation

#### TB-agar plate preparation

The broth consisted of 10 g NaCl (Merck), 10 g Bacto<sup>™</sup>Tryptone (Becton and Dickinson & Co.), 5 g Bacto<sup>™</sup>Yeast Extract (Becton and Dickinson & Co.) and 15 g of Bacto<sup>™</sup>Agar (Becton and Dickinson & Co.) per litre. The broth mixture was autoclaved, 1 ml of Ampicillin (100 mg/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich Co.) was added to the TB-agar and an estimated 15-20 ml was poured into each plate.

#### Cloning

The RT-nPCR products of the correct size (375 bp) were purified using the Zymo DNA Clean and Concentrate Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA) and eluted in 30  $\mu$ l elution buffer. The NEB®PCR Cloning Kit (New England Biolabs Inc.) was used for cloning the purified PCR products according to the manufacturer's instructions. The ligation reaction consisted of 2.5 ng/ $\mu$ l of linearized pMiniT<sup>TM</sup> Vector added to a 1-4  $\mu$ l insert of purified PCR product, with nuclease-free H<sub>2</sub>O added up to a volume of 5  $\mu$ l if



necessary. Four microlitre Cloning Mix 1 and 1  $\mu$ l Cloning Mix 2 was subsequently added to the reaction mixture to make up a total volume of 10  $\mu$ l. The ligation reaction was incubated at 25°C for 5 to 15 min and transferred to ice for 2 min.

## Transformation

Transformation was performed using Lucigen *E.cloni* 10 G Duos cells (Lucigen Corp., Middleton, WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Four microlitre of ligation reaction was added to 10 to 20  $\mu$ l of the *E*. cloni cells (Lucigen Corp.) and incubated on ice for 30 min. The cells were heat shocked at 42°C for 45 s in a MJ Minicycler (MJ Research Inc.) after which the samples were returned to ice for 2 min. Following the addition of 400  $\mu$ l of super optimal broth with catabolite repression (SOC) medium (Lucigen Corp.), the samples were incubated for one hour at 37°C in a shaking incubator (Labnet International Inc. Edison, NJ) at 220 rpm. One hundred microlitres of the cells were plated onto the TB-agar plates and invertedly incubated overnight at 37°C in an incubator (Labotec, Midrand, SA).

## Colony PCR

Colony PCR (cPCR) was performed for the amplification of the cloned fragments from 10 randomly selected colonies using OneTaq® Quick-Load® 1 X NEB Mastermix with standard buffer and 200 nM each of forward and reverse primer (New England Biolabs Inc.) with a total reaction volume of 20  $\mu$ l. The PCR assay was performed on a BIOER thermal cycler (BIOER Technology Co.) under the following cycling conditions: 30 s at 95°C and 30 cycles of 30 s at 95°C, 30 s at 60°C and 40 s at 68°C, followed by a 5 min delay at 68°C.

#### Visualisation

Five microlitre of the cPCR product was analysed by 1.5% agarose gel (FMC Corp., Rockland, USA) electrophoresis and visualised by staining with 5  $\mu$ l/100 ml gel of EtBr (10 mg/ml) (Promega, Madison, WI). The product was illuminated and further visualised with UV light using the BioRad Gel Dox XR System (Biorad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA).



#### 2.7.3. Nucleotide sequence analysis

Five direct and two cell culture cPCR products of the correct product size were purified using the Zymo DNA Clean and Concentrate Kit (Zymo Research) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Nucleotide sequence PCR was performed using the ABI PRISM BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The total reaction volume was 20  $\mu$ l, consisting of 1 X sequencing buffer, 1  $\mu$ l terminator mix, 160 nM of the forward or reverse primer and 3  $\mu$ l of the PCR product. The PCR assay was performed on a BIOER thermal cycler (BIOER Technology Co.) under the following cycling conditions: 94°C for 3 min and 25 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 50°C for 10 s and 60°C for 4 min.

The precipitation step was done by the addition of 2  $\mu$ l of 125 M ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Sigma-Aldrich Co.), 2  $\mu$ l of 3 M sodium acetate (NaAc) (pH 5.2) (Merck) and 50  $\mu$ l of absolute EtOH (Merck) after which the sequencing mixtures were incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The reaction mixtures were centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C in the Heraeus Fresco17 centrifuge (Thermo Scientific, Langensenbold, Germany). The supernatant was removed and 100  $\mu$ l of 70% EtOH was added. The microcentrifuge tubes were centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and the supernatant was removed.

The pellets were dried at 95°C in a BIOER thermal cycler (BIOER Technology Co.) and subsequently stored in the dark at -20°C until analysed on an ABI Model 3130XL automated genetic analyser (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA).

#### 2.8. PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS

The EV sequences from both forward and reverse strands were analysed through the DNA sequence analysis software, Sequencer 4.10.1 to create continuous nucleotide sequences. The continuous nucleotide sequences were further aligned on the Biological Sequence Alignment Editor, BioEdit version 7.0.9.0 (Hall, 1999) and the sequences had to be confirmed with the ability to be translateable protein sequences before further analysis. The aligned sequence genotypes were identified using the BLAST database when compared to known EV sequences in GenBank. In addition, the EV genotype

Chapter 2 : Materials & Methods |



was confirmed with the Enterovirus Typing Tool V.0.1 (RIVM) (Kroneman *et al.*, 2011). The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the neighbour-joining method with the Kimura-2 parameter model of 1000 bootstrap replications on the Molecular Evolutionary Genetic Analysis program (MEGA V.6) (Tamura *et al.*, 2013). Selected sequences are in the process to be deposited on Genbank.

## 2.9. QUALITY CONTROL

In order to reduce the risk of cross-contamination between samples, and samples and DNA amplicons, the sample processing, reagent preparation, reaction preparation, amplification and post-amplification procedures were performed in separate laboratories with its own apparatus, pipettes and reagent tubes. Negative and positive controls were included in each EV detection reaction to monitor for false-negative or false-positive reactions. Negative cell culture controls for BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 were included, as well as negative extraction controls and negative rtRT-PCR and RT-nPCR controls with nuclease-free water. Positive controls were included in each rtRT-PCR and RT-nPCR and RT-nPCR reaction, which was either the nucleic acid from a characterised cell-culture adapted or wild-type EV.



# **CHAPTER 3**

## RESULTS

## 3.1. SAMPLES RECEIVED

A total of 156 water samples were collected, namely wastewater (n=54), wastewater discharge (n=66), downstream surface dam water (n=12), upstream surface river water (n=12) and downstream surface river water (n=12). No samples were received from WWTP-1 in December 2015 and from WWTP-4 in May, July, October, and November 2015 and February 2016.

## **3.2. ENTEROVIRUS DETECTION**

## 3.2.1. Virus isolation

The recovered viral suspensions of the 156 water samples were inoculated onto the three different cell lines, with a total of 468 infected cell cultures. Following H & E staining, cytopathogenic EVs were isolated in 26.3% (41/156) of the infected cell cultures when combining the CPE results from all three cell lines for each sample. This consisted of 46.3% (19/41) wastewater, 36.6% (15/41) wastewater discharge and 17.1% (7/41) downstream surface river water-infected cell cultures. No CPE was detected in the cell cultures infected with wastewater discharge from WWTP-3 and 4, downstream surface dam water (VD1) and the upstream surface river water samples.

Of the 468 infected cell cultures, EVs were isolated in 12% (60/468) that included 43.3% (26/60), 40% (24/60) and 16.7% (10/60) of PLC/PRF/5, BGM and L20B cell cultures, respectively. The presence of EV-specific inclusion bodies in the infected cell cultures collected between April 2015 and March 2016 is summarised in Table 3.1. The WWTP with the highest number of infected cell cultures positive for cytopathogenic EVs for each of the three different cell lines was WWTP-5, with 14/60 infected cell cultures. This was followed by WWTP-2 (12/60), 1 (9/60), 4 (5/60) and 3 (4/60).



WWTP	Sample Type	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar
1	Wastewater	-	-	-	BP	BP	BP	-	В		-	В	-
1	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	Р	-	-		-	-	-
-	Wastewater	BLP	-	-	-	-	-	BP	BLP	В	-	-	-
2	Discharge	В	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Р	-	-
	Wastewater	-	-	-	-	-	BP	Р	-	Р	-	-	-
3	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Wastewater	-		-		-	-			LP	В		BP
4	Discharge	-		-		-	-			-	-		-
5	Wastewater	BP	-	Р	-	-	-	-	В	BP	-	-	-
5	Discharge	-	-	L	L	В	Р	-	В	-	В	LP	-
1 TO 5	Downstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Upstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
6	Discharge	-	-	Р	Р	-	-	-	-	BLP	-	LP	В
	Downstream	-	-	Р	-	BL	-	BP	L	Р	-	Р	В

Table 3.1. Cytopathogenic enteroviruses identified in different cell lines infected with environmental water samples.

B = BGM cell line; L = L20B cell line; P = PLC/PRF/5 cell line; Downstream = surface water receiving effluent discharge; Upstream = surface water upstream of discharge point. WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant. Areas marked in grey indicate samples not received.

The month with the highest prevalence of EV-specific inclusion bodies determined in the three separate infected cell cultures of each sample was December 2015 with ten infected cell cultures. This was followed by November 2015 (n=7), September 2015 (n=6) and April 2015 (n=6) with no cytopathogenic EVs isolated in May 2015.

Based on the prevalence of EVs represented by the combined result of the three cell lines for each sample, the cell cultures infected with wastewater discharge samples from WWTP-5 still had the highest cytopathogenic EV prevalence. The wastewater discharge-infected cell cultures from WWTP-5 were positive for EVs in 7/12 months. Cytopathogenic EVs were also isolated in 7/12 months from cell cultures infected with downstream surface river water samples. In decreasing order, the wastewater discharge-infected cell cultures from WWTP-6 was second highest in EV prevalence (5/12), followed by WWTP-2 (2/12), and WWTP-1 (1/11). No EVs were isolated from the wastewater discharge samples of WWTP-3 and WWTP-4.



## 3.2.2. Enterovirus RT-PCR detection

## Direct rtRT-PCR

Enteroviruses were detected in 11.5% (18/156) of the recovered viral suspensions with EV one-step rtRT-PCR, of which 88.8% (16/18) and 11.1% (2/18) were from wastewater and wastewater discharge, respectively. No EVs were detected in the surface water samples. The EV-positive recovered viral suspensions peaked in September and October 2015 and again in February and March 2016 (Table 3.2.)

Table 3.2. Recovered viral suspensions of the water samples positive for enterovirus with rtRT-PCR.

WWTP	Sample Type	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar
1	Wastewater	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-		-	+	+
1	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-
2	Wastewater	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+
2	Discharge	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2	Wastewater	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
3	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
4	Wastewater	+		-		+	+			-	+		+
4	Discharge	-		-		-	-			-	-		-
-	Wastewater	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
5	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
1 TO 5	Downstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Upstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
6	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Downstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

\*WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant. Areas marked in grey indicate samples not received.

Enteroviruses were detected in the recovered viral suspensions of wastewater samples from WWTP-1 (4/11), 2 (4/12), 4 (5/7) and 5 (3/12), and in the wastewater discharge samples from WWTP-2 (1/12) and 5 (1/12). No EVs were detected in WWTP-3 and 6, as well as the downstream surface dam water and upstream surface river water samples.



## Integrated cell culture rtRT-PCR

Enteroviruses were detected in 52.6% (82/156) of the harvested cell culture extracts when representing the combined cell culture results for each sample. This included 85.2% (46/54), 40.9% (27/66) and 25.0% (9/36) of the cell cultures infected with wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water samples, respectively. No EVs were detected in the wastewater discharge samples from WWTP-3, the downstream surface dam water samples and the upstream surface river water samples (Table 3.3.).

Table 3.3. Harvested cell culture extracts positive for enteroviruses with integrated cell culturertRT-PCR in the respective cell lines.

WWTP	Sample Type	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar
1	Wastewater	BP	Р	-	BLP	BP	BP	Р	BLP		BP	BP	BP
I	Discharge	-	-	Р	Р	Р	Р	-	-		-	Р	-
	Wastewater	BLP	Р	Р	BP	Р	Р	BP	BLP	BP	BP	BP	BP
2	Discharge	В	Р	-	Р	-	-	-	-	-	Р	-	-
2	Wastewater	BLP	-	-	-	-	BP	BP	Р	BP	-	Р	BLP
3	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Wastewater	BP		Р		BP	BLP			BLP	BP		BLP
4	Discharge	Р		-		-	Р			-	-		
5	Wastewater	BLP	-	Р	Р	L	Р	-	BP	BP	BLP	BP	BP
5	Discharge	-	-	-	L	Р	-	В	BP	-	BP	BLP	-
1 TO 5	Downstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Upstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
6	Discharge	-	Р	Р	Р	Р	BP	-	Р	BLP	Р	BLP	BP
	Downstream	-	-	Р	-	BLP	BP	BP	BP	Р	BP	Р	BP

B = BGM cell line; L = L20B cell line; P = PLC/PRF/5 cell line; Downstream = surface water receiving effluent discharge; Upstream = surface water upstream of discharge point; WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant. Areas marked in grey indicate samples not received.

When determining the prevalence of EVs in the individual cell lines, 30.5% (143/468) were positive for EVs of which 62.9% (90/143), 25.9% (37/143) and 11.2% (16/143) were harvested cell culture extracts from wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water samples, respectively. Enteroviruses were detected in



54.4% (78/143), 33.6% (48/143) and 11.9% (17/143) of the PLC/PRF/5, BGM and L20B harvested cell cultures.

The harvested cell culture extracts of samples from WWTP-6 had the highest EV detection frequency (32/143), followed by WWTP-5 (28/143), WWTP-2 (26/143), WWTP-1 (25/143), WWTP-4 (18/143) and WWTP-3 (14/143). All the wastewater-infected cell cultures from WWTP-2 and 4 were positive for EV with ICC-rtRT-PCR, while their wastewater discharge-infected cell cultures were only positive in 4/12 and 2/7 months, respectively. The cell culture extracts of wastewater samples from WWTP-1 were the third most prevalent with 10/11 months positive for EVs, followed by WWTP-5 with 7/12 months positive for EVs.

When comparing the isolation of cytopathogenic EVs with ICC-rtRT-PCR, cytopathogenic EVs were isolated from 40.2% (33/82) of the cell culture extracts that were positive for EVs with ICC-rtRT-PCR. This included 48.5% (16/33) of harvested cell cultures from wastewater samples, 33.3% (11/33) from wastewater discharge samples and 18.2% (6/33) from downstream surface river water samples.

#### Conventional RT-nPCR

Only the harvested cell culture extracts that were positive for EV with ICC-rtRT-PCR were selected for EV characterisation with RT-nPCR. The nucleic acid of all the recovered viral suspensions were amplified with EV-specific RT-nPCR, regardless of their EV-specific one-step rtRT-PCR result, and 69.2% (108/156) were positive for EVs. Enteroviruses were detected in 90% (49/54) of the wastewater, 71.2% (47/66) of the wastewater discharge and 33.3% (12/36) of the downstream surface river water samples. No EVs were detected in the upstream surface river water, wastewater discharge WWTP-3 and downstream surface dam water with direct RT-nPCR.

All recovered viral suspensions of the wastewater samples from WWTP-1, 2, 4 and 5 were positive for EV with direct RT-nPCR, except for WWTP-3 with only 7/12 wastewater samples positive for EV. The wastewater discharge samples received from WWTP-5 were positive for EV in the recovered viral suspensions from April 2015 to March 2016, followed by WWTP-2 from May 2015 to March 2016. Enteroviruses were detected in the recovered viral suspensions of 5/7 wastewater discharge samples



received from WWTP-4, and in 7/11 wastewater discharge samples received by WWTP-1 (Table 3.4.)

WWTP	Sample Type	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar
1	Wastewater	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+
	Discharge	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+		+	+	+
2	Wastewater	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Discharge	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
3	Wastewater	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+
	Discharge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
4	Wastewater	+		+		+	+			+	+		+
	Discharge	+		-		+	+			-	+		+
5	Wastewater	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Discharge	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
1 TO 5	Downstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
6	Upstream	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Discharge	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Downstream	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

Table 3.4. Recovered viral suspensions of the water samples positive for enterovirus with RT-nested PCR.

\*WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant. Areas marked in grey indicate samples not received.

Both the recovered viral suspensions from the wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water of WWTP-6 were positive for EV with direct RT-nPCR from April 2015 to March 2016. Overall, the highest number of EV-positive recovered viral suspensions were detected in August 2015 and March 2016 with each 11/14 monthly received samples positive for EV with direct RT-nPCR.

With regards to the EV detection difference between the wastewater and wastewater discharge of WWTP-1 to 5, with direct RT-nPCR it was WWTP-5 that had a 100% detection rate in both the wastewater and wastewater discharge. This was followed by WWTP-2 that only had an 8.3% difference (100% to 91.7%), followed by WWTP-4 with a 28.6% difference (100% to 71.4%) and WWTP-1 with a 36.4% difference (100% to 63.6%). When comparing the ICC-rtRT-PCR detection frequency difference for the wastewater and wastewater effluent samples it shows that WWTP-5 only has a 33.3% difference (83.3% to 50%), followed by WWTP-1 with a 45.4% difference (90.9% to



45.5%), WWTP-2 with a 66.7% difference (100% to 33.3%) and WWTP-4 with a 71.4% difference (100% to 28.6%).

Wastewater treatment plants 1, 2, 4 and 5 had an EV-positivity rate in the wastewater discharge samples of 63.6%, 91.7%, 71.4% and 100% with direct RT-nPCR, respectively. The detection frequency decreased with ICC-rtRT-PCR to 45.5%, 33.3%, 28.6% and 50% of the wastewater discharge samples from WWTP-1, 2, 4 and 5. The viral isolation results showed that 9.1%, 16.7% and 58.3% of the wastewater discharge samples of WWTP-1, 2 and 5 were positive for cytopathogenic EVs, while no cytopathogenic EVs were isolated from WWTP-3 and 4. For WWTP-6, the discharge and downstream surface water samples had a 100% detection frequency with direct RT-nPCR, with an 83.3% and 75% detection rate with ICC-rtRT-PCR, respectively. The frequency of samples positive for cytopathogenic EVs isolated were lower, with a 41.7% and 58.3% detection frequency, respectively

Figure 3.1 displays the monthly prevalence of EVs detected with molecular and viral isolation methods. Figure 3.2 presents the EV detection frequency for each individual WWTP with molecular and viral isolation methods.

#### Sabin-like poliovirus one-step rtRT-PCR

Three Sabin-like PV one-step rtRT-PCR assays were optimised for each individual serotype. No PVs were detected in the recovered viral suspensions, while 26 harvested cell culture extracts tested positive for Sabin-like PVs, of which 46.2% (12/26), 38.5% (10/26) and 15.4% (4/26) were identified as PV-3, 2 and 1, respectively.

The majority of Sabin-like PVs were detected in harvested cell culture extracts from wastewater (73.1%), followed by the wastewater discharge from WWTP-5 (23.1%) and a single detection in the downstream surface river water sample (3.8%). Sabin-like PV-2 and 3 were detected in all the WWTPs, while Sabin-like PV-1 was limited to wastewater and wastewater discharge from WWTP-1 and 5. The majority of Sabin-like PV detections were in the harvested cell culture extracts of WWTP-4 (7/26) and 5 (7/26).



Figure 3.1. Monthly enterovirus detection frequency in the water samples with molecular and viral isolation methods

53

Downstream WWTP-6 Virus isolation Discharge Upstream VD1 Downstream Discharge WWTP-5 ICC-rtRT-PCR Sample Site and Environmental Water Sample Type Vastewater Discharge WWTP-4 **Yastewater** Direct RT-nPCR Discharge WWTP-3 Vastewater Discharge WWTP-2 Wastewater Direct rtRT-PCR Discharge WWTP-1

UNIVERSITEIT VAN PRETORIA UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA YUNIBESITHI YA PRETORIA

Figure 3.2. Enterovirus detection frequency in the water samples from the selected treatment plants and surface water sites with molecular and viral isolation methods

90

80

20

99

Enterovirus Detection (%)

50

40

30

100

10

20

0

Vastewater



## **3.3.** NUCLEOTIDE SEQUENCE ANALYSIS

#### 3.3.1. Genotyping from the recovered viral suspensions

In total, 192 EVs were identified in the 108 samples that were EV positive with direct RT-nPCR, of which 45.8%, (88/192), 40.1% (77/192) and 14.1% (27/192) were detected in wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water, respectively. Of the 192 EVs, 28 different EV strains were identified, which included eight EV-A species, 14 EV-B species and seven EV-C species. The total number of EVs that were identified within each species was 21.4% (41/192) within EV-A, 24.5% (47/192) within EV-B and 54.2% (104/192) within EV-C species. The 10 most common EV types identified were EV-C99 (21.9%), CV-A22 (10.4%), CV-A20 (8.3%), CV-A13 (7.3%), E-6 (7.3%), CV-A16 (6.8%), CV-A2 (6.3%), EV-C116 (5.2%), EV-A119 (4.7%) and E-14 (3.2%) with CV-A9 (3.2%).

Within each species, CV-A16 (13/41) was the most predominant EV type in the EV-A species, E-6 (14/47) in the EV-B species and EV-C99 (42/104) in the EV-C species. Enterovirus C99 was found to be the most common EV type identified in 27.3% (24/88) of the wastewater and 20.8% (16/77) of the wastewater discharge, while it was E-6 that predominated in 18.5% (5/27) of the downstream surface river water (Figure 3.3 to 3.5).



Figure 3.3. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater with direct RT-PCR analysis.





Figure 3.4. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater discharge with direct RT-PCR analysis..



Figure 3.5. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the downstream surface river water samples with direct RT-PCR analysis.

Ten out of the 28 different EV genotypes were identified in all three water sources, namely wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water. These EVs were EV-C99, CV-A20, CV-A13, E-6, CV-A16, CV-A2, EV-C116, EV-A119, CV-A9 and CV-B3 (Figure 3.6).
Chapter 3 : Results |





Figure 3.6. Genotypic prevalence of the different enterovirus genotypes identified in the three water types with direct RT-PCR analysis.



The month with the highest percentage of EV genotypes identified was in July 2015 with 12.1% (23/190), followed by January 2016 with 11.6% (22/190). The most diverse EV types were found in January 2016 (13/28), followed by April and July 2015 (12/28).

The widest diversity of EV types were identified in the wastewater samples, namely in WWTP 5 (n=14), followed by WWTP-2 (n=12), WWTP-1 (n=9), WWTP-4 (n=7) and WWTP-3 (n=6). This closely corresponded with the diversity of EV types in the wastewater discharge samples in WWTP-5 (n=10), WWTP-2 (n=9), WWTP-1 (n=6), WWTP-4 (n=5) and WWTP-3 (n=0). Wastewater treatment plant 3 was the only plant where EVs were not detected in the wastewater discharge. Enterovirus-C species were the most prevalent in the wastewater and wastewater discharge in WWTP-1 to 6, namely EV-C99, CV-A22 and EV-C116. Coxsackievirus A2 was the most prevalent in WWTP-5 and EV-A119 in WWTP-6. Echovirus 6 and CV-B5 were most prevalent in WWTP-6 and WWTP-1, respectively. Enterovirus types identified in the wastewater, wastewater discharge and surface water of WWTP 1-6 with direct RT-PCR analysis are summarised in Table 3.5.

Enterovirus C99 was detected in both the wastewater and wastewater discharge of WWTP-1, 2, 4 and 5, as well as the wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water of WWTP-6. Enteroviruses that were detected before and after wastewater treatment in more than one WWTP or in both the discharge and downstream surface water of WWTP-6 was CV-A22 (WWTP-1, 2, 5), CV-A20 (WWTP-1, 2, 6), CV-A2 (WWTP-2, 5), CV-A16 (WWTP-2, 5, 6), EV-A119 (WWTP-5, 6) and E-6 (WWTP-5, 6). The treatment plant with the majority of EV types that were detected before and after wastewater treatment was WWTP-5, namely EV-A119, CV-A2, CV-A16, E-6, E-14, CV-A9, EV-C99 and CV-A22.

This was followed by WWTP-2 with five EV types detected in the wastewater and wastewater discharge, such as CV-A2, CV-A16, EV-C99, CV-A20 and CV-A22. Three EV types were detected before and after treatment in WWTP-1, namely EV-C99, CV-A20 and CV-A22, while EV-C99 was the only EV type in WWTP-4 to be detected before and after treatment.



WWTP	Sample Type	EV-A	EV-B	EV-C						
	Wastewater	CV-A2, -A6	CV-B3; E-30	<b>EV-C99</b> ;						
				CV-A13, -A20, -A22						
1										
	Discharge	CV-A16	CV-B5	EV-C99, -C116;						
				CV-A20, <b>-A22</b>						
	Wastewater	CV-A2, -A16;	CV-B2, -B3;CV-A9;	EV-C99;						
_			E-6, -9, -13	CV-A13, -A20, -A22						
2										
	Discharge	CV-A2, -A16; EV-A119	E-25, -30;	<b>EV-C99</b> ;						
			F ( 0 14	CV-A20, -A22						
	Wastewater	CV-AI6	E-6, -9, -14	EV-C99; CV-A22						
3	D'		NT							
	Discharge		None							
	Wastewater	CV-A2, -A5, -A16	CV-B3; E-14	<b>EV-C99</b> ; CV-A13						
4										
	Discharge	EV-A119, -A120	E-6;	EV-C99, -C116						
	Wastewater	EV-A119, -A120;	E-6, -14; CV-A9	<b>EV-C99</b> , -C116;						
		<b>CV-A2</b> , -A8, -A10, -A16		PV-3; CV-A20, <b>-A22</b>						
5										
5										
	Discharge	CV-A2, -A16; EV-A119	E-2, -6, -14; CV-A9	EV-C99;						
				CV-A13, -A22						
1-5	Downstream	None								
	Upstream	pstream None								
	-									
	Discharge	CV-A16; EV-A119	CV-B3; EV-B107;	EV-C99, <b>-C116</b> ;						
6			<b>E-6</b> , -11, -15, -30, -31	CV-A13, -A20, A22;						
	<b>Downstream</b> CV-A16; EV-A119		CV-B3, -B5; CV-A9;	EV-C99, -C116;						
			E-6	CV-A1, -A13, -A20;						

Table 3.5. Enteroviruses within species A to C identified in the selected wastewater treatment plants with direct RT-PCR analysis.

\*WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant; E = Echovirus; CV = Coxsackievirus. Samples labelled in red are the most prevalent EV types identified.

It was mainly EV-C99 that was the most predominant EV type identified in the wastewater from WWTP-1 to 5, along with CV-A22 in WWTP-3 and 5, and CV-A2 in WWTP-5. Coxsackievirus-A22 and CV-B5 were most prevalent in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-1, EV-C99 in WWTP-2 and EV-C99 along with CV-A22 in WWTP-5. One EV type from each EV-A to C species, namely EV-A119, E-6 and EV-C116, were the most prevalent in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-6, while it was only E-6 that predominated in the downstream surface river water. No predominant EV genotype was identified in the discharge of WWTP-4 as there were only single detections of six EV genotypes.



### 3.3.2. Genotyping of isolates from harvested cell culture extracts

In total, 137 EVs were identified in the 86 samples that were EV positive after ICC-real-time RT-PCR (ICC-rtRT-PCR) analysis, of which 60% (81/137), 27.4% (37/137) and 12.6% (17/137) were detected in wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water, respectively. Of the 137 EVs, 21 different EVs were identified, which included two EV-A species, 13 EV-B species and six EV-C species. The total number of EVs that were identified within each species was 2.2% (3/137) in EV-A, 76.6% (105/137) in EV-B and 21.2% (29/137) in EV-C species. The 10 most common EV types identified were CV-B3 (16.8%), E-6 (15.3%), CV-B4 (13.9%), CV-B5 (8.0%), CV-A13 (8.0%), E-13 (7.0%), Sabin-like PV-3 (7.0%), E-1 (4.3%), E-11 (3.6%) and Sabin-like PV-2 (3.6%).

Within each species, CV-A16 (2/3) was the most common EV type in the EV-A species, CV-B3 (23/105) in the EV-B species and CV-A13 (11/29) in the EV-C species. Coxsackievirus B3 predominated in the wastewater with 19.8% (16/81), E-6 in the wastewater discharge with 18.9% (7/37) as well as in the downstream surface river water with 35.3% alongside CV-B4 (Figure 3.7 to 3.9).



Figure 3.7. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater after viral amplification in cell culture.





Figure 3.8. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the wastewater discharge after viral amplification in cell culture.



Figure 3.9. Number of enterovirus genotype detections in the downstream surface river water after viral amplification in cell culture.

Six out of the 21 EV genotypes were identified in three different water sources, namely wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water. These genotypes included CV-B3, CV-B4, CV-B5, E-1, E-6 and Sabin PV-3 (Figure 3.10).





Figure 3.10. Number of enterovirus detections in the three water sample types summarised after viral amplification in cell culture.

The months with the highest percentage of EV genotypes identified were April and September 2015 with each 12.4% (17/137), followed by December 2015 with 10.2% of all EVs (14/137). The EV detection frequency peaked in April, September and December 2015 and February 2016. The widest diversity of EV genotypes were identified in September 2015 (11/21), with the least diversity of EV genotypes identified in May 2015 (3/21). The widest diversity of EV types were identified in the wastewater samples, namely in WWTP 1 (n=12), followed by WWTP-2, WWTP-3 and WWTP-5 (n=10) and WWTP-4 (n=9). The EV diversity in the wastewater discharge was the highest in WWTP-5 (n=9), followed by WWTP-6 (n=8), WWTP-1 (n=4), WWTP-2 (n=4), WWTP-4 (n=1) and WWTP-3 (n=0). Seven different EV types were identified in the downstream surface river water. Wastewater treatment plant 3 was the only plant where EVs were not detected in the wastewater discharge.

Enterovirus B species were most prevalent in the wastewater, wastewater discharge and surface water of WWTP-1 to 6. In the wastewater of WWTP-1 to 3 it was CV-B3 that predominated, while an EV-C species, CV-A13, predominated in WWTP-4 and E-6 in



WWTP-5. Coxsackievirus A13 predominated in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-1, while it was E-6 that predominated in WWTP-5 and 6 (Table 3.6).

WWTP	Sample Type	EV-A	EV-B	EV-C				
	Wastewater		CV-B2, <b>-B3</b> , -B4, -B5; E-11, -13, -14	CV-A13; EV-C99; PV-1, -2				
1	Discharge		CV-B3, -B5; E-25	CV-A13				
	Wastewater		CV-B2, <b>-B3</b> , -B4, -B5; E-6, -11, -13	EV-C99; PV-2, -3				
2	Discharge		CV-B3, -B5; E-13	CV-A13				
	Wastewater		<b>CV-B3</b> , -B4; E-1, -6, -7, -11, -14, -31	PV-2; EV-C116				
3	Discharge		None					
	Wastewater	CV-A16;	CV-B3-B5; E-11, -31	<b>CV-A13</b> ; PV-2, -3				
4	Discharge			CV-A13				
	Wastewater	CV-A16; EV-A120	CV-B3-B5; E-1, <b>-6</b> , -9, E-14	PV-3				
5	Discharge		CV-B3-B5; E-1, <b>-6</b>	CV-A13; PV-1-3				
1-5	Downstream		None					
	Upstream		None					
6	Discharge		CV-B3-B5; E-1, <b>-6</b> , -13	CV-A20; PV-3				
	Downstream		CV-B2, -B3, <b>-B4</b> , -B5; E-1, <b>-6</b>	PV-3				

Table 3.6. Enteroviruses within species A to C identified in the selected wastewater treatment plants after viral isolation in cell culture.

\*WWTP = Wastewater treatment plant; E = Echovirus; CV = Coxsackievirus. Samples labelled in red are the most prevalent EV types identified.

No predominant EV types were identified in the discharge of WWTP-2 and 4, since only single detections of each type was identified. The EV types that were detected both before and after treatment in more than one WWTP or in both the discharge and downstream surface water of WWTP-6 were CV-B3 and CV-B5 (WWTP-1, 2, 5, 6), CV-B4 (WWTP-5, 6), CV-A13 (WWTP-1, 4), E-1, E-6 and PV-3 (WWTP-5, 6). The majority of EV types detected both before and after treatment was in WWTP-5 with six EV types, CV-B3-B5, E-1, E-6 and Sabin-like PV-3. The exact same EV types were identified in the wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water of WWTP-6.



The EV-B genotypes, CV-B4 and CV-B3, were the most common EV genotypes that were identified in 10 and eight out of the 12 months, followed by the EV-C genotype, CV-A13 detected in seven out of the 12 months. Sixteen different EV genotypes were identified in the PLC/PRF/5 cell line, compared to 13 and four EV genotypes in the BGM and L20B cell line, respectively (Figure 3.11). As expected, the Sabin-like PV genotypes were propagated in the L20B cell line, besides an EV-A species, EV-A120. No EV-A species were able to be propagated and identified in the BGM cell line, while it was able to propagate 10 EV-B genotypes and three EV-C genotypes (PV-1, -2 and -3). The CV-Bs were more frequently identified in the PLC/PRF/5 cell line with 38 detections, compared to 32 detections in the BGM cell line Echoviruses were also mainly identified in the PLC/PRF/5 cell line. Furthermore, CV-A and EV-C99 were only identified in the PLC/PRF/5 cell line.

Enteroviruses were characterised in 71.2% (111/156) of the water samples when combining the nucleotide sequence analysis data from the direct RT-PCR and ICC-RT-PCR, with a total of 329 EVs. This included 13.4% (44/329), 39.5% (130/329), 46.2% (152/329) of EVs within the EV-A, EV-B and EV-C species, respectively.



Figure 3.11. Genotypic prevalence of enteroviruses in BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 harvested cell culture extracts.



### **3.4. PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS**

### 3.4.1. Genotypes selected from recovered viral suspensions

The eleven most common EV genotypes, identified in the recovered viral suspensions with direct analysis, were selected for the construction of the Neighbor-Joining phylogenetic tree (Figure 3.12). The EV strains were segregated into three major clusters, EV-A, EV-B and EV-C. Within the EV-A major cluster, three subclusters of CV-A16, EV-A119 and CV-A2 were formed, while in the EV-B major cluster, subclusters of E-6, CV-A9 and CV-B3 were formed. Subclusters of EV-C116, CV-A22, EV-C99 and CV-A, including CV-A13 and CV-A20, were formed in the EV-C major cluster. The strains are labelled according to the WWTP (1-6), sample type [wastewater (R), discharge (E) or downstream river (RD)], year and month of sampling (201510) and the clone number (a,b,c) if multiple clones from one sample are used.

Coxsackievirus A2, E-6, CV-A9, EV-C116 and EV-C99 all had multiple subclusters. For CV-A2, the 5E201506 strain clustered separately from the three other CV-A2 strains, indicating an average of 89.6% nt and 95% aa identity, while both clusters showed similar nt and aa identity towards the CV-A2 reference strains with an average of 92% nt and 97% aa identity. When looking at the EV strains that were identified in the wastewater and wastewater discharge from the same WWTP, it can be seen that two CV-A16 strains identified from WWTP-2 in May 2015 were nearly identical, sharing a nt and aa identity of 99.7% and 99%, respectively. This was also seen with E-6: 5E201602b and 5R201602; CV-B3: 6E201512 and RD201512b; EV-C116: RD201506b and 6E201601b and CV-A20: 2E201603 and 2R201602.

The strains marked in corresponding colours are from the same sample type as well as WWTP but at a different time within the 12-month period. The maroon labelled strains 6E201510 and 6E201601a in the EV-A subgroup are CV-A16 strains identified in discharge samples from WWTP-6 in October 2015 and January 2016 and are shown to be on opposite sides of the cluster. The strains shared a 94.8% nt and 98% aa identity, while 6E201510 shared a higher 98.7% nt and 99% aa identity to the 2R201505 strain from WWTP-2. Similar events were seen with two E-6 strains: RD201504b and RD201603b; two EV-C116 strains: RD201506b and RD201601a and three sets of EV-



C99 strains: 4R, 2E and RD strains. The EV-C99 strains were shown to be the most diverse as the strains had significant where they shared an average nt identity of 82%.



Figure 3.12. Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of the enterovirus strains identified in the recovered viral suspensions, including globally recognised reference strains. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Kimura-2-parameter method conducted in MEGA6. The sample ID is the WWTP number and sample type: wastewater (R), discharge (E) or downstream (RD), followed by the year and month of sampling and either an a, b or c if multiple clones from one sample were used. Reference strains are shown in bold and similar EV strains identified from a specific sample over the 12-month period were marked in corresponding colours.

Chapter 3 : Results |



## 3.4.2. Genotype isolates selected from harvested cell culture extracts

Eight EV genotypes that were identified in the viral isolates were selected for the construction of the Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree (Figure 3.13). The EVs were segregated into two major clusters, EV-B and EV-C. Four subclusters were formed within major cluster EV-B: CV-B4, CV-B5, E-1 and E-6. Within EV-C, four subclusters were formed which included CV-A13, Sabin PV-1, PV-2 and PV-3. The strains are labelled with a B (BGM), L (L20B) or P (PLC) depending on the cell line from which they were isolated.

Single subclusters of the specific EV genotypes were formed, which can be seen with CV-B5, E-1, CV-A13, Sabin PV-1, PV-2 and PV-3. Coxsackievirus B4 and E-6 had two subclusters of their EV strains, where the strains were closely identical in terms of their nt and aa identity to the reference strains, but not to each other. The CV-B4 strain, B.RD201603, was in a separate cluster sharing an average nt and aa identity of 89.4% and 89.6% towards the strains in the first subcluster.

Two strains of CV-B5 were identified in the same month from two different sample sites, while showing closer genetic relatedness to each other than to the CV-B5 reference strains, with a 7% nt and 1% aa difference. The three CV-A13 strains that were identified in the wastewater from WWTP-4 in July and September 2015 and January 2016 showed more close genetic relatedness to each other than to the other identified strains from different sites. The Sabin-like PV-1 strains marked in turquoise were identified from wastewater in WWTP-1 in July and November 2015 and shared a 98.1% and 96% nt and aa identity. They clustered together with a closer evolutionary distance from each other compared to their distance from the L.5E201602 strain that was isolated from wastewater discharge from WWTP-5. The Sabin PV strains within the Sabin PV-3 cluster are all genetically grouped together sharing a nt and aa identity ranging between 96-98% and 95-98%, respectively, with the strains furthest from each other showing the lowest identity.





Figure 3.13. Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of the enterovirus strains identified in the harvested cell culture extracts, including globally recognised reference strains. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Kimura-2-parameter method conducted in MEGA6. The sample ID is the cell line (BGM, L20B or PLC), WWTP number and sample type: wastewater (R), discharge (E) or downstream (RD), followed by the year and month of sampling and either an a, b or c if multiple clones from one sample were used. Reference strains are shown in bold and similar EV strains identified from a specific sample over the 12-month period were marked in corresponding colours.



### 3.4.3. Genotypes selected from isolates and recovered viral suspensions

Eleven EV genotypes were selected for the construction of the Neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree which involved comparing the evolutionary distances between direct and isolated EV strains of similar EV genotypes (Figure 3.14). Enterovirus strains were segregated into three major clusters, EV-A, EV-B and EV-C. Within the EV-A major cluster, subclusters of CV-A16 and EV-A120 were formed. Subclusters of CV-B2, E-6, E-25, CV-B3, CV-B5 and E-31 were formed within the EV-B major cluster, while the EV-C major cluster included subclusters of Sabin PV-3, CV-A13 and EV-C99.

When comparing the similar EV genotypes identified from the same sample of a particular month before and after viral amplification in cell culture, the tree displays the formation of separate clusters within their genotype subclusters, as can be seen with EV-A120 (marked in maroon), CV-B3 (marked in red), CV-B5 (marked in grey), CV-A13 (marked in yellow) and EV-C99 (marked in purple). From the EV-A120 cluster, it can be seen that L.5R201504 and 5R201504 are more closely related to each other than to 5R201506 where the strains from April 2015 have an 8% nt difference from the June 2015 strain of EV-A120. When comparing the wastewater and wastewater discharge strains, E-6 strains from WWTP-5 shared a bootstrap value of 95.

Two separate clusters of E-6 were formed, where one cluster only consists of E-6 strains identified from recovered viral suspensions with direct analysis. The second cluster consists of a combination of direct and isolated E-6 strains with the majority being isolated from harvested cell culture extracts. Echovirus 6 strains, 5E201602b and P.5E201602, have been identified in the exact same sample before and after viral amplification in separate clusters sharing an nt identity of 86.4%. Within the two separate clusters, the various strains all shared an nt identity ranging between 94-99% with each other. The EV-C99 strain, 2R201508, is not as closely clustered with the other EV-C99 strains sharing an 82.7% nt identity to the same EV-C99 strain, P.2R201508, after viral amplification in cell culture. The P.2R201508 strain was shown to be more closely related to the other two EV-C99 strains, 5R201505 and L.5R201508 which are strains identified three months apart, where it showed closer genetic relatedness to the reference strains than to each other.





Figure 3.14. Neighbour-Joining phylogenetic tree with a 1000 bootstrap replicates of isolated enterovirus strains and from recovered viral suspensions, including globally recognised reference strains. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Kimura-2-parameter method conducted in MEGA6. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Kimura-2-parameter method conducted in MEGA6. The sample ID is the WWTP number and sample type: wastewater (R), discharge (E) or downstream (RD), followed by the year and month of sampling and either an a, b or c if multiple clones from one sample were used. Reference strains are shown in bold and similar EV strains identified from a specific sample over the 12-month period were marked in corresponding colours.



### 3.5. INDICATOR ORGANISMS

The total cfu/100 ml for *E.coli* was determined in 120 samples that included samples from WWTP-1 to 5 and VD1. The average *E.coli* count for the wastewater samples were  $3.86 \times 10^6$  cfu/100 ml,  $3.16 \times 10^5$  cfu/100 ml for the discharge samples and 71 cfu/100 ml for VD1. The discharge samples from WWTP-3 had the lowest *E.coli* count enumerated at 25.8 cfu/100 ml, followed by WWTP-1 (255 cfu/100 ml), WWTP-4 (817 cfu/100 ml), WWTP-5 (1.06 x  $10^5$  cfu/100 ml) and WWTP-2 (1.19 x  $10^6$  cfu/100 ml) (Table 3.6)

Table 3.7. A summary of the *E.coli* counts (cfu/100 ml) as well as the enterovirus detection results in both direct and ICC-RT-PCR for the 120 samples.

	DETECTION	WWTP-1		WWTP-2		WWTP-3		WWTP-4		WWTP-5		VD1
MONTH		Wastewater	Effluent	Wastewater	Effluent	Wastewater	Effluent	Wastewater	Effluent	Wastewater	Effluent	Downstream
	E E - 6- (100 1	(IL)	(10L)	(1L)	(10L)	(IL)	(10L)	(IL)	(10L)	(1L)	(10L)	(10 L)
APR-15	E.cou eru/100 mi	0.30 A 10		9.50 X 10	1.21 X 10	1.13 X 10		7.00 X 10	4 800	6.30E X 10	T 100	
	EV DIrect KI-PCK	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EVICC-RI-PCR	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	Ev (+)	Ev (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
MAY-15	E.con eru/100 mi	2.0 X 10	0	7.00 X 10	1.00 X 10	7.00 X 10	0	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVED	5.00 X 10	5.10 X 10	0	
	LV Direct KI-PCK	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVED		EV (+)	Ev (+)	(-)
	EVICC-RI-PCK	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)		0	(-)	(-)	(-)
JUN-15 JUL-15	E.coli cfu/100 ml	1.70 X 10-	0	2.00 X 10-	9.30 X 10	0	0	0	0	1.60 X 10 <sup>-</sup>	8.90 X 10-	0
	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)
	E.coli efu/100 ml	1.30 X 10°	500	8.00 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	300	1.15 X 10°	0	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVED		8.50 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	0	800
	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	E.coli cfu/100 ml	1.85 X 10°	0	1.00 X 10°	0	7.00 X 10 <sup>3</sup>	10	1.30 X 10°	0	1.00 X 10°	0	0
AUG-15	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
SEP-15	E.coli cfu/100 ml	1.60 X 10°	400	2.80 X 10°	1000	1.30 X 10°	0	2.30 X 10°	0	1.30 X 10°	700	0
	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	E.coli cfu/100 ml	1.20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	100	9.50X10 <sup>3</sup>	400	1.05 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVED		1.40 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	400	0
OCT-15	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	E.coli cfu/100 ml	5.40 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	900	9.80 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	3.10 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0			3.15 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.50 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	0
NOV-15	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVEI		EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
DEC-15	E.coli cfu/100 ml	SAMPLES NOT RECEIVED		0	300	1.15 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0	1.30 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	500	8.50 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	0	0
	EV Direct RT-PCR			EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR			EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)
JAN-16	E.coli cfu/100 ml	4.6 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	100	3.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1 200	1.54 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	300	9.20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	300	3.08 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	3 500	20
	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	E.coli cfu/100 ml	5.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	700	2.00 X 10 <sup>7</sup>	1.20 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	3.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0			1.50 X 107	$2.00 \ge 10^{5}$	40
FEB-16	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	SAMPLES NOT OBTAINED		EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)			EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
MAR-16	E.coli cfu/100 ml	4.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	100	7.00 X 10 <sup>s</sup>	3 500	2.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	0	2.30 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	120	4.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	120	0
	EV Direct RT-PCR	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	EV (+)	(-)
	EV ICC-RT-PCR	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	EV (+)	(-)	(-)
TOTAL AVERAGE cfu/100 ml		4.67 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	255	5.80 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.19 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.68 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	25.8	3.34 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	817	3.46 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.06 X 10 <sup>5</sup>	71.7

\*Red-labelled samples are EV positive and have an E.coli count below 1000 cfu/100 ml.

It was determined that 74.1% (40/54) of the wastewater effluent samples had an *E.coli* count below 1000 cfu/100 ml, of which 67.5% (27/40) were positive for EVs with direct and ICC-RT-PCR combined. Nevertheless, potentially infectious EVs were detected in only 25% (10/40) of the wastewater effluent samples that had an *E.coli* count below 1000 cfu/100 ml.



# **CHAPTER 4**

## DISCUSSION

Enteroviruses were detected in wastewater, wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water before and after viral amplification in cell culture with both molecular and viral isolation methods. This indicates the wide prevalence of EVs in various water sources and its persistence to wastewater treatment, posing a public health concern when discharged into natural water sources utilized for domestic, agricultural or recreational purposes. Enteroviruses were most prevalent between August and September 2015 and February and March 2016. The highest prevalence of EVs belonged to the EV-C species and the widest diversity of EVs belonged to the EV-B species, with EV-A species being rarely detected with both direct and ICC-RT-nPCR characterisation. According to phylogenetic analysis, the EV-C99 strains showed the most divergence and were also the most prevalent EV in all water types. The majority of strains showed significant divergence from globally recognised reference strains, indicating South African specific EV strains.

When evaluating the different EV detection outcomes between the four detection methods, it was found that direct RT-nPCR (69.2%) provided the highest EV detection frequency, followed by ICC-rtRT-PCR (52.6%), virus isolation (26.3%) and lastly direct rtRT-PCR (11.5%). This correlates with global ES studies that show the direct detection of EV genomes is significantly higher than infectious EV isolation (Gantzer *et al.*, 1999). The conventional RT-nPCR assay currently used has previously been shown to have a higher sensitivity for the detection of EVs directly from water samples than rtRT-PCR (personal communication: Dr WB van Zyl, 2016). Even though the risk of contamination is higher with RT-nPCR, the two different primer sets used potentially increases the chance of amplifying the target sequence. Since direct RT-nPCR detects EVs regardless of whether it is infectious or inactivated it further contributed to the high detection frequency of EVs in the water samples. Not all EV types, especially EV-A species and CV-As of the EV-C species, grow well in cell culture or are cytopathogenic, and different EVs need numerous cell passages to propagate (Khetsuriani *et al.*, 2010;

Chapter 4 : Discussion |



Pelligrinelli et al., 2013). It is therefore not surprising that viral isolation and ICC-rtRT-PCR exhibited a lower detection frequency, compared to direct RT-nPCR. Nevertheless, since non-cytopathogenic EVs can be detected with ICC-rtRT-PCR it explains the greater EV prevalence in the harvested cell culture extracts compared to only virus isolation of cytopathogenic EVs (Hot et al., 2003). Fulmic and humic acids, metal ions and polyphenol are not properly removed during viral recovery and can inhibit PCR reactions even when present at low concentrations (Schrader et al., 2012), which may explain the low detection frequency with direct rtRT-PCR. The Sabin PVs were isolated from both the L20B and BGM cell cultures, but the L20B proved more suitable. This cell line is PV-specific and is therefore part of the WHO guidelines for ES of PV (Faleye et al., 2016). Since Sabin-like PVs were detected in the harvested cell culture extracts and not in the recovered viral suspensions with the three PV one-step rtRT-PCR assays it indicates its increased sensitivity after viral amplification in cell culture. Inhibition of PCR assays can furthermore be overcome when the sample is diluted by cell culture media and the infectious virus concentration increased (Reynolds et al., 1996), which explains why Sabin-like PVs were detected in the cell culture extracts and not in the recovered viral suspensions of the water samples. Sabin PV-3 was the most predominant PV type detected in the water samples and correlates with previous South African data (Grabow, 1999), with Sabin PV-1 being the least prevalently detected PV type.

Enteroviruses were most prevalent and diverse in the recovered viral suspensions and harvested cell culture extracts of the wastewater samples, as faecally shed EVs from infected individuals are introduced to the wastewater treatment inflow. The wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water samples were the second and third most EV prevalent. No EVs were detected in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-3, the surface water upstream from WWTP-6, and in the surface dam water (VD1) downstream from WWTP-1 to 5. The direct rtRT-PCR detection frequency was too low to be used in the evaluation of removal efficiency of the WWTPs, and is therefore based on direct RT-nPCR, ICC-rtRT-PCR and viral isolation.

Since no EVs were detected in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-3, it is evident that there is either a low circulation of EVs in this region since only 60% of the wastewater



samples were positive for EVs or the treatment system is effective in the removal of EVs, especially pathogenic EVs. The treatment system that is implemented by WWTP-3 is an activated sludge and biological nutrient removal as well as anaerobic digestion. It has a cumulative risk rating of 70.6%, indicating that the treatment plant has reached 70.6% of its capacity and an effluent quality compliance of 80.7%, based on chemical, biological and physical compliance (Department of Water Affairs, 2013).

According to the EV detection methods, it was WWTP-5 that presented as the treatment plant with the poorest removal efficiency of EVs, especially potentially infectious EVs. Wastewater treatment plant 5 had a 100% detection rate in the wastewater and wastewater discharge with direct RT-nPCR, cytopathogenic EVs were isolated in 60% of the wastewater discharge samples and 50% of these discharge samples were positive for EVs with ICC-rtRT-PCR. This indicates a high survival rate of potentially infectious EVs after treatment in WWTP-5, which according to its Green Drop Status has a cumulative risk rating of 94.1% and an effluent quality compliance of 39.6% (Department of Water Affairs, 2013). While WWTP-2 had the second highest EV detection frequency with direct RT-nPCR, it was WWTP-1 that followed after WWTP-5 with the second highest number of potentially infectious EVs in almost 50% of its wastewater discharge samples. This indicates that a high prevalence of EVs were present in WWTP-2 after treatment, but were either already inactivated or were unable to efficiently propagate in cell culture due to viral damage or the EV types present were not suitable for growth on the selected cell lines. The wastewater discharge of WWTP-6 and downstream surface river water showed similar detection results, with a 100% detection rate with direct RT-nPCR and between 75-85% with ICC-rtRT-PCR. This treatment plant applies activated sludge and biological nutrient removal and has a cumulative risk rating of 81.8% and an effluent quality compliance of 37.6% (Department of Water Affairs, 2013). By detecting a high prevalence of EVs in WWTP-6 and the downstream surface river water into which it is discharged, indicates viral pollution of natural water sources and the EV resistibility to treatment and its survival in downstream surface water.

As EVs, especially potentially infectious EVs were detected in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 it indicates the either inefficient removal of EVs from



wastewater and/or the high EV resistibility to wastewater treatment, while remaining viable within water sources, such as the downstream surface river water associated with WWTP-6. It is evident that there is a larger detection frequency difference between the wastewater and wastewater discharge after viral amplification in cell culture, compared to the direct RT-nPCR results. This may indicate that the presence of potentially infectious EVs decrease after wastewater treatment and that the majority of inactivated EVs remain and are subsequently detected and identified with direct RT-nPCR. There were, however, no associations found between the wastewater discharge of WWTP-1 to 5 and the downstream surface dam water, VD1, as no EVs were detected in VD1. This observation was consistent with global data reporting the presence of EVs in wastewater discharge (Irving and Smith., 1981; Ehlers et al., 2005; Sedmak et al., 2005; La Rosa et al., 2010; Battistone et al., 2014). The detection of potentially infectious EVs in downstream surface river water points to wastewater contamination and the capability of EVs to survive in natural water sources after discharge, with EVs being detected in river water in both global and local ES studies (Cho et al., 2000; Hot et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2004; Ehlers et al., 2005; Shieh et al., 2008; Chigor et al., 2014; Connell et al., 2012). Considering the low infectious dose of EVs, with an estimated daily risk of infection from recreational water ranging between 1.32 x  $10^4$  to 5.70 x  $10^2$  and the presence of potentially infectious EVs in receiving water bodies raises a public health concern (Battistone et al., 2014; Chigor et al., 2014). Undetected EVs at the VD1 sample site can be explained by the extended distance between the discharge points of WWTP-1 to 5 and VD1, ranging between 10 - 30 km. This would decrease the probability of EVs discharged by the WWTPs to be detected at VD1, which would also be diluted once it is distributed into the dam. The upstream surface river water sample site is before the discharge point of WWTP-6 and could explain why no EVs were detected in these samples. Enteroviruses can furthermore survive for prolonged periods of time in the sediment of natural water sources and can therefore fail to be detected in the surface water (Bosch, 1998).

The National Water Act (36/1998) states that wastewater discharge released into natural water sources is allowed a target water quality range (TWQR) of 1000 cfu/100 ml for faecal coliforms. When evaluating the relation between wastewater discharge samples within the TWQR and the presence of EVs, it would seem that *E.coli* is not a proper

Chapter 4 : Discussion |



indicator of viral contamination of wastewater discharge. This correlates with previously described observations where EVs were detected in water samples having an *E.coli* count within the TWQR (Pusch *et al.*, 2005). However, potentially infectious EVs were not as prevalent in wastewater discharge samples that were within the TWQR for *E.coli* that indicated that it might have presented as a partially suitable indicator of potentially viable EVs that were circulating in the water sources.

The monthly distribution in Figure 3.1 demonstrates that EV prevalence slightly decreased at the start of winter in May 2015 and gradually increased until it reached a peak during the early spring months of August to September 2015. It subsequently drops at the end of spring and early summer between October and December 2015, after which it reached a second peak in late summer and early autumn in February and March 2016. This seasonal pattern has been previously observed, specifically in Cape Town during the EV outbreaks between 1981 and 1989 that peaked in the late winter and spring months (McIntyre and Keen, 1993). The high detection frequency during the early spring season may also indicate its clinical predominance for the following summer (Sedmak *et al.*, 2004). Since EVs were detected in both dry and wet seasons throughout the year it was generally difficult to establish a definite seasonal pattern. This correlates with ES data from African and other subtropical countries where EVs were detected during all seasons (Urashima *et al.*, 2003; Ehlers *et al.*, 2005; Kiulia *et al.*, 2010). The summer and autumn EV seasonality generally occurs in temperate climates (Fisman, 2012; Battistone *et al.*, 2014).

Of the 111 samples in which EVs were characterised with nucleotide sequence analysis, 22 contained a single EV genotype, 27 contained two different genotypes, 28 contained three, 27 contained four, six contained five and one contained six different EV genotypes. This emphasized on the wide diversity of EV types that were characterised in a single sample when combining the direct RT-nPCR and ICC-RT-nPCR nucleotide sequence analysis, which was less varied when doing the one or the other on its own. The samples, in which EVs were only detected in the recovered viral suspensions and not in the harvested cell culture extracts, showed that these EVs were either EV-A or EV-C species. The prevalence of EVs within each species differed meaningfully between direct RT-nPCR and ICC-RT-nPCR nucleotide sequence analysis. The



prevalence of EV-A and EV-C species characterised with direct RT-nPCR decreased drastically after ICC-RT-nPCR characterisation from 21.4% to 2.2% and 54.2% to 21.2%, respectively. The EV-B prevalence, however, increased from 24.5% with direct RT-nPCR characterisation to 76.6% with ICC-RT-nPCR characterisation. A higher prevalence as well as a wider diversity of different EV genotypes were detected and characterised in the recovered viral suspensions compared to the harvested cell culture extracts. This could have been due to five clones per sample being sequenced after direct RT-nPCR, while only two clones were sequenced after ICC-RT-nPCR. Five clones were selected to increase the characterization of various different EV types within a single sample, while after viral amplification in cell culture it was one EV type that predominated over the other potentially present EV types and therefore only two were sequenced. As previously mentioned, it was suggested that EV-A and EV-C species, specifically CV-As, have a limited ability to propagate in cell culture (Khetsuriani et al., 2010; Pelligrinelli et al., 2013). This explains the low detection rate of EV-A species (three compared to 41 EVs identified directly from the recovered viral suspensions) and EV-C species (29 compared to 104 EVs identified directly from the recovered viral suspensions) with ICC-RT-PCR nucleotide sequence analysis.

By detecting mainly EV-B species with virus isolation in cell culture creates a biased concept that EV-B species are the most prevalent and diverse EVs or the most evolutionary successful, while it is more likely cell-line specific related (Faleye *et al.*, 2016). This raises concern with regards to the true epidemiological significance of EVs in water with viral isolation in cell culture only, which clearly holds preference to EV-Bs. It is clear from the direct RT-nPCR characterization analysis that EV-A and EV-C species are also widely prevalent, but its viability is broadly undetermined as its growth is limited in cells. Nevertheless, when relying only on molecular identification without viral isolation in cell culture it also skews the diversity landscape as EVs that were not detected directly were able to be identified after being subjected to cell culture (Faleye *et al.*, 2016). By combining both direct RT-nPCR and ICC-RT-nPCR nucleotide sequence analysis it broadens the EV landscape, providing more significance for ES, especially newly emerging EV strains. It is evident that the BGM and PLC/PRF/5 cell lines are more specific for the propagation of EV-B species, than EV-A and EV-C species. The harvested PLC/PRF/5 cell cultures proved to be more reliable in isolating

Chapter 4 : Discussion

77



EVs-A, B and C species as it was the only cell line to isolate CV-As (n=14) and EV-C99 (n=2), while the three Sabin PVs were isolated from the BGM cell line. The WHO recommends the L20B and RD cell line for ES of PV and NPEVs and studies have shown that the RD cell line is more specific for EV-Bs, while other cell lines such as MCF and LLC-MK2 are more reliable for the isolation of EV-C species (Adeniji and Faleye, 2014). It is therefore important to determine specifically what the ES study is aiming to accomplish when deciding on the type of cell line to use for EV isolation, since a combination of different cell lines will allow a broader perspective of EV epidemiology. This is especially significant since there is a lack of data on the genetic diversity and prevalence of EVs in sub-Saharan Africa (Sadeuh-Mba *et al.*, 2013).

In overall, the 10 most common EVs identified were EV-C99, E-6, CV-B3, CV-A13, CV-A22, CV-B4, CV-A20, CV-A16, CV-B5 and CV-A2. Compared to previous ES data from South Africa, the CV-Bs, predominantly CV-B3 and CV-B5, isolated from BGM and PLC/PRF/5 cell lines were the most prevalent in treated and untreated water sources (Ehlers *et al.*, 2005). The low CPE-positive samples correlated with the low number of EV-specific inclusion bodies isolated from these previous studies, indicating that EVs were capable of infecting and replicating in the susceptible host cells, while lacking the ability to produce a CPE (Vivier *et al.*, 2004).

Enterovirus C99 was the most common EV identified in both the wastewater and wastewater discharge after direct RT-PCR nucleotide sequence analysis, but only detected twice after viral amplification in cell culture and detected in a total of 44/156 samples. It is a novel EV type that has been identified in the Republic of Congo (Mombo *et al.*, 2015), Mozambique (Bero *et al.*, 2015), Cameroon (Sadeuh-Mba *et al.*, 2013), Ivory Coast (Cristianziano *et al.*, 2015), China (Tao *et al.*, 2013) and Finland (Smura *et al.*, 2014). According to the phylogenetic analysis of the partial VP1 region (375 bp) of the EV sequences it showed a high genetic diversity with multiple clusters, of which a similar pattern was observed for E-6, CV-A2, CV-A9, EV-C116, EV-C99 (Figure 3.12), CV-B4 (Figure 3.13), CV-B2, E-6, CV-B3 and EV-C99 (Figure 3.14). The one EV-C99 cluster grouped with strains from Madagascar and Finland, while the second cluster grouped with strains from Bangladesh and the Philippines. Different EV-C99 strains are circulating, such as the strains from WWTP-2, 2E201512 and

Chapter 4 : Discussion



2E201507b sharing a nt identity of 96.7%, that only share a 79% nt identity with strains from WWTP-4, 4R201504 and 4R201508 (sharing a nt identity of 99.6%). This is also true for strains from the same region but identified in July and December 2015, RD201506a and RD201512a, sharing a nt identity of 78.8% and grouped into different clusters. Since 1% of nt substitutions accumulate in EVs, especially EV-Cs, a 20% nt distance may correspond to divergence from a common ancestor around 10 years ago (Mombo *et al.*, 2015). The phylogenetic analysis shown in Figure 3.12 to 3.14 furthermore indicates the wide concurrent circulation of similar strains in more than one region that shared a closer nt identity towards each other than to globally recognized strains from Asia, Africa and Europe.

The high prevalence of E-6 correlates with the global EV epidemiology, where E-6 has been classified as the most predominant EV worldwide (Belguith et al., 2007; Bailly et al., 2011; Smura et al., 2013) and associated with seasonal outbreaks of aseptic meningitis (Chomel et al., 2003; Luchs et al., 2008). Echovirus 30 was only identified in three samples, while it has been suggested that E-6 and E-30 predominantly cocirculate (Bailly et al., 2011). The high prevalence of CV-A13 correlates with data from other African EV surveillance studies, where CV-A13 is the most predominant EV type circulating in Cameroon, Gabon and Chad (Sadeuh-Mba et al., 2013) as well as Nigeria (Adeniji and Faleye, 2015). Coxsackievirus-A13, CV-A20 and EV-C99 are the three most common EV-C species and the most genetically diverse EVs identified according to sub Saharan Africa data (Sadeuh-Mba et al., 2015; Bero et al., 2015). The high prevalence of CV-A13 and CV-A20 does, however, raise a concern with regards to its close similarity to PVs in the capsid coding region, which makes them more likely to recombine with PVs that may lead to the emergence of pathogenic cVDPVs (Sadeuh-Mba et al., 2015). Rarely described EVs, such as EV-A119, appeared in April and May 2015 and again in March 2016, suggesting a seasonal prevalence of this type of newly emerging EV. This EV type has previously been detected in environmental water sources from 2014 – 2015 (Muilwijk, 2014). This novel EV type was first recorded in a chimpanzee in 2008 and subsequently isolated from a healthy child in Cameroon in 2009 (Ayukekbong et al., 2013; Adeniji et al., 2016). Since then it has only been detected in a healthy child in Ivory Coast in 2013 and in an AFP patient in Nigeria in 2016 (Cristanziano et al., 2015; Adeniji et al., 2016). This is the first reporting of EV-

Chapter 4 : Discussion



A119 in South Africa and it is clear that is a strain that is only circulating in Africa. Cross-species transmission of EV-A119 and CV-A13 from human to NHP has been documented in Cameroon (Sadeuh-Mba *et al.*, 2014) and the Democratic Republic of Congo (Harvala *et al.*, 2014), respectively.

The wastewater and wastewater discharge of WWTP-5 had the widest diversity of EV types identified in the recovered viral suspensions and harvested cell culture extracts, compared to WWTP-1 to 4. This indicates that the population is shedding various EV types, while not necessarily being detected that often, since the majority of EV types are either detected only once or twice within the 12-month study period. Seventeen different EV genotypes were identified in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-5 of which nine were detected after viral amplification in cell culture, namely E-6, CV-A13 and CV-B3. The Sabin-like PVs and two CV-Bs were only detected once in the wastewater discharge. Since E-6 appeared prevalent in the discharge of WWTP-5 in both the direct recovered viral suspensions and harvested cell culture extracts and is the most common EV type circulating worldwide it may indicate that this type is more evolved and resistant to treatment compared to other EV types. Only a single detection of six EV types were identified in the wastewater discharge of WWTP-4 with only CV-A13 being detected after viral amplification in cell culture. Since there were a meaningful number of viable and diverse EVs, mainly CV-A13 and EV-C99, detected in the wastewater of WWTP-4, it may indicate the efficient removal or inactivation of EVs. The EV diversity can furthermore be low due to only having received seven out of the 12 months of expected samples. While yet a wide diversity of EV types were identified in the wastewater of WWTP-3, of which 10 out of the 14 EV types were potentially viable EVs, no EVs were detected in the wastewater discharge. This implies that the wastewater treatment system may be efficient in the removal of EVs from wastewater, but since the population size of this region is only 701 it may suggest a low circulation of EVs, as the majority of EV types were only detected once. In the wastewater from WWTP-2, 36 EVs were identified, with EV-C99 predominating in the direct and CV-B3 in the ICC-RT-nPCR analysis. In the wastewater effluent, however, there were yet 23 EVs of which EV-C99 and CV-A20 predominated. The majority of EVs in the wastewater discharge were detected in the recovered viral suspensions, with only four EVs detected after viral amplification in cell culture. The detection of

Chapter 4 : Discussion



potentially infectious EVs decreases meaningfully after wastewater treatment, as it is evident in the number of detections in the discharge of WWTP-1, 2 and 4 compared to detections in the wastewater. The EV diversity and prevalence in the wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water were closely similar, as 37 and 39 EVs were detected, respectively, where E-6 predominated in both. This indicates the poor removal efficiency of EVs from WWTP-6 and its ability to survive in natural water sources after discharge that similar prevalence and EV types were found in these two sample sites.



# CHAPTER 5

# CONCLUSION

Pollution and scarcity of water sources has become a major global health concern. According to the National Water Act (36/1998) wastewater effluent that is discharged into water resources is allowed a TWQR of 1000 cfu/100 ml faecal coliforms. Poor infrastructure and inadequate treatment at wastewater treatment plants contribute to the emergence of waterborne infectious diseases through ingestion of contaminated water in both industrialised and developing countries worldwide (Ashbolt, 2004). Poor water quality and lack of access to safe water and sanitation contribute to an estimated global 1.7 million deaths per year (Ashbolt, 2004). The stability of EVs in water after wastewater treatment makes them detectable in wastewater discharge and downstream water sources, indicating poor EV removal efficiency. It is therefore important to determine the removal efficiency of EVs from wastewater, as it raises a public health concern when these downstream water sources are utilized by the public. There is furthermore a lack of data on the presence of EVs, specifically potentially infectious EVs, in water sources as well as the current epidemiology on EV circulation in South Africa.

The first objective was to recover EVs from 60 wastewater samples with primary PEG8000/NaCl precipitation and from 72 wastewater effluent and 36 surface water samples with primary glass wool adsorption-elution and secondary PEG8000/NaCl precipitation. The second objective was to optimise and perform EV and Sabin PV rtRT-PCR assays, followed by characterisation with conventional RT-nPCR. The Sabin PV assay was optimised into three individual assays for specifically Sabin-like PV-1, PV-2 and PV-3. This method proved to be more sensitive for the detection of PVs after viral amplification in cell culture compared to direct analysis. The same observation was made with the sensitivity for the detection of EVs with rtRT-PCR after viral amplification in cell culture compared to direct analysis. The third objective was to isolate EVs in the BGM, L20B and PLC/PRF/5 cell lines. It was determined that the PLC/PRF/5 cell line was the most efficient cell line in isolating the widest diversity of

Chapter 5 : Conclusion

81



EVs from the EV-A, EV-B and EV-C species. The fourth objective was to genotype the detected EVs with nucleotide sequence analysis and assess the genetic relatedness between identified strains and globally recognised strains with phylogenetic analysis. In total, more than 300 EVs were identified that belonged to 35 different EV types with the majority belonging to the EV-B species, which correlated with the current African epidemiological landscape (Sadeuh-Mba et al., 2013; Cristianziano et al., 2015). This therefore shows that similar EVs are predominating worldwide, while the phylogenetic analysis indicated that the EV strains still varied significantly from its reference strains originating from other continents. The high genetic similarities between EV strains that have been identified concurrently in more than one WWTP shows the wide distribution of similar EV strains in different demographic regions. There is a lack of data on the current risk of EV infection from natural water sources in South Africa and the data obtained in this study may motivate that it is of significance to implement risk assessment analysis studies. Since there is limited data on South African EV epidemiology this study will therefore contribute to identifying major EV strains that may now add to the African and global epidemiological perspective on EV circulation.

To conclude, based on the EV removal efficiency of the selected WWTPs the EV detection prevalence in wastewater discharge was evidently the highest in WWTP-5 and WWTP-6. The infected cell cultures from the wastewater discharge and downstream surface river water had the highest EV isolation frequency, indicating the survival of potentially viable EVs that are resistant to wastewater treatment and are detectable in downstream water sources. Only WWTP-3 showed a promising EV removal efficiency since no EVs were detected in its wastewater discharge. The detection of potentially infectious EVs after wastewater treatment proves the hypothesis that EVs are not effectively removed from wastewater at the selected WWTPs and are subsequently discharged into natural water sources. This might rise as a public health concern since an estimated 7 million people in South Africa do not have access to safe water, where natural water sources are utilised for domestic and agricultural purposes (Pallansch et al., 2013).



## REFERENCES

Abzug, M.J., Michaels, M.G., Wald, E., Jacobs, R.F., Romero, J.R., Sanchez, P.J., Wilson, G., Krogstad, P., Storch, G.A., Lawrence, R., Shelton, M., Palmer, A., Robinson, J., Dennehy, P., Sood, S.K., Cloud, G., Jester, P., Acosta, E.P., Whitley, R., Kimberlin, D. (2016) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of pleconaril for the treatment of neonates with enterovirus sepsis. *Journal of Paediatric Infectious Diseases* **5**, 53-62.

Adeniji, J.A., Faleye, T.O.C. (2014) Isolation and identification of enteroviruses from sewage and sewage-contaminated water in Lagos, Nigeria. *Food and Environmental Virology* **6**, 75-86.

Adeniji, J.A., Faleye, T.O.C. (2015) Enterovirus C strains circulating in Nigeria and their contribution to the emergence of recombinant circulating vaccine-derived polioviruses. *Archives of Virology* **160**, 675-683.

Ahmed, W., Harwood, V.J., Gyawali, P., Toze, S. (2015) Comparison of concentration methods for quantitative detection of sewage-associated viral markers in environmental waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **81**, 2042-2049.

Alexander, J.J., Bey, E.M., Geddes, E.W., Lecatsas, G. (1976) Establishment of a continuously growing cell line from primary carcinoma of the liver. *South African Medical Journal* **50**, 2124-2128.

Al-Hello, H., Jorba, J., Blomqvist, S., Raud, R., Kew, O., Roivainen, M. (2013) Highly Divergent Type 2 and 3 Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses Isolated from Sewage in Tallinn, Estonia. *Journal of Virology* **87**, 13076-13080.

Amdiouni, H., Faouzi, A., Fariat, N., Hassar, M., Soukri, A., Nourlil, J. (2012) Detection and molecular identification of human adenoviruses and enteroviruses in wastewater from Morocco. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* **54**, 359-366.



Apostol, L.N., Suzuki, A., Bautista, A., Galang, H., Paladin, F.J., Fuji, N., Lupisan, S., Olveda, R., Oshitani, H. (2012) Detection of non-polio enteroviruses from 17 years of virological surveillance of acute flaccid paralysis in the Philippines. *Journal of Medical Virology* **84**, 624-631.

Asghar, H., Diop, O.M., Weldegebriel, G., Malik, F., Shetty, S., Bassioni, L.E., Akande, A.O., Maamoun, E.A., Zaidi, S., Adeniji, A.J., Burns, C.C., Deshpande, J., Oberste, M.S., Lowther, S.A. (2014) Environmental surveillance for polioviruses in the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **210**, 294-303.

Ashbolt, N.J., Grabow, W.O.K., Snozzi, M. (2001) Indicators of microbial water quality. In: Fewtrell, L., Bartram, J., editors. *World Health Organization. Water Quality: Guidelines, Standards and Health.* UK: IWA Publishing. pp. 289-316.

Ashbolt, N.J. (2004) Microbial contamination of drinking water and disease outcomes in developing regions. *Toxicology* **198**, 229-238.

Aw, T.G., Gin, K.Y.H. (2010) Environmental surveillance and molecular characterisation of human enteric viruses in tropical urban wastewaters. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **109**, 716-730.

Ayukekbong, J., Kabayiza, J., Lindh, M., Nkuo-Akenji, T., Tah, F., Bergström, T., Norder, H. (2013) Shift of enterovirus species among children in Cameroon – Identification of a new enterovirus, EV-A119. *Journal of Clinical Virology* **58**, 227-232.

Bailly, J.L., Mirand, A., Henquell, C., Archimbaud, C., Chambon, M., Regagnon, C., Charbonne, F., Peigue-Lafeuille, H. (2011) Repeated genomic transfers from echovirus 30 to echovirus 6 lineages indicate co-divergence between co-circulating populations of the two human enterovirus serotypes. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **11**, 276-289.

Battistone, A., Buttinelli, G., Bonomo, P., Fiore, S., Amato, C., Mercurio, P., Cicala, A., Simeoni, J., Foppa, A., Triassi, M., Pennino, F., Fiore, L. (2014) Detection of enteroviruses in influent and effluent flow samples from wastewater treatment plants in Italy. *Food and Environmental Virology* **6**, 13-22.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Belguith, K., Hassen, A., Bouslama, L., Sdiri, K., Mahjoub, A. (2007) Enterovirus circulation in wastewater and behaviour of some serotypes during sewage treatment in Monastir, Tunisia. *Journal of Environmental Health* **69**, 52-56.

Berger, S. (2016) Enterovirus infections. In: Burger, S. *Infectious Diseases of South Africa*. LA, GIDEON Informatics In-fc. pp.153-155.

Bero, D.M., de Deus, N., da Costa, E.V., Burlandy, F.M., Jani, I.V., da Silva, E.E. (2015) Natural circulation of human enterovirus in Maputo city, Mozambique. *African Journal of Microbiological Research* **9**, 1419-1423.

Blomqvist, S., Paananen, A., Savolainen-Kopra, C., Hovi, T., Roivainen, M. (2008) Eight years of experience with molecular identification of human enteroviruses. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **26**, 2410-2413.

Boot, H.J., Schepp, R.M., van Nunen, F.J.H.B., Kimman, T.G. (2004) Rapid RT-PCR amplification of full-length poliovirus genomes allows rapid discrimination between wild-type and recombinant vaccine-derived polioviruses. *Journal of Virological Methods* **116**, 35-43.

Bosch, A.,Sánchez, G., Abbaszadegan, M., Carducci, A., Guix, S., Le Guyader, F.S., Netshikweta, R., Pintó, R.M., van der Poel, W.H.M., Rutjes, S., Sano, D., Taylor, M.B., van Zyl, W.B., Rodriguez-Lázaro, D., Kovac, K., Sellwood, J. (2011) Analytical methods for virus detection in water and food. *Food Analytical Methods* **4**, 4-12.

Bosch, A. (1998) Human enteric viruses in the water environment: a minireview. *International Microbiology* **1**, 191-196.

Burns, C.C., Diop, O.M., Suter, R.W., Kew, O.M. (2014) Vaccine-derived polioviruses. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **210**, 283-293.

Carter, J.B., Saunders, V.A. (2007) Picornaviruses (and other plus-strand RNA viruses). In: Carter, J.B., Saunders, V.A., editors. *Virology Principles and Application*. West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons Ltd. pp. 157-172.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015) Non-polio Enterovirus: enterovirus D68. http://www.cdc.gov/non-polio-enterovirus/about/ev-d68.html. Date of access: 2016-06-01.

Chang, S.C., Li, W.C., Huang, K.Y., Huang, Y.C., Chiu, C.H., Chen, C.J., Hsieh, Y.C., Kuo, C.Y., Shih, S.R., Lin, T.Y. (2013) Efficacy of alcohols and alcohol-based hand disinfectants against human enterovirus 71. *Journal of Hospital Infection* **83**, 288-293.

Chapron, C.D., Ballester, N.A., Fontaine, J.H., Frades, C.N., Margolin, A.B. (2000) Detection of astroviruses, enteroviruses, and adenovirus types 40 and 41 in surface waters collected and evaluated by the information collection rule and an integrated cell culture-nested PCR procedure. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **66**, 2520-2525.

Chigor, V.N., Sibanda, T., Okoh, A.L. (2014) Assessment of the risks for human health of adenoviruses, hepatitis A virus, rotaviruses and enteroviruses in the Buffalo river and three source water dams in the Eastern Cape. *Food and Environmental Virology* **6**, 87-98.

Cho, H.B., Lee, S.H., Cho, J.C., Kim, S.J. (2000) Detection of adenoviruses and enteroviruses in tap water and river water by reverse transcription multiplex PCR. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* **46**, 417-424.

Chomel, J.J., Antona, D., Thouvenot, D., Lina, B. (2003) Three echovirus serotypes responsible for outbreak of aseptic meningitis in Rhône-Alpes Region, France. *European Journal of Clinical Micriobiology and Infectious Diseases* **22**, 191-193.

Connell, C., Tong, H., Wang, Z., Allmann, E., Lu, Y. (2012) New approaches for enhanced detection of enteroviruses from Hawaiian environmental waters. *PLos ONE* **7**, e32442. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032442.

Cristanziano, V.D., Böttcher, S., Diedrich, S., Timmen-Wego, M., Knops, E., Lübke, N., Kaiser, R., Pfister, H., Kaboré, Y., D'Alfonso, R. (2015) Detection and characterisation of enteroviruses and parechoviruses in healthy people living in the South of Côte d'Ivoire. *Journal of Clinical Virology* **71**, 40-43.

Chapter 6 : Reference |



Department of Water and Environmental Affairs. (1998) Guide: Permissible utilisation and disposal of treated sewage effluent. *Department of National Health and Population Development*.

Department of Water and Environmental Affairs. (1996) South African Water Quality Guidelines (Second Edition). Volume 1: Domestic Use.

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry. (2002) An illustrated guide to basic sewage purification operations. First edition.

Dimitriou, T.G., Pliaka, V., Kyriakopoulou, Z., Ruether, I.G.A., Tsakogiannis, D., Fountoucidou, P., Gartzonika, C., Levidiotou-Stefanou, S., Markoulatos, P. (2014) PCR assays for the identification of rare recombination types from VP1 to 3D genomic region of vaccine derived poliovirus strains. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* **28**, 107-112.

Diop, O.M., Burns, C.C., Sutter, R.W., Wassilak, S.G., Kew, O.M. (2015) Update on vaccine-derived polioviruses – Worldwide, Janaury 2014-March 2015. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* **64**, 640-646.

Edokpayi, J.N., Odiyo, J.O., Msagati, T.A., Popoola, E.O. (2015) Removal efficiency of faecal indicator organisms, nutrients and heavy metals from a peri-urban wastewater treatment plant in Thohoyandou, Limpopo Province, South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* **12**, 7300-7320.

Ehlers, M.M., Grabow, W.O.K., Pavlov, D.N. (2005) Detection of enteroviruses in untreated and treated drinking water supplies in South Africa. *Water Research* **39**, 2253-2258.

Esteves-Jaramillo, A., Estívariz, C.F., Peñaranda, S., Richardson, V.L.,Reyna, J., Coronel, D.L., Carrión, V., Landaverde, J.M., Wassilak, S.G.F.,Pérez-Sánchez, E.E., López-Martínez, I., Burns, C.C., Pallansch, M.A. (2014) Detection of Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses in Mexico Using Environmental Surveillance. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **210**, 315-323.



European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2016) Communicable disease threats report: Week 22, 29 May – 4 June 2016.

http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/publications/communicable-disease-threats-report-4-june-2016.pdf. Date of Access: 2016-08-31.

Fagnant, C.S., Beck, N.K., Yang, M., Barnes, K.S., Boyle, D.S., Meschke, J.S. (2014) Development of a novel bag-mediated filtration system for environmental recovery of poliovirus. *Journal of Water and Health* **12**, 747-754.

Faleye, T.O.C., Adewumi, M.O., Adeniji, J.A. (2016) Defining the enterovirus diversity landscape of a fecal sample: A methodological challenge? *Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute* **8**. doi:10.3390/v8010018.

Farrel, J.J., Ikladios, O., Wylie, K.M., O'Rourke, L.M., Lowery, K.S., Cromwell, J.S.,
Wylie, T.N., Melendez, E.L.V., Makhoul, Y., Sampath, R., Bonomo, R.A., Storch, G.A.
(2015) Enterovirus D68-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome in adult, United
States, 2014. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 21, 914-916.

Fisman, D. (2012) Seasonality of viral infections: mechanisms and unknowns. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* **18**, 946-954.

Fong, T., Lipp, E.K. (2005) Enteric viruses of humans and animals in aquatic environments: health risks, detection, and potential water quality assessment tools. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **69**, 357-371.

Friedrich, M.J. (2016) Switch from trivalent to bivalent oral polio vaccine. *Journal of The American Medical Association* **315**, 2513. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.6686.

Fuchs, I., Golan, A., Borer, A., Shemer-Avni, Y., Dagan, R., Greenberg, D. (2013) Proactive approach to containment of enterovirus infection in the nursery. *Clinical Pediatrics* **52**, 639-644.

Führman, J.A., Liang, X., Noble, R.T. (2005) Rapid detection of enteroviruses in small volumes of natural waters by real-time quantitive reverse transcriptase PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**, 4523-4530.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Gall, A.M., Mariñas, B.J., Lu, Y., Shisler, S.L. (2015) Waterborne viruses: a barrier to safe drinking water. *PLoS Pathogens* **11**, e1004867. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004867.

Gantzer, C., Senouci, S., Maul, A., Levi, Y., Schartzbrod, L. (1999) Enterovirus detection from wastewater by RT-PCR and cell culture. *Water Science & Technology* **40**, 105-109.

Garner, O.B., Wu, M.T. (2014) Detection of human viral pathogens: conventional versus molecular approaches. *Medical Laboratory Observer* **46**, 10-12.

Gensberger, E.T., Kostić, T. (2013) Novel tools for environmental virology. *Current Opinion in Virology* **3**, 61-68.

Geoghegan, J.L., Tan, L.V., Kuhnert, D., Halpin, R.A., Lin, X., Simenauer, A., Akopov, A., Das, S.R., Stockwell, T.B., Shrivastava, S., Ngoc, N.M., Uyen le T.T., Tuyen, N.T., Thanh, T.T., Hang, V.T., Qui, P.T., Hung, N.T., Khanh, T.H., Thinh le Q., Nhan le, N.T., Van, H.M., Viet do, C., Tuan, H.M., Viet, H.L., Hien, T.T., Chau, N.V., Thwaites, G., Grenfell, B.T., Stadler, T., Wentworth, D.E., Holmes, E.C., Van Doorn, H.R. (2015) Phylodynamics of enterovirus A71-associated hand, foot and mouth disease in VietNam. *Journal of Virology* 89, 8871-8879.

Gerba, C.P. (2007) Virus Occurence and Survival in the Environmental Waters. In: Bosch, A., Mushahwar, I.K., Zuckerman, A.J., editors. *Human Viruses in Water*. Perspectives in Medical Virology.1st Ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 91-108.

Gibson, E.G. (2014) Viral pathogens in water: occurrence, public health impact and available control strategies. *Current Opinion in Virology* **4**, 50-57.

Global polio eradication initiative. (2016) Polio Now.

http://polioeradication.org/polio-today/polio-now/this-week/. Date of access: 2016-12-05.

Gopalkrishna, V., Patil, P.R., Patil, G.P., Chitambar, S.D. (2012) Circulation of multiple enterovirus serotypes causing hand, foot and mouth disease in India. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* **61**, 420-425.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Grabow, W.O.K., Botma, K.L., de Villiers, J.C., Clay, C.G., Erasmus, B. (1999) Assessment of cell culture and polymerase chain reaction procedures for the detection of polioviruses in wastewater. *Bulletin of the World Health Organisation* **77**, 973.

Guzman-Cottrill, J.A., Ravin, K.A., Bryant, K.A., Zerr, D.M., Kociolek, L., Siegel, J.D. (2013) Infection prevention and control in residential facilities for paediatric patients and their families. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* **34**, 1003-1041.

Hall, T.A. (1999) BioEdit: A user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program from Windows 95/98/NT. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series* **41**, 95-98.

Hamza, I.A., Jurzik, L., Überla, K., Wilhelm, M. (2011) Methods to detect infectious human enteric viruses in environmental water samples. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* **214**, 424-436.

Harvala, H., Calvert, J., Van Nguyen, D., Clasper, L., Gadsby, N., Molyneaux, P., Templeton, K., McWilliams Leitch, C., Simmonds, P. (2014) Comparison of diagnostic clinical samples and environmental sampling for enterovirus and parechovirus surveillance in Scotland, 2010 to 2012. *Eurosurveillance* **19**, pii=20772.

Harvey, R.A., Cornelissen, C.N., Fisher, B.D. (2013) *Lippincott's Illustrated Reviews: Microbiology*. Third Edition. Baltimore, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. p 284-285.

Hmaïed, F., Jebri, S., Saavedra, M.E.R., Yahya, M., Amri, I., Lucena, F., Hamdi, M. (2016) Comparison of two concentration methods for the molecular detection of enteroviruses in raw and treated sewage. *Current Microbiology* **72**, 12-18.

Horner, L.M., Poulter, M.D., Brenton, J.N., Turner, R.B. (2015) Acute flaccid paralysis associated with novel enterovirus C105. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **21**, 1858-1860.

Hot, D., Legeay, O., Jacques, J., Gantzer, C., Caudrelier, Y., Guyard, K., Lange, M., Andreoletti, L. (2003) Detection of somatic phages, infectious enteroviruses and enterovirus genomes as indicators of human enteric viral pollution in surface water. *Water Research* **37**, 4703-4710.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Hovi, T., Roivainen, M., Blomqvist, S. (2007) Enteroviruses with special reference to poliovirus and poliomyelitis eradication. In: Bosch, A., Mushahwar, I.K., Zuckerman, A.J., editors. *Human Viruses in Water*. Perspectives in Medical Virology.1st Ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 69-89.

Hsu, B., Chen, C., Wan, M., Chang, P., Fan, C. (2009) Detection and identification of enteroviruses from variuos drinking water sources in Taiwan. *Journal of Hydrology* **365**, 134-139.

Ibrahim, W., Ouderani, I., Pillet, S., Aouni, M., Pozzetto, B., Harrath, R. (2014) Direct typing of human enteroviruses from wastewater samples. *Journal of Virological Methods* **207**, 215-219.

Igarishi, H., Yoshino, Y., Miyazawa, M., Horie, H., Ohka, S., Nomoto, A. (2010) 2A protease is not a prerequisite for poliovirus replication. *Journal of Virology* **84**, 5947-5957.

Ikner, L.A., Gerba, C.P., Bright, K.R. (2012) Concentration and recovery of viruses from water: a comprehensive review. *Food and Environmental Virology* **4**, 41-67.

Irving, L.G., Smith, F.A. (1981) One-year survey of enteroviruses, adenoviruses and reoviruses isolated from effluent at an activated sludge purification plant. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **41**, 51-59.

ISO/TS 15216-1:2013. Microbiology of food and animal feed - Horizontal method for determination of hepatitis A virus and norovirus in food using real-time RT-PCR. Part 1: Method for quantification. First edition.

Iwai-Itamochi, M., Yoshida, H., Obara-Nagoya, M., Horimoto, E., Kurata, T., Takizawa, T. (2014) Development of real-time PCR to detect oral vaccine-like poliovirus and its application to environmental surveillance. *Journal of Virological Methods* **195**, 148-155.

Jackson, M.A. (2014) EV-D68: Not your usual enterovirus. *American Academy of Pediatrics*. http://www.aappublications.org/content/early/2014/09/24/aapnews.20140924-2. Date of access: 2016-08-24.

Chapter 6 : Reference


Janes, V.A., Minnaar, R., Koen, G., van Eijk, H., Dijkman-de Haan, K., Pajkrt, D., Wolthers, K.C., Benschop, K.S. (2014) Presence of human non-polio enterovirus and parechovirus genotypes in an Amsterdam hospital in 2007 to 2011 compared to national and international published surveillance data: a comprehensive review. *Eurosurveillance* **19**, pii=20964.

Jebri, S., Hmaied, F., Lucena, F., Saavedra, M.E., Yahya, M., Hamdi, M. (2014) A comparison of two extraction methods for the detection of enteroviruses in raw sludge. *Journal of Virological Methods* **200**, 1-5.

Jones, A.P., Sellwood, J. (2001) Enteric viruses in the aquatic environment. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **91**, 945-962.

Jurgens, K.C., Barton, D.J., Sharma, N., Morasco, B.J., Ogram, S.A., Flanegan, J.B. (2006) 2A<sup>pro</sup> is a multifunctional protein that regulates the stability, translation and replication of poliovirus RNA. *Virology* **345**, 346-357.

Kadambari, S., Bukasa, A., Okike, I.O., Pebody, R., Brown, D., Gallimore, C., Xerry, J., Sharland, M., Ladhani, S.N. (2014) Enterovirus infections in England and Wales, 2000-2011: the impact of increased molecular diagnostics. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* **20**, 1289-1296.

Kargar, M., Sadeghipour, S., Mahmoudabadi, B.Z., Nategh, R. (2009) Comparison of integrated cell culture – RT-PCR & cell culture methods for detection of enteroviruses. *Iranian Journal of Public Health* **38**, 90-96.

Kargar, M., Sadeghipour, S., Nategh, R. (2009) Environmental surveillance of non-polio enteroviruses in Iran. *Virology Journal* **6**. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-6-149.

Karim, M.R., Fout, G.S., Johnson, C.H., White, K.M., Pashionikar, S.U. (2015) Propidium monoazide reverse transcriptase PCR and RT-qPCR for detecting infectious enterovirus and norovirus. *Journal of Virological Methods* **219**, 51-61.

Katayama, H., Shimasaki, A., Ohgaki, S. (2002) Development of a virus concentratio method and its application to detection of enterovirus and norwalk virus from coastal seawater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **68**, 1033-1039.



Keen GA, McIntyre JP. (1986) Summer aseptic meningitis in Cape Town, 1981-1986. *South African Medical Journal* **69**, 473-474.

Kempf, B.J., Kelly, M.M., Springer, C.L., Peersen, O.B., Barton, D.J. (2013) Structural features of a picornavirus polymerase involved in the polyadenylation of viral RNA. *Journal of Virology* **87**, 5629-5644.

Khetsuriani, N., Kutateladze, T., Zangaladze, E., Shutkova, T., Peñaranda, S., Nix, W.A., Pallansch, M.A., Oberste, M.S. (2010) High degree of genetic diversity of nonpolio enteroviruses identified in Georgia by environmental and clinical surveillance, 2002-2005. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* **59**, 1340-1347.

Kitajima, M., Iker, B.C., Pepper, I.L., Gerba, C.P. (2014) Relative abundance and treatment reduction of viruses during wastewater treatment processes – Identification of potential viral indicators. *Science of the Total Environment* **88**, 290-296.

Kiulia, N.M., Netshikweta, R., Page, N.A., van Zyl, W.B., Kiraithe, M.M., Nyachieo, A., Mwenda, J.M., Taylor, M.B. (2010) The detection of enteric viruses in selected urban and rural river water and sewage in Kenya, with special reference to rotaviruses. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **109**, 818-828.

Klement, C., Kissova, R., Lengyelova, V., Stipalova, D., Sobotova, Z., Galama, J.M.D., Bopegamage, S. (2013) Human enterovirus surveillance in the Slovak Republic from 2001 to 2011. *Epidemiology and Infection* **141**, 2658-2662.

Knowles, N.J., Hovi, T, Hyypiä, T., King, A.M.Q., Lindberg, A.M., Pallansch, M.A., Palmenberg, A.C., Simmonds, P., Skern, T., Stanway, G., Yamashita, T. and Zell, R. (2012). *Picornaviridae*. In: King, A.M.Q., Adams, M.J., Carstens, E.B., Lefkowitz, E.J., editors. *Virus taxonomy*: Classification and nomenclature of viruses: Ninth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Waltham: Elsevier. pp. 855-880.

Kroneman, A., Vennema, H., Deforche, K., v d Avoort, H., Peñaranda, S., Oberste, M.S., Vinjé, J., Koopmans, M. (2011) An automated genotyping tool for enteroviruses and noroviruses. *Journal of Clinical Virology* **51**, 121-125.

Chapter 6 : Reference |



La Rosa, G., Fratini, M., Libera, S., Laconelli, M., Muscillo, M. (2012) Emerging and potentially emerging viruses in water environments. *Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità* **8**, 397-406.

La Rosa, G., Pourshaban, M., Iaconelli, M., Muscillo, M. (2010) Quantitative real-time PCR of enteric viruses in influent and effluent samples from wastewater treatment plants in Italy. *Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità* **46**. doi:10.1007/s12560-016-9263-3.

Lawrence, J.E., Stewards, G.F. (2010) Purification of viruses by centrifugation. In: Wilhelm, S.W., Wienbauer, M.G., Suttle, C.A. *Manual of Aquatic Viral Ecology. ASLO*. pp. 166-181.

Lee, C., Lee, S., Han, E., Kim, S. (2004) Use of cell culture-PCR assay based on combination of A549 and BGMK cell lines and molecular identification as a tool to monitor infectious adenoviruses and enteroviruses in river water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **70**, 6695-6705.

Leifels, M., Jurzik, L., Wilhelm, M., Hamza, I.A. (2015) Use of ethidiummonoazide and propidiummonoazide to determine viral infectivity upon inactivation by heat, UV-exposure and chlorination. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* **218**, 686-693.

Levine, H., Mimouni, D., Zurel-Farber, A., Zahavi, A., Molina-Hazan, V., Bar-Zeev,
Y., Huerta-Hartal, M. (2014) Time trends of viral meningitis among young adults in
Israel: 1978-2012. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*33, 1149-1153.

Lin, J., Cheng, N., Chow, M., Filman, D.J., Steven, A.C., Hogle, J.M., Belnap, D.M. (2011) An externalized polypeptide partitions between two distinct sites on genome-released poliovirus particles. *Journal of Virology* **85**, 9974-9983.

Lowry, K., Woodman, A., Cook, J., Evans, D.J. (2014) Recombination in enteroviruses is a biphasic replicative process involving the generation of greater-than genome length "imprecise" intermediates. *PLos ONE* **10**, e1004191. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004191.

Chapter 6 : Reference |



Lu, J., Zheng, H., Guo, X., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Liu, L., Zeng, H., Fang, L., Mo, Y., Yoshida, H., Yi, L., Liu, T., Rutherford, S., Xu, W., Ke, C. (2015) Elucidation of echovirus 30's origin and transmission during the 2012 aseptic meningitis outbreak in Guangdong, China, through continuing environmental surveillance. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **81**, 2311-2319.

Luchs, A., Russo, D.H., Cilli, A., Costa, F.R., Morillo, S.G., Machado, B.C., Pellini, A.C.G., Carmona, R.C.C., Timenetsky, M.C.S.T. (2008) Echovirus 6 associated to aseptic meningitis outbreak, in São Joaquim da Barra, São Paulo, Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* **39**, 28-31.

Lugo, D., Krogstad, P. (2016) Enteroviruses in the early 21<sup>st</sup> century: new manifestations and challenges. *Current Opinions in Pediatrics* 28, 107-113.

MacLeod, A.M., Mitchell, D.R., Palmer, N.J., Van de Poël, H., Conrath, K., Andrews, M., Leyssen, P., Neyts, J. (2013) Identification of a series of compounds with potential antiviral activity for the treatment of enterovirus infections. *ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters* **4**, 585-589.

Malherbe, H.H., Strickland-Cholmley, M. (1980) In: Malherbe, H.H., Strickland-Cholmley, M. *Viral Cytopathology*. CRC Press, MI.

Manor, Y., Shulman, L.M., Kaliner, E., Hindiyeh, M., Ram, D., Sofer, D., Moran-Gilad, J., Lev, B., Grotto, I., Gamzu, R., Mendelson, E. (2014) Intensified environmental surveillance supporting the response to wild poliovirus type 1 silent circulation in Israel, 2013. *Euro Surveillance* **19**, e20708.

McIntyre, J.P., Keen, G.A. (1993) Laboratory surveillance of viral meningitis by examination of cerebrospinal fluid in Cape Town, 1981-1989. *Epidemiology and Infection* **111**, 357-371.

Meuhlenbachs, A., Bhatnagar, J., Zaki, S.R. (2015) Tissue tropism, pathology and pathogenesis of enterovirus infection. *Journal of Pathology* **235**, 217-228.

Minor, P. (2009) Vaccine-derived poliovirus: Impact on poliomyelitis eradication. *Vaccine* **27**, 2649-2652.

Chapter 6 : Reference |



Miura, T., Okabe, S., Nakahara, Y., Sano, D. (2015) Removal properties of human enteric viruses in a pilot-scale membrane bioreactor (MBR) process. *Water Research* **75**, 282-291.

Modlin, J.F., Hirsch, M.S., Bloom, A .(2014) Epidemiology, pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention of enterovirus and parechovirus infections.

http://www.uptodate.com/contents/epidemiology-pathogenesis-treatment-and-prevention-ofenterovirus-and-parechovirus-infections#H24150874. Date of access: 2016-06-01.

Mohebi, R. (2016) Traditional and modern cell culture in virus diagnosis. *Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives* **7**, 77-82.

Mombo, I.M., Berthet, N., Lukashev, A.N., Bleicker, T., Brunink, S., Leger, L., Atencia, R., Cox, D., Bouchier, C., Durand, P., Arnathau, C., Brazier, L., Fair, J.N. (2015) Detection of an enterovirus C99 in a captive chimpanzee with Acute Flaccid Paralysis, from the Tchimpounga Chimpanzee Rehabilitation Center, Republic of Congo. *PLos ONE* **10**, e0136700. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136700.

Momou, K.J., Aukoua-Koffi, C., Dosso, M. (2014) Detection of enteroviruses in water samples from Yopougon, Côte D'Ivoire by cell culture and polymerase chain reaction. *Food and Environmental Virology* **6**, 23-30.

Morales, M., Nnadi, C.D., Tangermann, R.H., Wassilak, S.G.F. (2016) Circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus outbreaks in 5 countries, 2014-2015. *Weekly Epidemiological Record* **6**, 71-72.

Muilwijk, M., van Zyl, W.B., Taylor, M.B. (2014) The assessment of inflows and outflows of a sewage treatment plant for enteroviruses, with specific reference to poliovirus. BSc Hons. Pretoria: University of Pretoria.

Nakamura, T., Hamasaki, M., Yoshitomi, H., Ishibashi, T., Yoshiyama, C., Maeda, E., Sera, N., Yoshida, H. (2015) Environmental surveillance of poliovirus in sewage water around the introduction period for inactivated polio vaccine in Japan. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **81**, 1859-1864.



National Institute of Communicable Diseases. (2016) Viral meningitis caused by enterovirus species. *Outbreak response, Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response*. November 2015.

Ndiaye, A.K., Diop, P.A.M., Diop, O.M. (2014) Environmental surveillance of poliovirus and non-polio enterovirus in urban sewage in Dakar, Senegal (2007-2013). *Pan African Medical Journal* **19**. doi:10.11604/pamj.2014.19.243.3538.

Nijst, O.E.M., Mouthaan, J.J., Mekkes, D.R., Jusic, E., Van der Voort, H.G.A.M., Metz,
B. (2013) Rapid and accurate identification of poliovirus strains used for vaccine production. *Journal of Virological Methods* 189, 189-195.

Nix, W.A., Oberste, M.S., Pallansch, M.A. (2006) Sensitive, semi-nested PCR amplification of VP1 sequences for direct identification of all enterovirus serotypes from original clinical specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **44**, 2698-2704.

Noah, N., Reid, F. (2002) Recent increases in incidence of echoviruses 13 and 30 around Europe. *EuroSurveillance Weekly* **6**, pii=2029.

Norder, H., De Palma, A.M., Selisko, B., Costenaro, L., Papageorgiou, N., Arnan, C., Coutard, B., Lantez, V., De Lamballerie, X., Baronti, C., Sola, M., Tan, J., Neyts, J., Canard, B., Coll, M., Gorbalenya, A.E., Hilgenfeld, R. (2011) Picornavirus non-structural proteins as targets for new anti-virals with broad activity. *Antiviral Research* **89**, 204-218.

Okoh, A.I., Sibanda, T., Gusha, S.S. (2010) Inadequately treated wastewater as a source of human enteric viruses in the environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* **7**, 2620-2637.

Ooi, M.H., Wong, S.C., Lewthwaite, P., Cardosa, M.J., Solomon, T. (2010) Clinical features, diagnosis, and management of enterovirus 71. *Lancet Neurology* **8**, 1097-1105.

Opanda, S.M., Wamunyokoli, F., Khamadi, S., Coldren, R., Bulimo, W.D. (2016) Genotyping of enteroviruses isolated in Kenya from pediatric patients using partial VP1 region. *Springer Plus* **5**. doi:10.1186/s40064-016-1834-0.

Chapter 6 : Reference |



Pallansch, M.A., Oberste, M.S. (2009) Enteroviruses and Parechoviruses. In: Specter,S., Hodinka, R.L., Young, S.A., Wiedbrauk, D.L., editors. *Clinical Virology Manual*.4th ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 249-282.

Pallansch, M.A., Oberste, M.S., Whitton, J.L. (2013) Enteroviruses: Polioviruses, Coxsackieviruses, Echoviruses, and Newer Enteroviruses. In: Knipe, D.M., Howley, P.M., Cohen, J.I., Griffin, D.E., Lamb, R.A., Martin, M.A., Racaniello, V.R., Roizman, B., editors. *Fields Virology*. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. pp. 490-530.

Pavlov, D.N., Van Zyl, W.B., Van Heerden, J., Grabow, W.O.K., Ehlers, M.M. (2005) Prevalence of vaccine-derived polioviruses in sewage and river water in South Africa. *Water Research* **39**, 3309-3319.

Payment, P., Plante, R., Cejika, P. (2001) Removal of indicator bacteria, human enteric viruses, *Giardia* cysts, and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts at a large wastewater primary treatment facility. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* **47**, 188-193.

Pellegrinelli, L., Binda, S., Chiaramonte, I., Primache, V., Fiore, L., Battistone, A., Fiore, S., Gambino, M., Bubba, L., Barbi, M. (2013) Detection and distribution of culturable human enteroviruses through environmental surveillance in Milan, Italy. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **115**, 1231-1239.

Pinto, R.M., Costafreda, M.I., Bosch, A., (2009) Risk assessment in shellfish-borne outbreaks of Hepatitis A. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **75**, 7350–7355.

Prata, C., Riberio, A., Cunha, A., Gomes, N.C.M., Almeida, A. (2012) Ultracentrifugation as a direct method to concentrate viruses in environmental waters: virus-like particle enumeration as a new approach to determine the efficiency of recovery. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* **14**, 64-70.

Prim, N., Rodríguez, G., Margall, N., Del Cuerpo, M., Trallero, G., Rabella, N. (2013) Combining cell lines to opitimize isolation of human enteroviruses from clinical specimens: report of 25 years of experience. *Journal of Medical Virology* **85**, 116-120.



Pusch, D., Oh, D., Wolf, S., Dumke, R., Schröter-Bobsin, U., Höhne, M., Röske, I., Shreier, E. (2005) Detection of enteric viruses and bacterial indicators in German environmental waters. *Archives of Virology* **150**, 929-947.

Racaniello, V.R. (2013) Picornaviridae: The viruses and their replication. In: Knipe,
D.M., Howley, P.M., Cohen, J.I., Griffin, D.E., Lamb, R.A., Martin, M.A., Racaniello,
V.R., Roizman, B., editors. *Fields Virology*. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. pp. 453-489.

Rajtar, B., Majek, M., Polański, L., Polz-Dacewicz, M. (2008) Enteroviruses in the water environment – A potential threat to public health. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine* **15**, 199-203.

Rattier, M., Reungoat, J., Gernjak, W., Keller, J. (2012) Organic micro pollutant removal by biological activated carbon filtration: A review. *Urban Water Security Research Alliance*, Technical Report No. 53.

Razafindratsimandresy, R., Joffret, M., Rabemanantsoa, S., Andriamamonjy, S., Heraud, J., Delpeyroux, F. (2013) Recombinant vaccine–derived polioviruses in healthy children, Madagascar. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **19**, 1008-1010.

Reuter, G., Pankovics, P., Knowles, N.J., Boros, A. (2012) Two closely related novel picornaviruses in cattle and sheep in Hungary from 2008 to 2009, proposed as members of a new genus in the family *Picornaviridae*. *Journal of Virology* **86**, 13295-13302.

Reynolds, K.A., Gerba, C.P., Pepper, I.L. (1996) Detection of infectious enteroviruses by an integrated cell culture-PCR procedure. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **62**, 1424-1427.

Rodríguez, R.A., Gundy, P.M., Gerba, C.P. (2008) Comparison of BGM and PLC/PRF/5 cell lines for total culturable viral assay of treated sewage. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **74**, 253-2587.

Rodríguez-Lázaro, D., Cook, N., Ruggeri, F.M., Sellwood, J., Nasser, A., Nascimento, M.S.J., D'Agostino, M., Santos, R., Saiz, J.C., Rzezutka, A., Bosch, A., Gironés, R., Carducci, A., Muscillo, M., Kovac, K., Diez-Valcarce, M., Vantarakis, A., von



Bonsdorff, C., de Roda Husman, A.M., Hernández, M., van der Poel, W.H.M. (2012) Virus hazards from food, water and other contaminated environments. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **36**, 786-814.

Rutjes, S.A., Italiaander, R., van den Berg, H.H.J.L., Lodder, W.J., Husman, A.M. (2005) Isolation and detection of enterovirus RNA from large-volume water samples by using the nuclisens mini MAG system and real-time nucleic acid sequence-based amplification. *Applied and Environmental Biology* **71**, 3734-3740.

Sadeuh-Mba, S.A., Bessaud, M., Massenet, D., Joffret, M., Endeque, M.C., Njouom, R., Reynes, J.M., Rousset, D., Delpeyroux, F. (2014) High frequency and diversity of species C enteroviruses in Cameroon and neighboring countries. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **5**, 759-770.

Schoub, B.D., Johnson, S., McAnerney, J.M., Dos Santos, I.L., Klaassen, K.I.M. (1985) Epidemic coxsackievirus B infection in Johannesburg, South Africa. *Journal of Hygiene* **95**, 447-455.

Schrader, C., Schielke, A., Ellerbroek, L., Johne, R. (2012) PCR inhibitors – occurrence, properties and removal. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **113**, 1014-1026.

Sedmak, G., Bina, D., MacDonald, J. (2003) Assessment of an enterovirus sewage surveillance system by comparison of clinical isolates with sewage isolates from Milwaukee, Wisconsin, collected August 1994 to December 2002. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69**, 7181-7187.

Shaker, O.G., Abdelhamid, N. (2015) Detection of enteroviruses in paediatric patients with aseptic meningitis. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery* **129**, 67-71.

Shieh, Y.C., Wong, C.I., Krantz, J.A., Hsu, F.C. (2008) Detection of naturally occurring enteroviruses in waters using direct RT-PCR and integrated cell culture RT-PCR. *Journal of Virological Methods* **149**, 184-189.

Shirasaki, N., Matsushita, T., Matsui, Y., Marubayashi, T. (2016) Effect of aluminium hydrolyte species on human enterovirus removal from water during the coagulation process. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **284**, 786-793.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Shukla, D., Kumar, A., Srivastava, S., Idris, M.Z., Dhole, T.N. (2013) Environmental surveillance of enterovirus in Northern India using an integrated shell vial culture with a semi-nested RT-PCR and partial sequencing of the VP1 gene. *Journal of Medical Virology* **85**, 505-511.

Sinclair, R.G., Jones, E.L., Gerba, C.P. (2009) Viruses in recreational water-borne disease outbreaks: a review. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **107**, 1769-1780.

Smura, T., Blomqvist, S., Vuorinen, T., Ivanova, O., Samoilovich, E., Al-Hello, H., Savolainen-Kopra, C., Hovi, T., Roivainen, M. (2014) The evolution of VP1 gene in enterovirus C species subgroup that contains CV-A21, CV-A24, EV-C95, EV-C96 and EV-C99. *PLos ONE* **9**, e93737. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0093737.

Smura, T., Kakkola, L., Blomqvist, S., Klemola, P., Parsons, A., Kallio-Kokko, H., Kopra, C., Kainov, D., Roivainen, M. (2013) Molecular evolution and epidemiology of echovirus 6 in Finland. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **16**, 234-247.

Solomon, T., Hwaite, P.L., Perera, D., Cardosa, M.J., McMinn, P., Ooi, M.H. (2010) Virology, epidemiology, pathogenesis, and control of enterovirus 71. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* **10**, 778-790.

Strauss, M., Filman, D.J., Belnap, D.M., Cheng, N., Noel, R.T., Hogle, J.M. (2015) Nectin-like interactions between poliovirus and its receptor trigger conformational changes associated with cell entry. *Journal of Virology* **89**, 4143-4157.

Symonds, E.M., Verbyla, M.E., Lukasik, J.O., Kafle, R.C., Breitbart, M., Mihelcic, J.R. (2014) A case study of enteric virus removal and insights into the associated risk of water reuse for two wastewater treatment pond systems in Bolivia. *Water Research* **65**, 257-270.

Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A., Kumar, S. (2013) MEGA6:
Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 30, 2725-2729.

Tan, C.W., Lai, J.K.F., Sam, I., Chan, Y.F. (2014) Recent developments in antiviral agents against enterovirus 71 infection. *Journal of Biomedical Science* **21**, 1-11.

Chapter 6 : Reference



Tang, J., Yoshida, H., Ding, Z., Tao, Z., Zhang, J., Tian, B., Zhao, Z., Zhang, L. (2014) Molecular epidemiology and recombination of human enteroviruses from AFP surveillance in Yunnan, China from 2006 to 2010. *Scientific Reports* **4**. doi:10.1038/srep06058.

Tao, Z., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Xu, A., Lin, X., Yoshida, H., Xiong, P., Zhu, S., Wang, S., Yan, D., Song, L., Wang, H., Cui, N., Xu, W. (2013) Isolation and Characterization of a Type 2 Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus from Environmental Surveillance in China, 2012. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e83975. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083975.

Tapparel, C., Siegrist, F., Petty, T.J., Kaiser, L. (2013) Picornavirus and enterovirus diversity with associated human diseases. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **14**, 282-293.

Tauriainen, S., Oikarinen, S., Oikarinen, M., Hyoty, H. (2011) Enteroviruses in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. *Seminars in Immunopathology* **33**, 45-55.

Tryfonos, C., Richter, J., Koptides, D., Yiangou, M., Christodoulou, C.G. (2011) Molecular typing and epidemiology of enteroviruses in Cyprus, 2003-2007. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* **60**, 1433-1440.

Urashima, M., Shindo, N., Okabe, N. (2003) Seasonal models of herpangina and handfoot-mouth disease to simulate annual fluctuations in urban warming in Tokyo. *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases* **56**, 45-53.

Venter, J.M.E. (2004) Incidence of hepatitis A virus in water sources and the associated risk of infection in South Africa. MSc dissertation. Pretoria: University of Pretoria.

Vilaginès, P., Sarette, B., Husson, G., Vilagenes, R. (1993) Glass wool for virus concentration at ambient water pH level. *Water Science and Technology* **27**, 299–306.

Vivier, J.C., Ehlers, M.M., Grabow, W.O.K. (2004) Detection of enteroviruses in treated drinking water. *Water Research* **38**, 2699-2705.

Wang, H., Tao, Z., Li, Y., Lin, X., Yoshida, H., Song, L., Zhang, Y., Wang, S., Cui, N., Xu, W., Song, Y., Xu, A. (2014) Environmental surveillance of human enteroviruses

Chapter 6 : Reference |



in Shandong Province, China 2008-2012: serotypes, temporal fluctuation and molecular epidemiology. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **80**, 4683-4691

Wang, S., Liu, C. (2014) Update of enterovirus 71 infection: epidemiology, pathogenesis and vaccine. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy* **12**, 447-456.

Wang, X., Xing, M., Zhang, C., Yang, Y., Chi, Y., Tang, X., Zhang, H., Xiong, S., Yu,L., Zhou, D. (2014) Neutralizing antibody responses to enterovirus and adenovirus in healthy adults in China. *Emerging Microbes & Infections* 3, e30.

WRC (2016) Wastewater Treatment Technologies - A basic guide. WRC Report TT 651/15.

Wieczorek, M., Ciacka, A., Witek, A., Kuryk, L., Zuk-Wasek, A. (2015) Environmental surveillance of non-polio enteroviruses in Poland, 2011. *Food and Environmental Virology* **7**, 224-231.

Wolfaardt, M., Buchner, A., Myburgh, M., Avenant, T., Du Plessis, N.M., Taylor, M.B. (2014) Molecular characterisation of enteroviruses and clinical findngs from a cluster of paediatric viral meningitis cases in Tshwane, South Africa 2010-2011. *Journal of Clinical Virology* **61**, 400-405.

Wood, D.J., Hull, B. (1999) L20B cells simplify culture of polioviruses from clinical samples. *Journal of Medical Virology* **58**, 188-192.

World Health Organization (2003) Guidelines for environmental surveillance of poliovirus circulation. *Vaccines and Biologicals*, WHO/V&B/03.03.

Wu, W., Xu, W., Chen, L., Chen, H.L., Liu, Q., Wang, D.L., Chen, Y.J., Yao, W., Li, G., Feng, B., Shu, B.H., Zhou, Y.K., He, Y.Q. (2013) Molecular identification and analysis of human enteroviruses isolated from healthy children in Shenzhen, China from 2010 to 2011. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e64889. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0064889.

Wurtzer, S., Prevost, B., Lucas, F.S., Moulin, L. (2014) Detection of enterovirus in environmental waters: A new optimized method compared to commercial real-time RTqPCR kits. *Journal of VirologicalMethods* **209**, 47-54

Chapter 6 : Reference |



Xiao, H., Guan, D., Chen, R., Chen, P., Monagin, C., Li, W., Su, J., Ma, C., Zhang, W., Ke, C. (2013) Molecular characterization of echovirus 30 - associated outbreak of aseptic meningitis in Guangdong in 2012. *Virology Journal* **10**. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-10-263.

Xu, M., Su, L., Cao, L., Zhong, H., Dong, N., Xu, J. (2013) Enterovirus genotypes causing hand foot and mouth disease in Shanghai, China: A molecular epidemiological analysis. *BMC Infectious Diseases* **13**. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-489.

Yeats, J., Smuts, H., Serfontein, C.J., Kannemeyer, J. (2005) Investigation into a school enterovirus outbreak using PCR detection and serotype identification based on the 5' non-coding region. *Epidemiology and Infection* **133**, 1123-1130.

Zanacic, E., Stavrinides, J., McMartin, D.W. (2016) Field analysis of potable water quality and ozone efficiency in ozone-assisted biological filtration systems for surface water treatment. *Water Research* **104**, 397-407.

Zander, A., Britton, P.N., Navin, T., Horsley, E., Tobin, S., McAnulty, J.M. (2014) An outbreak of enterovirus 71 in metropolitan Sydney: Enhanced surveillance and lessons learnt. *The Medical Journal of Australia* **201**, 663-666.

Zhang, Y., Hong, M., Sun, Q., Zhu, S., Li, X., Yan, D., Wang, D., Xu, W. (2014) Molecular typing and characterization of a new serotype of human enterovirus (EV-B111) identified in China. *Virus Research* **183**, 75-80.

Zhou, F., O'Sullivan, M.V.N., Iredell, J.R., Sintchenko, V., Gilbert, G.L., Dwyer, D.E.
(2016) Molecular analysis of enteroviruses. *Journal of Human Virology & Retrovirology* 3, e00083. doi:10.15406/jhvrv.2016.03.00083.



# APPENDIX A

The Research Ethics Committee, Faculty Health Sciences, University of Pretoria complies with ICH-GCP guidelines and has US Federal wide Assurance.

- FWA 00002567, Approved dd 22 May 2002 and Expires 20 Oct 2016.
- IRB 0000 2235 IORG0001762 Approved dd 22/04/2014 and Expires 22/04/2017.



UNIVERSITEIT VAN PRETORIA UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA YUNIBESITHI YA PRETORIA

Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee

2/06/2016

### Approval Certificate New Application

### Ethics Reference No.: 164/2015

**Title:** The assessment of sewage treatment efficacy through the detection and characterisation of human enteroviruses

Dear Miss Maxime Muilwijk

The **New Application** as supported by documents specified in your cover letter dated 14/04/2015 for your research received on the 14/04/2015, was approved by the Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee on its quorate meeting of 24/06/2015.

Please note the following about your ethics approval:

- Ethics Approval is valid for 2 years
- Please remember to use your protocol number (164/2015) on any documents or correspondence with the Research Ethics Committee regarding your research.
- Please note that the Research Ethics Committee may ask further questions, seek additional information, require further modification, or monitor the conduct of your research.

#### Ethics approval is subject to the following:

- The ethics approval is conditional on the receipt of 6 monthly written Progress Reports, and
- The ethics approval is conditional on the research being conducted as stipulated by the details of all documents submitted to the Committee. In the event that a further need arises to change who the investigators are, the methods or any other aspect, such changes must be submitted as an Amendment for approval by the Committee.

We wish you the best with your research.

Yours sincerely

**Dr R Sommers;** MBChB; MMed (Int); MPharMed. **Deputy Chairperson** of the Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee, University of Pretoria

The Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee complies with the SA National Act 61 of 2003 as it pertains to health research and the United States Code of Federal Regulations Title 45 and 46. This committee abides by the ethical norms and principles for research, established by the Declaration of Helsinki, the South African Medical Research Council Guidelines as well as the Guidelines for Ethical Research: Principles Structures and Processes 2004 (Department of Health).

O12 356 3084
 Private Bag X323, Arcadia, 0007 - Tswelopele Building, Level 4, Room 4-60, Dr Savage Road, Gezina, Gezina, Pretoria



# **APPENDIX B**





MSc Committee School of Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences

> MSc Committee 3 June 2016

Dr W van Zyl Department of Medical Virology Faculty of Health Sciences

Dear Dr van Zyl,

## Ms M Muilwijk, Student no 14327903

Please receive the following comments regarding the MSc submission of the abovementioned student:

Student name	M Muilwijk	Student number	14327903
Name of study leader	Dr Walda van Zyl		
Department	Medical Virology		
Title of MSc	The assessment of sewage treatment efficacy through the detection and		
	characterisation of enteroviruses.		
Date of first submission	April 2015		
June 2016	<ul> <li>Thank you for submitting ethics approval</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Thank you submitting the permission letter from Rand Water</li> </ul>		
Decision	This protocol has been approved		
	Ethics approval obtained		
	The internal and external examiners were approved		

Yours sincerely

Rackar

Prof Riana Cockeran Chair: MSc Committee

Fakulteit Gesondheidswetenskappe Lefapha la Disaense tša Maphelo